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JUNE 13 and 15. 2023, (23-05) AGENDA MATERIALS
Only Items that have corresponding materials will have a link

The Board Sitting En Banc

The following items are for consideration by the full Board:
1. Opening Items

Call to Order

Roll Call

Moment of Silence
Pledge of Allegiance

2. Public Comment Information Only

The Board welcomes public comment. Public comment must be limited to matters
relevant to or within the authority of the Government Employee-Management Relations
Board. No subject may be acted upon unless that subject is on the agenda and is
scheduled for possible action. If you wish to be heard, please introduce yourself at the
appropriate time and the Presiding Officer will recognize you. The amount of
discussion on any single subject, as well as the amount of time any single speaker is
allowed, may be limited. The Board will not restrict public comment based upon
viewpoint. However, the Board may refuse to consider public comment prior to the
commencement and/or conclusion of a contested case or a quasi-judicial proceeding
that may affect the due process rights of an individual. See NRS 233B.126.

3. Case 2022-018 For Possible Action
International Union of Elevator Constructors, Local 18 v. Clark County and
Counterclaim of Clark County v. International Union of Elevator Constructors,
Local 18
Deliberation and decision on the Stipulation for Hearing Before the Full Board.

Panel C
(Eckersley, Masters, Smith)

The following 2 items are for consideration by Panel C:

4, Case 2020-008 For Possible Action
Clark County Education Association & Davita Carpenter v. Clark County School
District with Intervenors Education Support Employees Association and Clark
County Association of School Administrators and Professional-Technical
Employees
This agenda item is for Eckersley, Masters and Smith as pursuant to NAC
288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had randomly selected Vice-Chair Masters to fill the




vacancy caused by the resignation of Board Member Cottino. Also pursuant to NAC
288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had selected Chair Eckersley to fill the vacancy on
the panel caused by the resignation of Board Member Harris. Pursuant to NAC
288.271(4) the presiding officer shall be Chair Eckersley. Deliberation and decision on
the Joint Status Report.

Case 2022-009 For Possible Action
Nye County v. Nye County Association of Sheriff's Supervisors and
Counterclaim _of Nye County Association of Sheriff’'s Supervisors and David
Boruchowitz v. Nye County

This agenda item is for Eckersley, Masters and Smith as pursuant to NAC
288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had randomly selected Vice-Chair Masters to fill the
vacancy on the panel caused by the resignation of Board Member Cottino. Also
pursuant to NAC 288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had selected Chair Eckersley to fill
the vacancy on the panel caused by the resignation of Board Member Harris. Pursuant
to NAC 288.271(4) the presiding officer shall be Chair Eckersley. Deliberation and
decision on the hearing previously held.

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS WILL NOT BE TAKEN UP BY THE BOARD UNTIL
THURSDAY, JUNE 15, 2023

The Board Sitting En Banc

The following 8 items are for consideration by the full Board:

6.

10.

11.

Public Comment Information Only
Please refer to agenda item 2 for any rules pertaining to public comment.

Approval of the Minutes For Possible Action
For possible action on the minutes of the meeting held May 3, 2023.

Legislative Update For Possible Action
Review of legislation pending or signed into law affecting the EMRB and/or public
sector collective bargaining.

Case 2020-019 For Possible Action
Susan Finucan v. City of Las Vegas
Deliberation and decision on the Joint Status Report.

Case 2020-020 For Possible Action
AFSCME, Local 4041 & Shari_ Kassebaum v. State of Nevada, ex rel its
Department of Corrections

Deliberation and decision on the Joint Status Report.

Case 2022-007 For Possible Action
Las Vegas Peace Officers Association & Candace Chambers v. City of Las Vegas
Deliberation and decision on the Joint Status Report.




12.

13.

Case 2023-001 For Possible Action
Pershing County Law Enforcement Association v. Pershing County
Deliberation and decision on the Stipulation and Order for Dismissal With Prejudice.

Case 2023-008 For Possible Action
Nevada Classified School Employees Association, Chapter 6 v. Douglas County
School District

Deliberation and decision on the Stipulation for Dismissal With Prejudice.

Panel C
(Eckersley, Masters, Urban)

The following 1 item is for consideration by Panel C:

14.

Case 2022-002 For Possible Action
Association of Professional-Technical Administrators v. Washoe County School
District

This agenda item is for Eckersley, Masters and Urban as pursuant to NAC
288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had randomly selected Vice-Chair Masters to fill the
vacancy caused by the resignation of Board Member Cottino. Also pursuant to NAC
288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had selected Chair Eckersley to fill the vacancy on
the panel caused by the resignation of Board Member Harris. Also pursuant to NAC
288.271(2)(c), the Commissioner had selected Board Member Urban to fill the vacancy
due to the recusal of Board Member Smith. Pursuant to NAC 288.271(4) the presiding
officer shall be Chair Eckersley. Deliberation and decision on Respondent’s Motion to
Disqualify Counsel and Request for Continuance.

The Board Sitting En Banc

The following 9 items are for consideration by the full Board:

15.

16.

17.

Case 2023-009 For Possible Action
Las Vegas Peace Officers Association & Candace Chambers v. City of Las Veqgas
Deliberation and decision on the following items: (1) Respondent Clark County School
District’s Motion to Dismiss Complainant’s Complaint; (2) ESEA’s Petition to Intervene
and|(3) the Petition to Intervene by Teamsters Local 14.

Case 2022-012 For Possible Action
Jeremy Bunker v. Clark County
Deliberation and decision on the Motion for Reconsideration.

Case 2023-006 For Possible Action
North Lyon Firefighters Associations, IAFF Local 4547 v. North Lyon County Fire
Protection District, Jason Nicholl, in his official capacity, and Ryan Hanan, in his
official capacity




18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

Deliberation and decision on Hanan’s Motion to Dismiss the Complaint.

Case 2023-007 For Possible Action
North Lyon County Fire Protection District v. North Lyon Firefighters
Association, IAFF Local 4547

Deliberation and decision on the status and progress of the case, including, but not
limited to, dismissal of the case, the granting of a hearing for the case, whether to stay
the case pursuant to the limited deferral doctrine, and/or whether to order a settlement
conference for the case. If a hearing is granted, then the case shall also be randomly
assigned to a hearing panel.

Also, should the motion to dismiss related to item 17 on this agenda be denied in whole
or in part, and if a hearing is granted for item 18 on the agenda, then deliberation and
decision on whether to consolidate the hearings pursuant to NAC 288.275.

Case 2021-008; 2021-012; 2021-013; 2021-015 For Possible Action
Las Vegas City Employees’ Association & Julie Terry v. City of Las Vegas; Las
Vegas City Employees’ Association & Jody Gleed v. City of Las Vegas; Las
Vegas City Employees’ Association & Marc Brooks v. City of Las Vegas; and
International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 1285 v. City of Las Vegas
Deliberation and decision on whether to participate in the Petition for Judicial Review
filed in the above case in response to the Board’s final order, and if so, to what extent.

Allowance for Oral Argument Related to Motions For Possible Action
Discussion and possible action and/or direction on the allowance of oral argument in
the future pursuant to NAC 288.306.

Election of Chair and Vice Chair For Possible Action
Election of the Chair and Vice Chair for Fiscal Year 2024 pursuant to NRS 288.090.

Additional Period of Public Comment Information Only
Please refer to agenda item 2 for any rules pertaining to public comment.

Adjournment For Possible Action
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LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 002003
office(@danielmarks.net

ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 004673
alevine(@danielmars.net

610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

(702) 386-0536: FAX (702) 386-6812
Attorneys for Complainants

FILED
June 6, 2023
State of Nevada

E.M.R.B.
11:03 a.m.

STATE OF NEVADA
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT
RELATIONS BOARD

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, Case No. 2020-020
COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES- Panel F
LOCAL 4041, and SHARI KASSEBAUM,

Complainants,
V.
STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel, its DEPARTMENT
OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

JOINT STATUS REPORT

Complainants, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL
EMPLOYEES-LOCAL 4041, and SHARI KASSEBAUM, by and through counsel, Adam Levine,
Esq., and Respondent, STATE OF NEVADA, ex rel, its DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, by

and through counsel, Aaron D. Ford, Attorney General of the State of Nevada and Bruce C. Young,

Deputy Attorney General, hereby submit this Joint Status Report.
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There have been no changes to the status of this case since the previous Joint Status Report was

filed on January 30, 2023. A Hearing for Sergeant Kassebaum pursuant to NRS 284.390 was in the

process of being set when the hearing officer to which the case was assigned, Robert Zentz, Esq.

announced his retirement. Therefore, the case is in the process of being reassigned to a new hearing

officer.

Dated this 6™ day of June 2023.

Dated this 6™ day of June 2023.

LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS

/s/Adam Levine, Esq.

DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 002003
office@danielmarks.net
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 004673
alevine(@danielmarks.net
610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Complainants

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

/s/Bruce C. Young, Esq.

AARON FORD, ESQ.

Attorney General

BRUCE C. YOUNG (Bar No. 5560)
Deputy Attorney General

State of Nevada

555 East Washington Avenue, Suite 3900
Las Vegas, Nevada 8901

Attorneys for Respondent






Joi Harper

From: Bruce C. Young <bcyoung@ag.nv.gov>
Sent: Monday, June 5, 2023 1:54 PM

To: Adam Levine

Cc: Joi Harper; Anela P. Kaheaku

Subject: RE: EMRB - Joint Status Reports

Adam: This is fine. You have my permission to affix my electronic signature. Thanks

Bruce

From: Adam Levine <AlLevine@danielmarks.net>

Sent: Monday, June 5, 2023 1:42 PM

To: Bruce C. Young <bcyoung@ag.nv.gov>

Cc: Joi Harper <JHarper@danielmarks.net>; Anela P. Kaheaku <AKaheaku@ag.nv.gov>
Subject: RE: EMRB - Joint Status Reports

ercise caution ‘~\.~I\:“\!=\V.v‘al! oper '\“|:ij‘ |

[ ‘:“,’ [rom unknown s

Bruce:

Please review and let me know if we have your consent to use your electronic signature.

Adam Levine, Esq.

Law Office of Daniel Marks
610 S. Ninth Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101

(702) 386-0536: Office
(702) 386-6812: Fax
alevine@danielmarks.net

From: Bruce C. Young <bcyoung@ag.nv.gov>

Sent: Monday, June 5, 2023 9:19 AM

To: Adam Levine <AlLevine@danielmarks.net>

Cc: Joi Harper <JHarper@danielmarks.net>; Anela P. Kaheaku <AKaheaku@ag:nv.gov>
Subject: FW: EMRB - Joint Status Reports

Adam: | actually did not have anything on my calendar for this one and was not familiar with it. Do you want to draft up
a status report. | assume it’s the same issue, we’re waiting on the Supreme Court decision?

Bruce





From: Bruce Snyder <BSnyder@business.nv.gov>

Sent: Thursday, June 1, 2023 9:14 AM

To: Adam Levine <AlLevine@danielmarks.net>; Morgan Davis <MDavis@lasvegasnevada.gov>; Bruce C. Young
<bcyoung@ag.nv.gov>

Cc: EMRB <emrb@business.nv.gov>; Joi Harper <JHarper@danielmarks.net>; Office <office@danielmarks.net>; Kelli
Hansen <khansen@Iasvegasnevada.gov>

Subject: EMRB - Joint Status Reports

Counselors:

The following joint status reports were due yesterday. Please submit them no later than the close of business this
coming Monday as the packet of backup materials to the Board for its June 13-15, 2023 meeting will be going out this
coming Tuesday.

Case 2020-020; AFSCME, Local 4041 & Kassebaum v. State of Nevada
Attorneys Adam Levine and Bruce Young

Case 2022-007; LVPOA & Chambers v. City of Las Vegas
Attorneys Adam Levine and Morgan Davis

Bruce K. Snyder

Commissioner

Department of Business & Industry
Employee-Management Relations Board
Phone: (702) 486-4504
bsnyder@business.nv.gov

Government Employee-
Management Relations Board S0
LAY LAl et s o it Ay

pra— il
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BRYAN K. SCOTT

City Attorney

Nevada Bar No. 4381 FILED

By: MORGAN DAVIS

Assistant City Attorney June 5, 2023
Nevada Bar No. 3707 State of Nevada
By: NECHOLE GARCIA E.M.R.B.
Nevada Bar No. 12746 7:94 am.

495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor

Las Vegas, NV 89101

(702) 229-6629

(702) 386-1749 (fax)

Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov
Attorneys for City of Las Vegas

STATE OF NEVADA GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-
MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

LAS VEGAS PEACE OFFICERS
ASSOCIATION and CANDACE
CHAMBERS,

Complainants, CASE NO. 2022-007

VS.

CITY OF LAS VEGAS,

Respondent.

JOINT STATUS REPORT

Respondent City of Las Vegas (“CITY™), by and through its counsel of record, Morgan
Davis, Assistant City Attorney and Nechole Garcia, Deputy City Attorney, along with the Las
Vegas Peace Officers Association (“LVPOA”) and Candace Chambers (“Chambers™) by and
through their counsel of record Adam Levine, Esq., hereby submit the following Joint Status

Report for the above captioned matter:

On July 26, 2022, the parties filed a Stipulation agreeing to stay this matter pending the
exhaustion of contractual remedies pursuant to the Collective Bargaining Agreement. On August
25, 2022, this Board entered an Order staying this matter pending the exhaustion of contractual
remedies.

The arbitration for the related grievance on this matter was held on January 24, 2023. The
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parties Post Hearing Briefs are due to the Arbitrator on June 7, 2023. The parties anticipate that

the arbitrator will issue a decision in approximately July 2023.

Dated: June 5, 2023

/s/ Nechole Garcia
By:

MORGAN DAVIS, Assistant City Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 3707

NECHOLE GARCIA, Deputy City Attorney
Nevada Bar No. 12746

Attorneys for Respondent City of Las Vegas

Dated: June 5, 2023

/s/ Adam Levine
By:

DANIEL MARKS, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 2003

ADAM LEVINE, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 4673

Attorneys for Complainants Las Vegas
Peace Officers Association and
Candace Chambers
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on June 5, 2023, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing
Joint Status Report via electronic mail (or, if necessary, by United States Mail at Las Vegas,

Nevada, postage fully prepaid) upon the following:

Adam Levine, Esq.

610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Email: alevine@danielmarks.net
Attorneys for Complainants

Las Vegas Peace Olfficers Association
and Candace Chambers

/s/ Kelli Hansen

AN EMPLOYEE OF THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS







HOLLAND & HART LLP
5441 KIETZKE LANE, SUITE 200
RENO, NV 89511-2094
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S. JORDAN WALSH
Nevada Bar No. 13481

HOLLAND & HART LLP FILED

5441 Kietzke Lane, Suite 200 May 8, 2023
Reno, NV 89511-2094 State of Nevada
Phone: 775.327.3000 E.M.R.B.
Fax: (775) 562.4763 12:45 p.m.

sjwalsh@hollandhart.com

Attorneys for Respondent,
Pershing County

BEFORE the STATE OF NEVADA LOCAL GOVERNMENT
EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

PERSHING COUNTY LAW Case No.: 2023-001
ENFORCEMENT ASSOCIATION, A

Nevada Non-Profit Corporation and Local STIPULATION AND ORDER FOR

Government Employee Organization, and Its DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE
Named and Unnamed Affected Members,

Complainants,
V.
PERSHING COUNTY,

Respondent.

COMES NOW, RESPONDENT, PERSHING COUNTY and the PERSHING
COUNTY LAW ENFORCEMENT ASSOCIATION, by and through their attorneys for
record, and stipulate to the dismissal of all claims that have been asserted or could have been
asserted by all parties in the above-captioned action, with prejudice, with each party bearing
its own attorneys’ fees and costs.

/1
/1
/1
/1

1

STIPULATION AND ORDER FOR
DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE






HOLLAND & HART LLP
5441 KIETZKE LANE, SUITE 200
RENO, NV 89511-2094
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The parties further stipulate and request that an order approving this stipulation be

entered.

IT IS SO STIPULATED

DATED this 4th day of May, 2023

HOLLAND & HART LLP

/s/ S. Jordan Walsh

DATED this 4th day of May, 2023

Clark Hill PLLC

/s/ William Schuller

S. Jordan Walsh

Nevada Bar No. 13841

5441 Kietzke Lane, Suite 200
Reno, NV 89511-2094

Attorneys for Pershing County.

STIPULATION AND ORDER FOR
DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE

Nicholas M. Wieczorek, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 6107

William D. Schuller, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 11271

1700 S. Pavilion Center Drive, STE 500
Las Vegas, NV 89135

Attorneys for the Pershing County Law
Enforcement Association






HOLLAND & HART LLP
5441 KIETZKE LANE, SUITE 200
RENO, NV 89511-2094
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to NAC 288.080 I hereby certify that on the 1st day of May, 2023, I served a true
and correct copy of the foregoing STIPULATION AND ORDER FOR DISMISSAL WITH
PREJUDICE by electronic transmission to the parties on electronic file and/or depositing same
in the United States mail, first class postage fully prepaid, to the persons and addresses listed

below:

Andrew Regenbaum, J.D.

Nevada Association of Public Safety Officers
145 Panama St.

Henderson, NV 89015
aregenbaum(@aol.com

Nichols M. Wiecczorek, Esq.
William D. Schuller, Es1.

Clark Hill PLLC

3800 Howard Hughes Pkwy, STE 500
Las Vegas, NV 89169
nwieczorek(@clarkhill.com
wschuller@clarkhill.com

/s/ _Martha Hauser
An Employee of Holland & Hart LLP

21440078 _v1

STIPULATION AND ORDER FOR
DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE







RICK R. HSU, ESQ., NV Bar # 5374

1 |MAUPIN, COX & LeGOY FILED
5 4785 Caughlm Parkway May 25’ 2023
P. O. Box 30000 State of Nevad
Reno, NV 89520 ate of Nevada
3 || (775) 827-2000 E.M.R.B.
Attorneys for Respondent/Counterclaimant 3:32 p.m.
4 Douglas County School District
5
6 - —STATE OF NEVADA -
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT
4 RELATIONS BOARD
8 NEVADA CLASSIFIED SCHOOL ) Case No.: 2023-008
g ||EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION, CHAPTER 6,)
)
10 Complainant, )
)
11 V8. %
12 ||DOUGLAS COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT )
13 Respondent. %
14
STIPULATION FOR DISMISSAL WITH PREJUDICE
15 )
Complainant NEVADA CLASSIFIED SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION,
16
CHAPTER 6 (“the Association’), and Respondent DOUGLAS COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
17
(“DCSD™), by and through their respective attorneys of record, hereby stipulate and agree that
18
the above-referenced matter, including all claims alleged in Complainant’s Complaint, and all
19
counterclaims alleged in Respondent’s Counterclaim may be dismissed in their entirety with
20
117
21
117
22
111
23
117
24
/17
25
/11
26

A6
MayeiniCoxiLEGOY
FUPEHEL Y Al 14K

4785 Caughlin Phwy
Reno. Nevada #9319
{775) B27-2000¢
www.mellawfim .com
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4785 Caughlin Pkwy
Reno. Nevada B9519
(775) $27-2000

www mellawfirm.com

prejudice, with the parties to bear their own costs and attorneys' fees incurred in the action.

Dated this :é)aay of May, 2023

MAU/]?}OX & LEGOY
By: C\/V\/

Rick R. Hsu, No. 5374
4785 Caughlin Parkway
Reno, Nevada 89519

Attorneys for Respondent/Counterclaimant
DOUGLAS COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Dated thiszﬁ/day of May, 2023

MICHAEL E. LANGTON, ESQ.

By: WZ} {W

Michael E. Langton, No? 290

801 Riverside Drive

Reno, Nevada 89503
Attorneys for Complainant NEVADA
CLASSIFIED SCHOOL EMPLOYEES
ASSOCIATION, CHAPTER 6






2 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL
3
4 I hereby certify that I am an employee of MAUPIN, COX & LeGOY, Attorneys at Law,

5 |land in such capacity and on the date indicated below, I served a true and correct copy of the
within document, via email to the following recipients:

Michael E. Langton, Esq.
8 801 Riverside Drive
Reno, NV 89503
mlangton(@sbeglobal.net

1.0 j‘lfg
T Dated this 24 day of May 2023.

12 . 3 M\ﬂ{%

13 Eﬁq’ployee

14
15
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2%

MaupiN _‘Cg?& LeGoy

4783 Caughlin Pkwy
Reno, Nevada 89519
(775) R27-2000

waw mellan firm com







Washoe County School District

Office of the General Counsel

PO Box 30425
Reno, Nevada 89520-3425

Telephone: (775) 348-0300; Facsimile: (775) 333-6010
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Kevin A. Pick, Esq., Nev. Bar No. 11683
WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT FILED

P.O. Box 30425 April 13, 2023
Reno, NV 89520-3425 State of Nevada
Telephone: 775-348-0300 E.M.R.B.
Fax: 775-333-6010 11:02 a.m.
Attorney for Respondent

BEFORE THE STATE OF NEVADA

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL-
TECHNICAL ADMINISTRATORS,
Case No.: A1-2022-002
Complainant,
PANEL C

VS.
WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.
/

RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY COUNSEL
AND REQUEST FOR CONTINUANCE

Respondent, Washoe County School District (District), through counsel, hereby moves
to disqualify Ron J. Dreher, Esq. as counsel of record for the Association of Professional-
Technical Administrators (APTA) for the upcoming evidentiary hearing currently scheduled for
May 1, 2, and 3, before Panel C. The District also hereby requests a continuance of said hearing
pending the resolution of this Motion to Disqualify. This Motion is made and based on the

memorandum of points and authorities set forth below, all exhibits attached hereto, and all papers

and pleadings on file herein.

/1
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Office of the General Counsel

PO Box 30425
Reno, Nevada 89520-3425

Telephone: (775) 348-0300; Facsimile: (775) 333-6010
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND FACTUAL SUMMARY

On January 7, 2022, APTA filed a Complaint against the District for alleged prohibited
labor practices under NRS 288.270. The Complaint can succinctly be separated into two (2)
central allegations related to negotiations on the 2021-2023 Collective Bargaining Agreement:

First, although the Complaint concedes that APTA and the District engaged in eight
bargaining sessions and exchanged multiple proposals and counterproposals, the Complaint
nonetheless argues that the District failed to negotiate in good faith because: (1) the District was
allegedly unable to discuss economic proposals until after the budget was set in late June of 2021;
(2) that after the budget was set, the District failed to negotiate economic proposals in excess of
the established budget; (3) that the District supposedly limited negotiating sessions to two hours;
and (4) that the District vaguely lacked “a desire to come to an agreement.” See Complaint, at 9
7,24, 25.

Second, the Complaint alleges that on October 22, 2021, John Listinsky (who is the now-
former District Labor Relations Manager) spoke with APTA Chief Negotiator Ron P. Dreher
over the phone. According to the Complaint, Mr. Listinsky was upset that APTA had declared
an impasse on October 21, 2021, without informing the District ahead of time. /d. at § 26. The
Complaint then alleges that Listinsky told Ron P. Dreher that Ron P. had “fucked him [Listinsky]
pretty well,” and that Listinsky “would rather use District resources to fuck with [Ron P. Dreher]
if that is what you want.” /d. Attorney Ron J. Dreher (who is the son of Ron P. Dreher and
was also a member of the APTA bargaining team) was apparently present during the phone
call and was listening to the call on speakerphone, while contemporaneously taking notes.

See Exhibit No. 1 (Dreher Complaint Against Listinsky).
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Office of the General Counsel

PO Box 30425
Reno, Nevada 89520-3425

Telephone: (775) 348-0300; Facsimile: (775) 333-6010
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The Complaint then alleges that Listinsky later cancelled a meeting with Ron P. Dreher
to discuss negotiations with the Washoe School Principal’s Association (WSPA) and that
Listinsky refused to communicate with Ron P. Dreher regarding the WSPA, and instead
communicated directly with the WSPA president. See Complaint, at 99 29, 31. How these
allegations relate to bad faith bargaining against APTA is unknown, as the Complaint then
concedes that bargaining between APTA and the District actually continued “in the same manner
as most of the negotiation sessions since April 2021.” Id. at § 33. Nevertheless, APTA now argues
in its Prehearing Statement that Listinsky supposedly “took immediate action to interfere, restrain
or coerce an employee in exercising their rights under NRS Chapter 288 by threatening to no
longer agree to the additional pay an employee was entitled to, based on the employee and the
WSPA using [Ron P.] Dreher as their representative.” See APTA Prehearing Statement, at 5, 6.

Mr. Listinsky is listed as a witness for the District and will appear at the upcoming
evidentiary hearing to dispute APTA’s material allegations. Ron P. Dreher is listed as a witness
by APTA and is therefore also listed by the District, which reserves the right to call APTA’s
witnesses. Attorney Dreher has been added to the District’s list of witnesses via the District’s
Supplemental Prehearing Statement, but Attorney Dreher was omitted from APTA’s witness
disclosures.

IL. LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. Rule 3.7 of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct Prohibits
Attorney Dreher From Acting as Trial Counsel at the Upcoming
Hearing.
Rule 3.7 of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) provides as follows:

(a) a lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to
be a necessary witness unless:

(1) The testimony relates to an uncontested issue;

3
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(2) The testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered
in the case; or

(3) Disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the
client.

In determining whether to disqualify an attorney, the Nevada Supreme Court has held
that courts “have the responsibility for controlling the conduct of attorneys practicing before
them.” Cronin v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., In & For Cnty. of Clark, 105 Nev. 635, 640, 781 P.2d
1150, 1153 (1989) (overruled on separate grounds by Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Judicial
Dist. Court of Nev., 123 Nev. 44, 152 P.3d 737 (2007)). The Nevada Supreme Court has also
held that “courts have broad discretion in determining whether disqualification is required in a
particular case, and that determination will not be disturbed by this court absent a showing of
abuse of that discretion.” Cronin, 105 Nev. at 640. Further, where disqualification is raised, “any
doubt should be resolved in favor of disqualification.” /d.

Here, Attorney Dreher was the only other witness to the phone call between Attorney
Dreher’s father (Ron P. Dreher) and John Listinsky — a detail which is not readily apparent,
having been omitted from APTA’s Complaint and Prehearing Statement. See Exhibit No. 1.
APTA has made this phone call one of the central allegations of the Complaint and upon this
phone call, APTA alleges that the District engaged in bad faith bargaining in violation of NRS
288.270. This phone call is specifically identified by APTA as among the issues of fact for the
upcoming hearing. See APTA Prehearing Statement, at 5. Therefore, Attorney Dreher is likely
to be a necessary witness to one of the central issues for hearing, namely what was precisely said
during the phone call and whether the call subsequently changed how the District bargained with
APTA. Aside from this phone call, Attorney Dreher was also a member of the APTA bargaining

/17






Washoe County School District

Office of the General Counsel

PO Box 30425
Reno, Nevada 89520-3425

Telephone: (775) 348-0300; Facsimile: (775) 333-6010

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

team and was directly involved in negotiations between APTA and the District, including the
other events alleged in the Complaint.

As such, the District respectfully submits that RPC 3.7 does not allow Attorney Dreher
to represent APTA as trial counsel at the upcoming evidentiary hearing, where he may be called
as a witness and be required to argue his own veracity. Furthermore, the District would not be
able to adequately invoke the rule of exclusion of witnesses while Attorney Dreher is also acting
as trial counsel, which would be highly prejudicial to the District.

This Motion is not made for the purpose of delay or any other improper purpose. Both
the District and APTA have a material interest in ensuring compliance with RPC 3.7 and in
ensuring that counsel for APTA is not placed in a position where he would violate RPC 3.7.
APTA would also not suffer any irreparable harm as a result of this Motion, because the District
is concurrently requesting a continuance of the upcoming hearing, pending the resolution of this
Motion. Should the Motion be granted, then the District will stipulate to afford APTA a
reasonable opportunity to retain new counsel for the evidentiary hearing. Therefore, at most,
APTA would merely be temporarily inconvenienced while this Motion is considered and while
APTA possibly seeks new trial counsel to replace Attorney Dreher. Any short delay while this
Motion is pending would not cause an injustice or prejudice to APTA, since this matter has been
previously continued three (3) times (none of which were at the request of the District).

/17
/17

/17
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Based on the foregoing, the District respectfully moves the Committee to grant this
Motion to disqualify Ron J. Dreher, Esq. as trial counsel for APTA and to continue the upcoming

evidentiary hearing, pending a decision on this Motion.
DATED this 13th day of April, 2023.

WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

By: /s/ Kevin A. Pick, Esq.
KEVIN A. PICK, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11683
General Counsel
Washoe County School District
P.O. Box 30425
Reno, NV 89520-3425

Attorney for Respondent
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to NAC 288.070, I certify that I am an employee of the WASHOE COUNTY
SCHOOL DISTRICT OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL and that on this date I served a

true and correct copy of the preceding document addressed to the following:

Ron J. Dreher, Esq.

P.O. Box 40502

Reno, Nevada 89504
dreherlaw(@outlook.com
ron@dreherlaw.net

by electronic service by transmitting the copy electronically as an attachment to electronic mail

in portable document format.

DATED this 13th day of April, 2023.
/s/Debra Newman
Debra Newman
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ADVOMIACY INVESTIGATION SERVICES
PO Boor 40540
Feog, Mevads 59s0g
Telephone: 775-830-8877
FAM: T75-348-4662
E-Mail: NESI8ME aoleom
Mevada License No. 102

DRIGINAL BY E-MAIL

PLEASE CONFIBRM E-MAIL DELIVERY
Chetober 25, 2021 vier esrarsl

Emily Ellison

Chial Hemen Resoueces (dfieer
Washoe Counts Scwoel Destrier
475 E Pamth 5L

P B 3025

Reno, N BOS20-3425

Be:  Formal Complaint spaimst WOSD Laber Relations Manager John Listinghoy —
K professional Conduct and Prohibited Practices on bebalf of the Assocation of Professional &
Technical Administraters (APTA) and APTA Represcmiztives Ron P Dreber and Ron 1. Drelier.

Dear Froily:

We are writing this lefter to wou 20 (1l 8 formal complaint against Labor Relattons Manager John
Listinsky bascd on 2 series of threats that he made to s on Friday morming, Cetoler 22, 2021, His
unprofessions! demeanor, his threats o Ron P Drebuer and to the bargaining anits that we represant m the
WCED was oot of lins and demenstrared vaprofessiona! comdect on his pard. We have described the
eviemts below o fhe best of our memoriss. B 5 by sed that this Distrect representarive acted in the
myanmer that he did.  His actions ag 5 Disirict reprosentative are in viodation of Nevada Revised Stantes
ZREZT0 - Probibited Peactices v an Emidayver as weedl as mmernes WESD Board Folicies,

n Oetober 21, 2021, as Megotiators for the APTA bargaining growp, and st the divcotion of the APTA
negotiation seam, impesse was declared In cur nepotiation session. Mr, Listinshy scemed porsomally
oftemded by this declaration snd cven refused to provide APTA with the Bistrict proposals that were sull
oper and to be included in the arbimation of this contract.

! ater that cventng, Bon P. Dreber received an medl fvom Mr Listinsky requesting to speel with hurn, aad
only i, without my son being preseal. by son, Roa J. Deeber, as the Disorict i3 very aware, is 2 oo-
chadr for several District omplosee lebor groups and Is Invalved in 2l aspects of our commuanication with
the Districs. We found this email to be mather strange and, due to the lateness of the e-mail, we deeided o
call Wir. Listinsky the next mormdng.

JOINT 0209





Oz Duiober 23, 2021, Ren F. Dincher telephomed Mr, Listnsky around 810 aunn and Teft him a voice
mall. We had discussed Mr. Listinks s request 1o spaak with only Ros P, and, due to gur combined work
on labor contracts and issues, decided it would be prudent i Reon J. was present for the phone call. Wi
Lastinsky &5 wery avare that we work together, and that Ren J. is co-chairing APTA, and WP A
negotiations. It should be noted that Bon 1 snd Ron P heve hoth been prosent for 999 of meetings and
phane calls with Mr. Listingky.

Ran J. had & missed call fom M. Listinshy so Ron P resehed out bv envail 1o 1et him know he was
availahle. He then emailed Ron P requestine to koow whit his direet phone mumber was.  Seconds after
sending him the e-mail and advising him of the phone number we received a phione callon Fos By eall
phone from 348-0241, The call was placed on speaker phone. Ron J. immediately began taking notes of
the conversation,

Fon P. ashed him bow he was doing. Mr. Listingkoy tobd Roo P that Te wss no tomper availahle to make
our seheduled V30 om. meeting, & meetineg Gl was sef 1o discuss g thie WSPA comract
negotiations forward. When asked why, he stated words to the sfleet of “wou are peobably eoing o
declare impasse amyway.” HRon P attempted to respond and was immediatsly intersupted. M. Listinsky
whvd stated he wanted to do this over the phone and not purt 3t im an email. At that peing. Mr. Listinsksy
stated wiords to the wifieet of “you fheked we pretiy well™ by declaring impasse. He continmed by saying
“Tve gone dwough hoops wying 1o ereate 3 way 1o oo foreard.” He was obrously anory aboot the
impasee declared in the APTA negotiations. Mr. Listinsky contimed b saving be flt @ wag
“dismgenoows™ of Ron P.to ol have given him 2 “heads up’” hat APTA was going to declane impasss
secmngly feeling he was owed something beserse of “all he had givesr” o Ron P and “Talked o [Ron P,
and R 1] about.” He staied be was “disappointed” and Gl that be had been “shapped in the Face.™ When
Fon F. tried to respond he jost kept talking. He then stated “we are not some b talk anymore about
emything.” M. Listinsky, breoming even mure angry then said, “if you want a frzht, [ can fight™
However, the worst and most inflammatony and iflepal staterment e mare in all of this is when b said the
folbowing. Just prior to hangiing upoon Roo P, b Listinsky said “0 would rather use the [Hstries
resoumees o Tuck wath woo i lat is what vou want 10 do.”

He: then hung up and acconding o Ron P phome e cal) lasted T mingte and 28 seconds,

Almast immediately, we began recciving emails from Mr. Listinshoy offcring oo mueet, yet declining et
again the T30 am, mesting we had scheduled 1o discuss WEPA negetiations. Bon P oweote hack o b,
Lastimsboy, i the esail sent a1 %56 s, sttached hebow dascussing his behandor and how he fomd it 1o be
rerpwarranted and unprofessional. br. Listasky, apparenily believing be could pretend the conversation
mever happened, wrote back and slamed that we had somehow misunderdeood Mo amd made derceaon,
renearks about Ron T, pessonally and profiessionally. What Mr. Listinsky abvicusly failed to walize is that
Ram J. had been sitting next 1o Fon P doring our momg plione comeecsation, had raken nomes of whar
wars said and B 2 witness @ ki threass, Wr. Lastinkesy vomtinumed his unprofessional. illeeal. and unefhical
behavior in his emails by lying and claiming he had said nothing

Below, please find the enail sequencs starting from the request to spesk with Ron B, and Ban £, only.
This email string includes the emails tha occurred within mimutes alffer the phowe call from Mr, Listinsky
and end with a threat fo 5o after Districs emplovee Keisten Flagtvedi™s pay Fir bringing forward & pay
discrepancy.

P Please Wote - We had been workdng with Mr. Listnsky and Angela Flore, on behalf of WSPA and

Wis. Flagevedn in order to fix Bis pay issue. Mr. Listinsky bad staved o s, as well 25 to-other WSPA,
members, it the Disteict had promaised to pay Me. F lazrvedt Bor the davs she had worked and this shoold
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and wonld bagpen. To then come hack and: iy to punish Ms. Flagovedt boranse 2 bargaining wnil, noe
wven ber bargsining weit, dechired impasse 15 unprofessional, retaliatory and a probibined prRcicE.

W reported o Andy Havooek and to the APTA megeitation beam the threas by k. Listinsky, {Sec e~
il t APTA — October 75, 2031 11:14 mm.)y

We infirmed wou, Emaly, of the threans, waprofessional, ilesal and unethical behavior by Bofr. Lastinske

‘when we spoke on October 22, 2021 gt 12:43 pan. Aenordingly, s we mibrmed you in this pliooe mm

we grg Filing this formeal mmphmt. Additionalby, we are copzidering saking further actions o behalf of
thee Talbor gioups we represcat at the District to the Employee Mamg{:mem Helatigns Board,

Please advise who will be bandling this complaint and when we can schedule & mesting to discuss the
mext steps to resodving this issse, A o ane aware. we canmot o forveand with reaching ALTERIEENTS
o Jue catstanding Jabor contracts i the Disirict's representative is 1ot Eoagg 10 Mect, ROt iR to
burgmin in, wodd ﬁmﬁa s going to try and bully and threatsn s i we don’ do what he wanis and use
Dhstrict resoumces jost w *fock™ with as,

Thank you for woer attertion o tis matber and we ook forwvard i a [PTOHTSIE CESTHrTSE.

Sineerehy,
r""ﬁf? \'.JQJ{
Bon P Diveher

APTA Represemtative

Foowy 1. Dyl
MAPTA E&,pn‘ SEnTETIG

At

Tz fls
Kristen MeMeill, WOSD Superintendent by s-mail
Andrew Hieosk, APTA President by 2-mal
Crts Reich, Deputy Chiel Generad Cowmsed b v pppail
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Ronald J. Dreher
NV Bar No. 15726 FILED
April 27, 2023

P.O. Box 6494

State of Nevada
Reno, NV 89513 Aviiad
Telephone: (775) 846-9804 4.1'16. .b.
ron@dreherlaw.net 116 p.m.

BEFORE THE STATE OF NEVADA

GOVERNEMNET EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL-

TECHNICAL ADMINISTRATORS Case No.: 2022-002

Complainant,
Panel C

WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.
/

OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISQUALIFY COUNSEL

COMES NOW Complainant ASSSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL-TECHNICAL
ADMINISTRATORS (hereinafter “APTA”), by and through its undersigned attorney, hereby
submits its Opposition to Respondent’s Motion To Disqualify Counsel And Request For
Continuance.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

1. INTRODUCTION

On January 7, 2022, APTA filed a Complaint with this Board against the Washoe
County School District (hereinafter “District™), alleging multiple instances of prohibited
practices, to include not bargaining in good faith. The issues were scheduled to be heard by

the Board on May 10, 2022. However, due to a Board member’s conflict, the hearing was
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rescheduled to August 16, 2022. Prior to this hearing, the parties believed they had reached a
settlement to avoid holding the hearing. Yet, at no fault of APTA, the settlement could not be
finalized, and the hearing was rescheduled to May 1, 2023. The District insisted that the
hearing be held in May 2023 as it claimed none of its witnesses were available any other time.
Commissioner Snyder advised the parties that no further extensions or continuations would be
granted.

On March 1, 2023, Kevin Pick, Esq. entered his appearance as the attorney of record
for the District. Prior to this, the District has been represented by multiple attorneys that have
had access to the complaint and information outlined in the Motion since January 7, 2022.

On April 13, 2023, just 18 days before the parties were scheduled for the third time to
hold this hearing, and only 11 days prior to the exhibit books being due to the Board, Mr. Pick
filed a motion to disqualify Attorney Dreher as the attorney for APTA. Mr. Pick also
requested, and immediately received, a continuance of the hearing so that the Board may
decide the April 13, 2023, Motion.

At no time between January 7, 2022, and April 13, 2023, despite the scheduling of
several hearings, did the District move to disqualify Attorney Dreher from representing
APTA even though they have possessed the information described in the Motion since at least
January 7, 2022.

II.  Legal Argument
A. Standards of Review
1. Jurisdiction
This Board is “an administrative board created by NRS Chapter 288. NRS Chapter 288

governs relations between local governments and public employees.” City of Henderson v.
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Kilgore, 122 Nev. 331, 334, 131 P.3d 11, 13 (2006). This statute gives the Board limited
jurisdiction over NRS Chapter 288 and provides in part that the Board “may make rules
governing” items such as the “[p]roceedings before it.” NRS 288.110(1)(a). Additionally,
NRS 288.110(2) states that the “Board may hear and determine any complaint arising out of
the interpretation of, or performance under, the provisions of this chapter by the Executive
Department, any local government employer, any employee, as defined in NRS 288.425, any
local government employee, any employee organization or any labor organization.” The
Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that “when the language of a statute is plain and
unambiguous, a court should give that language its ordinary meaning and not go beyond it."
Kilgore, 122 Nev. at 334 (citing Reno v. Reno Newspapers, 105 Nev. 886, 784 P.2d 974
(1989)). Further, the Nevada Supreme Court disagreed with the interpretation that the ability
of this Board to make rules governing its proceedings gives this Board the implied power to go
outside of its enumerated powers. See Kilgore 122 Nev. at 334. Rather, the only implied
powers the Nevada Supreme Court has recognized are those “implied limited power [which]
must be essential to carry out an agency's express statutory duties.” /d. At 335.
2. Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct — Rule 3.7
Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct Rule Rule 3.7 states the following:
“(a) A lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to
be a necessary witness unless:
(1) The testimony relates to an uncontested issue;
(2) The testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services
rendered in the case; or
(3) Disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on

the client.
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(b) A lawyer may act as advocate in a trial in which another lawyer in the
lawyer’s firm is likely to be called as a witness unless precluded from doing
so by Rule 1.7 or Rule 1.9.”

The Nevada Supreme Court has determined that “[a]lthough the district court has wide
latitude in determining whether to disqualify counsel from participating in a given case, its
discretion in such cases is not unlimited. The district court must balance the prejudices that
will inure to the parties as a result of its decision.” Cronin v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., In & For
Cnty. of Clark, 105 Nev. 635, 640, 781 P.2d 1150, 1153 (1989) (overruled on separate grounds
by Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 123 Nev. 44, 152 P.3d 737
(2007)). Further, “disqualification [of an attorney] is a disfavored remedy.” State v. Eighth
Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 473 P.3d 1020, LEXIS 961, at *5 (Nev. Unpub. 2020).

In analyzing a previous rule that had almost identical language to NRPC Rule 3.7, the
Nevada Supreme Court held that “the rule is meant to eliminate any confusion and prejudice
that could result if an attorney appears before a jury as an advocate and as a witness.”
Dimartino v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 119 Nev. 119, 122, 66 P.3d 945, 947 (2003)
(emphasis added). The Nevada Supreme Court clarified that there “is no danger of such
confusion in . . . proceedings where a judge is the fact-finder.” State v. Eighth Judicial Dist.
Court of Nev. 2020 LEXIS 961, at *5.

While Nevada has not specifically addressed how NRPC 3.7 should be interpreted
when a party is calling a witness to seemingly “create” a conflict and disqualify the attorney,
other jurisdictions have done so when interpreting similar rules. See Dibble v. Justice Court of
Las Vegas Clark, 2021 Nev. Dist. LEXIS 1133, at *17 (Nev. Dist. Ct. (2021) (citing State v.
Sanchez, 171 Wash. App. 518, 545-46, 288 P. 3d 351, 364 (Wash. App. (2012), (holding that a
motion for disqualification under a rule identical to NRPC 3.7 must be supported by a showing

-4 -
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that (1) the attorney will give evidence material to the determination of the issues being
litigated, (2) the evidence is unobtainable elsewhere, and (3) the testimony is or may be
prejudicial to the testifying attorney's client; if these showings are made, a lawyer may be
disqualified as an advocate at trial where he or she is likely to be a necessary witness)).

Furthermore, when “presenting to the court a . . . written motion . . . an attorney
certifies that to the best of the person’s knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an
inquiry reasonable under the circumstances,” that the written motion is “not being presented
for any improper purpose, such as to harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase
the cost of litigation.” Nev. R. Civ. P. 11(b)(1).

B. ARGUMENT

1. Jurisdiction

As outlined in NRS Chapter 288, this Board is an administrative agency that has
limited jurisdictional power expressly delineated in this Chapter. See NRS 288.110. Further,
this Board’s implied powers are limited to those that are essential to carrying out its “express
statutory duties.” Kilgore 122 Nev. at 335. Given that the power to rule on the applicability of
the Nevada Rules of Professional conduct is not a power expressly enumerated to this Board,
it is outside of its jurisdiction. Additionally, the Board’s role as a fact-finder does not require it
to rule on the applicability of the NRCP in order to carry out its statutory duty of hearing and
determining complaints as outlined in NRS 288.110(2). The Board has previously disqualified
a representative, however, this disqualification was pursuant to NAC 288.278, a statute over
which this Board has express jurisdiction. See City of North Las Vegas, 759 EMRB (2011).
Given this precedence and the jurisdictional restraints, the District’s Motion to disqualify

Attorney Dreher must be denied in its entirety.
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2. Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct — Rule 3.7

If this Board determines that it should rule on the Motion, it is respectfully requested to
consider the following arguments.

Attorney Dreher, despite the District’s assertions, is not a necessary witness as the
evidence regarding the phone call that occurred on October 22, 2021, can be obtained from
multiple sources to include testimony from witnesses Ronald P. Dreher, John Listinsky,
Emily Ellison and the District internal investigation into the allegations. While the issue of the
phone call discussion between Mr. Dreher and Mr. Listinsky is a part of the allegations made
by APTA, this one event in a long series of alleged improper and prohibited actions by the
District will not, in and of itself, determine if APTA has proved its case to the Board. See
Sanchez, 171 Wash. App., at 545-46.

Further, the hearing to be held in front of this Board is not a “trial” in which a jury will
be present. The Board will decide this matter similar in manner to a judge acting as a fact-
finder. Given this, Attorney Dreher should not be disqualified to represent APTA as Rule 3.7
i1s meant to avoid “confusion and prejudice” in a matter before a jury. Dimartino, 119 Nev. at
122. With the Board members acting as a fact-finder, there is no “danger of such confusion”
and a disqualification of Attorney Dreher would go against the intent of Rule 3.7. State, 2020
LEXIS 961, at *5. Furthermore, disqualification is not a favored remedy in Nevada and courts
have “wide latitude™ to determine if counsel should be disqualified, and this must be balanced
by the prejudices the parties will endure as a result. Cronin, 105 Nev. at 640; see State v.
Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev. 2020 LEXIS 961, at *5. APTA stands to be severely
prejudiced by any decision to remove Attorney Dreher from this matter as he has been serving

as counsel to APTA for the entire twenty-six months involved in this matter.
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Additionally, disqualifying Attorney Dreher would cause a substantial hardship on
APTA. While it may be true that APTA could potentially have time to obtain other counsel,
this would come at a significant financial cost to APTA. The newly acquired counsel would
be required to become familiar with over two years of negotiation and hearing related
documents and testimony. This would cause for APTA, which is an employee funded labor
organization and not a public entity with a budget of over 500 million dollars like the District,
to incur large legal fees.

Despite the District’s statement that this “Motion is not made for the purpose of delay
or any other improper purpose,” APTA respectfully reiterates to this Board that the District
waited until the hearing was imminent to file the Motion. (Motion at 5:8.) The District had
ample time to bring its concern to the Board prior to the filing of the current Motion. Its
failure to do so, coupled with the timing of the filing of this Motion, is indicative that this
Motion was filed only to cause unnecessary delay to this process, harass APTA and its
representatives and to cause APTA to incur additional litigation costs.

III. CONCLUSION

The Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct are outside of the enumerated powers of
this Board. If the Board decides to consider this rule, it is requested to consider that the
disqualification of Attorney Dreher as counsel for APTA is not required by NRCP 3.7.
Attorney Dreher is not a necessary witness and APTA would suffer a substantial hardship if
Attorney Dreher is disqualified. There is no danger of confusion to the Board as the fact-
finder if Attorney Dreher is allowed to continue this representation and the filing of the
Motion was seemingly only made to unnecessarily delay this process, require APTA to incur

further legal costs and to harass APTA and its representatives.
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For the foregoing reasons, APTA respectfully requests this Board to deny the District’s

Motion.

DATED this 27" day of April, 2023.

/s/ Ronald J. Dreher

Ronald J. Dreher

NV Bar No. 15726

P.O. Box 6494

Reno, NV 89513
Telephone: (775) 846-9804
ron@dreherlaw.net
Attorney for Complainant
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Pursuant to NAC 288.070, the undersigned hereby certifies that I am the counsel for
the Association of Professional-Technical Administrators and that on this date I served a true
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Neil A Rombardo, Esq.
nrombardo@washoeschools.net
Kevin Pick, Esq.
kevin.pick@washoeschools.net
Sara K. Montalva, Esq.
sara.montalvo@washoeschools.net
Andrea L. Schulewitch, Esq.
andrea.schulewitch@washoeschools.net
W ashoe County School District
P.O. Box 30425

Reno,NV 89520-3425

by electronic service by transmitting the copy electronically as an attachment to electronic

mail in portable document format.

DATED this 27" day of April, 2023.

/s/ Ronald J. Dreher
Ronald J. Dreher

NV Bar No. 15726

P.O. Box 6494

Reno, NV 89513
Telephone: (775) 846-9804
ron@dreherlaw.net
Attorney for Complainant
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to NAC 288.070, the undersigned hereby certifies that I am the counsel for
the Association of Professional-Technical Administrators and that on this date I served a true

and correct copy of the preceding document addressed to the following:

Bruce Snyder, Esq.
Commissioner, EMRB
bsnyder@business.nv.gov
3300 W. Sahara Avenue
Suite 260

Las Vegas, NV 89102

by electronic service by transmitting the copy electronically as an attachment to electronic

mail in portable document format.

DATED this 27" day of April, 2023.

/s/ Ronald J. Dreher
Ronald J. Dreher

NV Bar No. 15726

P.O. Box 6494

Reno, NV 89513
Telephone: (775) 846-9804
ron@dreherlaw.net
Attorney for Complainant
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Kevin A. Pick, Esq., Nev. Bar No. 11683 FILED
WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT May 10, 2023

P.O. Box 30425 State of Nevada

Reno, NV 89520-3425 E.M.R.B.
Telephone: 775-348-0300 10:30 a.m.
Fax: 775-333-6010

Attorney for Respondent

BEFORE THE STATE OF NEVADA

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL-
TECHNICAL ADMINISTRATORS,
Case No.:  YAX2022-002
Complainant,
PANEL C
Vs.

WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.
/

RESPONDENT’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF
MOTION TO DISQUALIFY COUNSEL

Respondent, Washoe County School District (“District”), through counsel, hereby
submits its reply in support of Respondent’s Motion to Disqualify Counsel. This Reply is made
and based on the memorandum of points and authorities set forth below, any exhibits attached

hereto, and all papers and pleadings on file herein.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L. INTRODUCTION
Attorney Ron J. Dreher (Attorney Dreher) is counsel for APTA and was designated as
trial counsel for the evidentiary hearing previously scheduled for May 2023. However, Attorney

Dreher is also the only witness to the October 22, 2021, phone call between John Listinsky and
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Ron P. Dreher (Attorney Dreher’s father), which APTA has made a cornerstone of its Complaint.
In other words, Attorney Dreher is the only witness to a he-said/he-said incident, which is a
central factual dispute before the EMRB.

Rule 3.7 of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct prohibits a lawyer from acting as
trial counsel when the lawyer is “likely to be a necessary witness . . .” Rule 3.7 is one of the
definitive prohibitions on attorney conduct, because a violation of Rule 3.7 prejudices the
factfinder, the opposing party, and the violating attorney’s own client. By unilaterally choosing
to act as trial counsel, Attorney Dreher is effectively robbing the parties of an opportunity to
examine the only witness to the he-said/he-said October 22, 2021, phone call. If successful,
Attorney Dreher would compromise the factfinding process, prejudice the District, and (frankly)
prejudice APTA, which no doubt has an interest in obtaining testimony material to the allegations
in its Complaint (just as the District has an interest in obtaining testimony to rebut the allegations
of the Complaint).

When considering the clear wording of Rule 3.7, one would have supposed that Attorney
Dreher would step aside as trial counsel. However, Attorney Dreher failed to step aside in
accordance with Rule 3.7 and omitted any mention of his status as a necessary witness in APTA’s
March 1, 2022, Prehearing Statement. Indeed, it was not until the undersigned counsel (while
preparing for the hearing on the week of April 10, 2023) found a single sentence among over
1,000 pages of trial exhibits, which confirmed that Attorney Dreher was the only witness to the
October 22, 2021, phone call between Listinsky and Ron P. Dreher. This single sentence was:
“[t]he call was placed on speaker phone [and] Ron J. immediately began taking notes.” See
Motion to Disqualify (Exhibit No. 1). The Opposition criticizes the District for filing the Motion

to Disqualify too close to the May hearing date, but the Opposition overlooks the fact that
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Attorney Dreher has known about this conflict since the Complaint was filed, yet failed to
disclose his status as a witness and abide by Rule 3.7. It was only by chance that the undersigned
counsel (who is new to the case and new the District) discovered the truth while reviewing
exhibits in preparation for the hearing.

In its Motion to Disqualify, the District confirmed that Attorney Dreher was a necessary
witness to a material issue of fact before the EMRB, and that disqualification would not work a
substantial hardship on APTA because the May hearing could be (and ultimately was) continued.

In his Opposition, Attorney Dreher does not dispute that he was the only witness to the
October 22, 2021, phone call between Listinsky and Ron P. Dreher. Nor does Attorney Dreher
dispute the obvious relevance of his testimony. Instead, the Opposition argues as follows:

1. The EMRB has no “jurisdiction” to enforce Nevada’s Rules of Professional
Conduct and must turn a blind eye to attorney ethical violations.

2. Rule 3.7 only applies in jury trials.
3. Disqualifying Attorney Dreher would cause a substantial hardship to APTA,
because APTA will incur the normal inconvenience and expense associated with

changing counsel.

4. That holding Attorney Dreher accountable to Rule 3.7 is supposedly a delay tactic
by the District.

This reply will address each of the Opposition’s legal arguments. But in the end, it will
be up to the EMRB to decide whether (as factfinder) it is truly interested in hearing from all
necessary witnesses and whether the EMRB will uphold Nevada’s Rules of Professional
Conduct. Frankly, if the EMRB is genuinely interested in uncovering the truth of the disputed
facts alleged in the Complaint, then Attorney Dreher must be disqualified under Rule 3.7.

/17

/17
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IL. LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Law

At the outset, the Opposition includes a slanted standard of law section, which the District
must correct before moving on to the Opposition’s main legal arguments.

First, the Opposition argues that courts in Nevada have wide discretion in determining
whether to disqualify counsel, but the Opposition then argues that disqualification is disfavored.
See Opposition, at 4. In reality, the Nevada Supreme Court had found that courts “have the
responsibility for controlling the conduct of attorneys practicing before them.” Cronin v. Eighth
Jud. Dist. Ct., In & For Cnty. of Clark, 105 Nev. 635, 640, 781 P.2d 1150, 1153 (1989) (emphasis
added). As such, whether disfavored or not, the EMRB has a duty to require attorney compliance
with Rule 3.7.

Next, the Opposition suggests that Rule 3.7 is limited to jury trials and to preventing juror
confusion. However, as explained in detail below, this argument is contrary to the plain language
and intent of Rule 3.7. Moreover, even if Rule 3.7 was limited to jury trials (and it is not), an
evidentiary hearing before the EMRB is more akin to a jury trial than a bench trial before a judge.

Lastly, the Opposition tries to paint the District as a bad-actor for merely holding Attorney
Dreher accountable for following Nevada’s Rules of Professional Conduct. In doing so, the
Opposition urges the EMRB to apply a heightened 3-step standard of review and relies on a case
from the Washington Court of Appeals (which is not even Washington’s highest court). See
Opposition, at 4. However, the reason that the Opposition relies on caselaw from a mid-level
Washington appellate court is because there is no support for Complainant’s argument under
Nevada law. Even the Opposition acknowledges that Nevada law does not support the application

of a heightened standard of review, such as seen in Washington. /d. Furthermore, contrary to the
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Opposition’s false assertion that they are “identical,” Washington’s Rule 3.7 is completely
different from Nevada’s Rule 3.7. As such, it would be arbitrary, capricious, and a clear error of
law for the EMRB to abandon Nevada’s Rule 3.7 and apply Washington caselaw based on
Washington’s different version of Rule 3.7.

In interpreting Nevada’s Rule 3.7, the EMRB need look no further than the plain language
of the rule:

(a) a lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a
necessary witness unless:

(1) The testimony relates to an uncontested issue;

(2) The testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the
case; or

(3) Disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client.

When Rule 3.7 is applied to this case, it is undisputed that Attorney Dreher was the only
witness to the he-said/he-said October 22, 2021, phone call, which makes Attorney Dreher a
necessary witness — necessary for the District, necessary for the EMRB, and necessary for APTA.
Furthermore, none of the exceptions to Rule 3.7 apply, because APTA has made the October 22,
2021, phone call as a central issue of fact and, as discussed below, no legitimate argument can
be made that holding Attorney Dreher accountable to Rule 3.7 would work a substantial hardship
on APTA. Therefore, Rule 3.7 prohibits Attorney Dreher from acting as trial counsel at the
evidentiary hearing in this matter.

B. The EMRB has the Authority (and Duty) to Enforce Rule 3.7

The Opposition first argues that the EMRB lacks “jurisdiction” to enforce Nevada’s Rules
of Professional Conduct, because enforcing ethical rules is supposedly not among the powers

expressly granted to the EMRB under NRS 288.110. See Opposition, at 5.
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However, NRS 288.110(1)(a) gives the EMRB authority to govern the “proceedings
before it,” which logically extends to attorneys appearing at those proceedings. Furthermore,
NRS 288.110(2) gives the EMRB authority to hear and determine a complaint, which expressly
includes the authority to “conduct a hearing.” The EMRB has adopted rules to carry out this
quasi-judicial function, including rules on the conduct of hearings, the admissibility of evidence,
and exclusion based on “contemptuous conduct.” See NAC 288.273, et seq. As the Opposition
notes, the EMRB’s implied powers include “those that are essential to carrying out its express
statutory duties.” See Opposition, at 5 (citing City of Henderson v. Kilgore, 122 Nev. 331, 335,
131 P.3d 11, 14 (2006)). The ability to regulate the conduct of attorneys is a necessary and
essential part of the EMRB’s authority to conduct hearings. Therefore, the EMRB has
“jurisdiction” to enforce Rule 3.7, both as part of its express authority to conduct hearings and
its necessary implied authority to regulate the conduct of parties and attorneys appearing before
it.

What is more, Nevada’s Rules of Professional Conduct apply to all attorneys licensed in
Nevada, regardless of the forum in which they appear. Indeed, many of the Rule of Professional
Conduct apply to conduct done outside of court. Therefore, Rule 3.7 would follow Attorney
Dreher wherever he was practicing, whether before the EMRB or the Nevada Supreme Court.

Lastly, the Opposition’s jurisdictional argument is not only contrary to Nevada law, but
it is also contrary to common sense. The District respectfully urges the EMRB to consider a
future where attorney ethical rules cease to apply before the EMRB. Because if the EMRB is
powerless to enforce Rule 3.7, then it is also powerless to enforce other ethical rules, such as
Rule 3.3 (Candor Toward the Tribunal), Rule 3.4 (Fairness to Opposing Party and Counsel),

and Rule 4.1 (Truthfulness in Statements to Others). As such, common sense dictates that
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attorney ethical rules fully apply before the EMRB, which has a “responsibility for controlling
the conduct of attorneys practicing before them.” Cronin, 105 Nev. at 640 (emphasis added).

C. Rule 3.7 is Not Limited to Jury Trials

The Opposition next argues that Rule 3.7 was intended to eliminate juror confusion and
therefore only applies in jury trials. See Opposition, at 6. However, the plain text of Rule 3.7
confirms that the rule is not limited to only jury trials. Rule 3.7 clearly instructs that a “lawyer
shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness . . .”
(Emphasis added). Accordingly, Rule 3.7 applies to all trials, whether before a judge or jury.!

Also, the purpose of Rule 3.7 is not merely to prevent confusion in the mind of jurors.
Rather, in interpreting ABA Model Rule 3.7,% courts have found that the rule promotes many
different important considerations. First, the attorney/witness may not be a fully objective
witness, United States v. Morris, 714 F.2d 669 (7th Cir.1983), or may be perceived by the trier
of distorting the truth for the sake of his client. /d. Such a result is obviously harmful and unfair
to the client of the attorney/witness (i.e., APTA) and harmful to the client's cause. International
Electronic Corp. v. Flanzer, 527 F.2d 1288 (2d Cir.1975). Second, the danger also exists that the
trier may confuse the roles of the attorney as witness and attorney as advocate. Morris, 714 F.2d
at 671-72. This confusion could prejudice either party. The attorney/witness may be perceived
to be biased in favor of his client, or, conversely, might be perceived as unquestionably

trustworthy because the attorney/witness is also acting as an officer of the court. If the trier then

! As an aside, an evidentiary hearing before the EMRB is also clearly “a trial.” At hearing under NRS

288.110, the EMRB receives evidence on a dispute between parties; the EMRB rules on the admissibility of
evidence; the EMRB entertains argument by attorneys; attorneys examine and cross-examine witnesses; the EMRB
renders factual conclusions; the EMRB makes legal decisions; and the EMRB provides remedies where appropriate.
As such, an evidentiary hearing before the EMRB includes all components of a trial and Rule 3.7 therefore applies.

2 See Cronin, 105 Nev. at 639 (Holding that “[t]he Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct are taken from the
ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct.”)
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grants undue weight to the attorney's testimony, the opposing party (i.e., the District) will be
unfairly disadvantaged. International Electronic Corp. 527 F.2d at 1294; see United States v.
Johnson, 690 F.2d 638, 644 (7th Cir.1982). An attorney/witness will also be in a position to
vouch for his own credibility, which is also unfair to the opponent (i.e., the District). Finally,
Rule 3.7 reflects a broader concern for public confidence in the administration of justice, that
“justice must satisfy the appearance of justice.” United States v. Johnson, 690 F.2d 638 (7th
Cir.1982); General Motors Corp. v. City of New York, 501 F.2d 639, 649 (2d Cir.1974). As such,
when looking at the intent of Rule 3.7, this rule is not limited to only jury trials.

What is more, even if Rule 3.7 applied only to jury trials (and it does not), a hearing
before the EMRB is not a bench trial and there is no judge. See NAC 288.271; see also NAC
288.301. Instead, an EMRB hearing is conducted before a panel comprised of members that are
“broadly representative of the public,” which is exactly like a jury. See NRS 288.080(1).
Therefore, even if Rule 3.7 was limited to jury trials, a hearing before the EMRB is more akin to
a jury trial than a bench trial before a judge and the potential for confusion certainly exists.

D. Holding Attorney Dreher Accountable for Following Rule 3.7 will

Not Cause a Substantial Hardship to APTA.

The Opposition next argues that disqualification of Attorney Dreher would cause
substantial hardship to APTA, because APTA would need to spend money to hire a new attorney.
See Opposition, at 7.

However, Rule 3.7 requires the hiring of new counsel by its very operation. Therefore, if
merely spending money to hire new counsel could qualify as a substantial hardship, then no
attorney would ever be disqualified under Rule 3.7. Furthermore, unless Attorney Dreher was

working pro bono, then APTA would have paid Attorney Dreher to appear as counsel at hearing






Washoe County School District

Office of the General Counsel

PO Box 30425
Reno, Nevada 89520-3425

Telephone: (775) 348-0300; Facsimile: (775) 333-6010

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

and, as such, APTA would not be spending more money than it otherwise would have spent
before disqualification. Thus, no substantial hardship.

It is also notable that besides the normal inconvenience and expense associated with
changing counsel, the Opposition fails to articulate any prejudice to APTA that will result if
Attorney Dreher is disqualified under Rule 3.7. /d. The Opposition’s failure to cite any other
prejudice is an admission that no prejudice will result.

On the other hand, the District, APTA, and the EMRB will all be prejudiced in the event
that Attorney Dreher is allowed to act as trial counsel in violation of Rule 3.7. If Attorney Dreher
remains as trial counsel (and not as a witness) then the District will be robbed of its ability to
cross-examine the lone witness to the he-said/he-said October 22, 2021, phone call. The EMRB
and APTA will likewise be without the testimony of a necessary, material witness. If Attorney
Dreher is somehow permitted to function as both trial counsel and witness, then the line between
argument and evidence will be unfairly blurred, which will cast a shadow over any ruling made
by the EMRB. Moreover, if Attorney Dreher is able to serve as both trial counsel and witness,
then the District would be unable to invoke the rule of exclusion of witnesses, which is
guaranteed under NRS 50.155 and prejudice is presumed from a violation of NRS 50.155. Givens
v. State, 99 Nev. 50, 54, 657 P.2d 97, 100 (1983), overruled on other grounds by Talancon v.
State, 102 Nev. 294, 721 P.2d 764 (1986). Moreover, if Attorney Dreher is able to serve as both
trial counsel and witness, then he will be given an unfair advantage over the District, because he
will be able to vouch for his own credibility and thereby diminish the effectiveness of cross-
examination.

Put simply, there are a host of issues that arise when a lawyer functions as both trial

counsel and witness, which is why Rule 3.7 exists in the first place. If Attorney Dreher is
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permitted to violate Rule 3.7, then the District and APTA will be unfairly prejudiced, and the
fairness and legitimacy of the hearing process will be called into question. As such, the only way
to avoid prejudice and protect the legitimacy of the hearing process is to uphold Rule 3.7 and
disqualify Attorney Dreher.

E. The District was Obligated to Report this Issue

Lastly, the Opposition attempts to paint the District as the villain, because the District
merely objected to an obvious violation of Rule 3.7. Without any evidence, the Opposition argues
that the Motion to Disqualify is a delay tactic, meant to harass APTA and Mr. Dreher.

At the outset, the District must emphasize that it was Attorney Dreher (and not the
District) who would have violated Rule 3.7 by appearing as trial counsel at the May 2023 hearing.
The District and the undersigned counsel did nothing more than report this issue to the EMRB.
The reporting requirement of Rule 8.3 required the undersigned counsel to do so. Furthermore,
the Rules of Professional Conduct exist to maintain a fair and level playing field, and Attorney
Dreher would have gained unfair advantages over the District (as discussed above) if permitted
to act as trail counsel in violation of Rule 3.7. Therefore, the undersigned counsel was obligated
to raise this issue in order to avoid prejudice to the District; furthermore, failure to raise this issue
could have been deemed as the District waiving its objection to Attorney Dreher acting as trial
counsel in violation of Rule 3.7.

As to whether the Motion to Disqualify is harassment, the undersigned counsel has only
been with the District since February 27, 2023, and has had no previous cases with Attorney
Dreher or APTA. What is more, in thirteen years of practice, the undersigned counsel has never
filed a motion to disqualify against an opposing counsel. It was not until preparing for the May

hearing that the undersigned became aware of this obvious ethical issue, which necessitated the

10
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Motion to Disqualify. As such, there is zero evidence of harassment and there is no historical
context that would suggest even an intent to harass. Furthermore, the EMRB should not permit
the Opposition to paint the District as the villain for merely reporting an ethical issue, which
would have prejudiced the District and impacted the fairness of the factfinding process.

As to whether the Motion to Disqualify was a delay tactic by the District, there is no
evidence to support such an argument and no history of delay by the District. In fact, prior to the
Motion to Disqualify, there were three previous continuances of the hearing in this case but none
of them were sought by the District. Rather, it was APTA that continued the May 2022 and
August 2022 hearing dates, and the EMRB that continued the November 2022 hearing date.
Accordingly, the Opposition’s argument is belied by the procedural history in this case and there
is no evidence of delay by the District, which again is merely enforcing attorney ethical rules and
taking necessary steps to prevent prejudice to the District and ensure a fair hearing.

III. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the District respectfully moves the Committee to grant the

Motion to Disqualify Ron J. Dreher, Esq. as trial counsel for APTA.

DATED this 10th day of May, 2023.

WASHOE COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

By: /s/ Kevin A. Pick, Esq.
KEVIN A. PICK, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11683
General Counsel
Washoe County School District
P.O. Box 30425
Reno, NV 89520-342
Attorney for Respondent
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to NAC 288.070, I certify that [ am an employee of the WASHOE COUNTY
SCHOOL DISTRICT, OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL and that on this date I served a

true and correct copy of the preceding document addressed to the following:

Ron J. Dreher, Esq.

P.O. Box 40502

Reno, Nevada 89504
dreherlaw(@outlook.com
ron(@dreherlaw.net

by electronic service by transmitting the copy electronically as an attachment to electronic mail

in portable document format.

DATED this 10th day of May, 2023.
/s/Debra Newman
Debra Newman

12
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OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

FILED
CRYSTAL J. HERRERA, ESQ. (NV Bar No. 12396) Mav 9. 2023
5100 West Sahara Avenue Yo,
State of Nevada
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 EMR.B
Phone: (702) 799-5373 413 pm,

herrec4@nv.ccsd.net
Attorney for Respondent,
Clark County School District

STATE OF NEVADA
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT
RELATIONS BOARD

CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION
ASSOCIATION,

Complainant,

V.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 2023-009

RESPONDENT CLARK COUNTY
SCHOOL DISTRICT’S MOTION TO
DISMISS COMPLAINANTS’
COMPLAINT

Respondent Clark County School District (“Respondent” / “CCSD”), by and through their

attorney of record, Crystal J. Herrera, Esq. of the Office of the General Counsel for CCSD, hereby

files the following Motion to Dismiss Clark County Education Association’s Complaint for lack

of standing under NRS 288.160 and NRS 288.170 and untimeliness under NRS 288.110. This

Motion is based upon papers and pleadings on file herein, the attached Memorandum of Points

and Authorities, and any oral argument permitted at the time of the hearing on this matter.

DATED this 9th day of May, 2023.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
OFFICE/@F THE1 GENERAL COUNSEL

r“ ?"'

CRYSTAL J HERRERA ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12396

5100 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Attorney for Respondent,

Clark County School District
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I INTRODUCTION

The Clark County Education Association (“Complainant”/“CCEA”) filed a Complaint
without appropriate standing to bring its stated claims. The Complaint identifies the Education
Support Employees Association (“ESEA”) as the exclusive bargaining representative of non-
licensed staff employed by CCSD and alleges that because ESEA entered into an agreement
(“Agreement”) with General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers and Helpers Local 14 Affiliated with
International Board of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers of America
(“Teamsters”), who has representational authority of 30% of ESEA’s bargaining unit, Teamsters is
involved in direct bargaining with CCSD. CCEA’s claims involve the relationship between ESEA
and Teamsters, their members, and the District. However, CCEA does not represent any of the
alleged affected employees and does not purport that it would be the appropriate representative for
any non-licensed employees. Accordingly, it lacks standing to bring its claims.

Further, CCEA unreasonably waited three and a half years before filing a complaint
regarding the Agreement. ESEA and Teamsters publicly entered into their Agreement in October
2019 and continue the same association to date. ESEA and Teamsters’ known and ongoing
relationship is not a timely subject for consideration before the Employee-Management Relations
Board (“EMRB”/”Board”).

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

CCSD has recognized ESEA as the exclusive representative for the bargaining unit
comprised of non-licensed employees. In October 2019, ESEA entered into an agreement with
Teamsters, wherein Teamsters would assist ESEA in the representation and servicing of the
bargaining unit. Since 2019, CCSD has engaged in negotiations with ESEA and the employees

designated by Teamsters to comprise the bargaining team for their successor negotiated

Page 2 of 9
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agreements. Local news even published a report on the Agreement on October 24, 2019'.
Specifically, it was reported, “The announcement made Thursday will divide up employee support
professionals into two bargaining groups, Unit 1 and Unit 2 for the purposes of representing staff
in contract negotiations.”® It has been public knowledge that ESEA and Teamsters would work
together to represent the bargaining unit in negotiations for three and a half years.

Since the Agreement took effect in 2019, CCSD has not recognized any additional
employee organizations to represent non-licensed employees. CCSD has not recognized Teamsters
as the exclusive representative for any bargaining unit.

CCEA is the exclusive representative for the bargaining unit comprised of licensed
employees within the CCSD. CCEA does not represent any non-licensed employees.

CCSD is currently engaging in negotiations with all recognized employee organizations for
their respective successor agreements.

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

1. CCEA’s Complaint is Time-Barred.

NRS 288.110(4) provides: “The Board may not consider any complaint or appeal filed
more than 6 months after the occurrence which is the subject of the complaint or appeal.” “The
provisions of ...NRS 288.110(4) are mandatory.” SEIU Local 1107, Nevada Service Employees
Union and Eugene Shults v. Dept. of Aviation, Clark County and Clark County, Case No. Al-
045565 (1996), Item No. 364-A. See also Peggy McElrath v. Clark County School District, Case
No. A-045634 (1997), Item No. 423 (EMRB dismissed McElrath’s complaint for being filed four
months after the six month statute of limitations deadline); International Association of Fire
Fighters, Local 731 v. City of Reno, Case No. A1-045681 (2000), Item No. 471 (EMRB dismissed
complaint filed in May 2000 when the drug testing at issue occurred in 1998); City of Mesquite v.
Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 135 Nev. 240, 244, 445 P.3d 1244, 1249 (2019) (a claim must be brought to

the EMRB within six months of it arising).

'Valencia, Peter. “ESEA and Teamsters Local 14 reach agreement, end decades-long dispute.”
KSNV-TV NBC, news3lv.com. https:/news3lv.com/news/local/esea-and-teamsters-local-14-
reach-agreement-end-decades-long-dispute (last visited May 3, 2023).

* Id. (emphasis added).
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CCEA alleges that it has been harmed because CCSD is currently negotiating with
Teamsters without having consulted CCEA on the determination of a bargaining unit pursuant to
NRS 288.170(1). Specifically, “By negotiating directly with the Teamsters CCSD has de facto
recognized Teamsters as the representative of some of ESEA’s bargaining unit,” and “CCEA is
aggrieved under 288.170 as it was not consulted before CCSD de facto recognized a new
bargaining unit and because the recognition of this unit impacts CCEA’s bargaining with CCSD.”
Complaint at 2:21-23, 3:9-10. However, as indicated Section I, infra, ESEA and Teamsters (as
ESEA-designated representatives) have been negotiating with CCSD on behalf of the bargaining
unit of non-licensed employees since the Agreement became effective in 2019. The Agreement
was not a secret. In fact, it was reported by local news and the Agreement even explained that its
purpose was to allow Teamsters and ESEA to work together in negotiations.> Considering the
Agreement has been public knowledge since 2019, it is unlikely that CCEA did not have
knowledge of the Agreement and/or that ESEA-designated representatives from Teamsters were
involved in ESEA negotiations until this year.*

Further, CCEA has not identified how it has been harmed by ESEA and Teamsters’
negotiation efforts in the past six months, or how that differs from the previous negotiation
sessions since 2019. CCEA did claim that “In negotiations, CCSD has represented to CCEA that,
due to finite resources, negotiations held by one bargaining unit has a direct impact on the money
and resources available to other bargaining units.” Complaint at 2:8-9. However, CCSD always
has a finite amount of resources to divide among its employees. The bargaining agents are always
aware that their negotiations with respect to compensation may be affected by CCSD’s
negotiations with other bargaining agents. This claimed “injury” is not a discovery that CCEA
made within the past six months, and it has not indicated how this negotiation session is any

different from those that have taken place since 2019. As such, CCEA has failed to bring its claims

3.

* Notably, CCSD cannot dictate to ESEA what representatives it chooses to hire or utilize on its
behalf.
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within the statutorily mandated six-month window, and this Board should dismiss CCEA’s
Complaint.

2. CCEA Does Not Have Standing To Bring The Claims Alleged In The
Complaint.

CCSD seeks dismissal of CCEA’s Complaint because it lacks proper standing to bring the
claims alleged. The Nevada Administrative Code sets forth the requirements for pleadings and
motions filed with the EMRB. NAC 288.200 requires that complaints before the Board contain
“clear and concise statement of the facts constituting the alleged practice sufficient to raise a
Justiciable controversy under chapter 288 of NRS, including the time and place of the occurrence
of the particular acts and the names of persons involved.” NAC 288.200(1) (emphasis added).

The Nevada Supreme Court has identified what constitutes a “justiciable controversy” in
EMRB disputes. The Court explained, “Although no regulation defines ‘justiciable controversy,’
we have done so in another context: a ‘justiciable controversy’ requires a ripe dispute between two
interested and adverse parties, in which the moving party’s interest is legally recognized. Thus,
determining whether a complainant has a legally recognizable interest in the requested relief is an
appropriate standing requirement derived from the rules governing the Board and serves to protect
the Board’s stated interest in the principles of exclusive representation.” UMC Physicians'
Bargaining Unit of Nevada Serv. Emps. Union v. Nevada Serv. Emps. Union/SEIU Loc. 1107,
AFL-CIO, 124 Nev. 84, 93, 178 P.3d 709, 715 (2008)(emphasis added).

“In order to have standing, a plaintiff must show: ‘(1) it has suffered an ‘injury in fact’ that
is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2)
the injury is fairly traceable to the challenged action of the defendant; and (3) it is likely, as
opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.’”
California Sea Urchin Comm'n v. Bean, 883 F.3d 1173, 1180 (9th Cir. 2018), as amended (Apr.
18, 2018) (citing Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167,
180—81 (2000)). The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the relevant inquiries that the EMRB
must make in determining standing are: 1) whether a union is an organization of any kind having
as one of its purposes improvement of the terms and conditions of employment of local
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government employees, and if so, 2) whether the union has presented a justiciable controversy, that
is whether it has asserted an interest based on which it or any members had a right to relief. UMC
Physicians' Bargaining Unit of Nevada Serv. Emps. Union v. Nevada Serv. Emps. Union/SEIU
Loc. 1107, AFL-CIO, 124 Nev. 84, 93, 178 P.3d 709, 716 (2008). “An employee organization has
a legally recognizable interest in the requested relief, when, for example, the employees to which
the complaint alleges harm are its members and no other organization exclusively represents its
members for such purposes.” UMC Physicians' Bargaining Unit of Nevada Serv. Emps. Union v.
Nevada Serv. Emps. Union/SEIU Loc. 1107, AFL-CIO, 124 Nev. 84, 93, 178 P.3d 709, 715 (2008)
(emphasis added).

In the instant matter, CCEA improperly avers that CCSD has violated NRS 288.160 and
NRS 288.170. NRS 288.160 and NRS 288.170 state, in relevant part:

NRS 288.160 Recognition of employee organization: Application for and

withdrawal of recognition; exclusive bargaining agent; election.

1. An employee organization may apply to a local government employer for
recognition by presenting:

(a) A copy of'its constitution and bylaws, if any;

(b) A roster of its officers, if any, and representatives; and

(c) A pledge in writing not to strike against the local government employer
under any circumstances.
A local government employer shall not recognize as representative of its
employees any employee organization which has not adopted, in a manner valid
under its own rules, the pledge required by paragraph (c).

NRS 288.170 Determination of bargaining unit; appeal to Board.

1. Each local government employer which has recognized one or more
employee organizations shall determine, after consultation with the recognized
organization or organizations, which group or groups of its employees constitute
an appropriate unit or units for negotiating. The primary criterion for that
determination must be the community of interest among the employees
concerned.

5. If any employee organization is aggrieved by the determination of a
bargaining unit, it may appeal to the Board. Subject to judicial review, the
decision of the Board is binding upon the local government employer and
employee organizations involved. The Board shall apply the same criterion as
specified in subsection 1.

CCEA alleges that negotiations between ESEA/Teamsters and CCSD mean that CCSD has “de
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facto” recognized Teamsters as an exclusive representative for a separate bargaining unit, in
violation of the process set forth in NRS 288.160 and NRS 288.170. CCEA does not claim that any
members of the bargaining unit of non-licensed employees have been harmed by this alleged “de
facto” recognition of Teamsters. CCEA does not identify the community of interests of the non-
licensed employees that allegedly comprise Teamsters’ separate bargaining unit, nor does CCEA
claim that they would be the better representative for the non-descript bargaining unit of non-
licensed employees. Therefore, CCEA has not brought claims on behalf any members of the “de
facto” bargaining unit they allege has been created through CCSD’s negotiations with
Teamsters/ESEA.

Instead, CCEA speculates that CCSD bargaining with ESEA/Teamsters may affect the
finite resources available to all of CCSD’s employees, which in turn would affect CCEA’s
negotiations. CCEA has not alleged sufficiently concrete claims that its licensed employee
members have been harmed by any alleged “de facto” recognition of a subset of non-licensed
employees. CCEA has failed to establish any current or potential injury that would be caused by
CCSD’s bargaining with ESEA regarding its successor negotiated agreement. In fact, CCEA’s
Complaint reads as an inappropriate attempt to interfere with the negotiations between CCSD and
ESEA and ESEA’s designation of representatives. Again, CCSD’s resources are always finite in
every negotiation session. The fact that ESEA is utilizing Teamsters in negotiations for non-
licensed employee members does not specifically cause injury to CCEA.

Because the alleged “de facto” bargaining unit at issue is not represented by CCEA, and the
injury alleged by CCEA is not caused by any “de facto” recognition, CCEA does not have standing
to bring to claims under NRS 288.160 and 288.170 as alleged in its Complaint.

/1
/1
/1
/1
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IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, CCSD respectfully requests that the Board dismiss CCEA’s
Complaint because it is time-barred under NRS 288.110(4) and for lack of standing.
DATED this 9 day of May, 2023.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
OFFICF/OF THF GENERAL COUNSEL

4(1

CRYSTAL J HERRERA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12396

5100 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Attorney for Respondent

Clark County School District
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on the 9" day of May, 2023, I deposited a true and correct copy of
the foregoing RESPONDENT CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT’S MOTION TO
DISMISS COMPLAINANTS’ COMPLAINT in the United States Mail, postage prepaid
thereon, addressed as follows:

Steven Sorensen

General Counsel

Clark County Education Association
4230 McLeod Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89121

Attorneys for Complainant, CCEA

Eva Martinez
An employee of the Office of the General
Counsel, Clark County School District
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Steven Sorensen FILED

Nevada Bar No: 1547-2 - May 23’ 2023

Clark County Education Association S f

4230 McLeod Drive tate of Nevada

Las Vegas, NV 89121 E.M.R.B.

Attorney for CCEA 11:05 p.m.
STATE OF NEVADA

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT

RELATIONS BOARD
CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION ASSOCIATION, Case No0.:2023-009
Complainant COMPLAINANT CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION
ARy ASSOCIATION’S OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT’S MOTION
b TO DISMISS COMPLAINT

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

Complainant, CCEA DBA Clark County Education Association (“CCEA”), respectfully
submits this Opposition to Respondent Clark County Schools District’s (“Respondent” or “CCSD”)

Motion to Dismiss CCEA’s Complaint (the “Complaint”).

Opposition are set forth in the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities.

STEVEN SORENSEN, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 15472
ssorensen(@ccea-nv.org

4230 McLeod Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89121
(702) 473-1020: FAX (702) 866-6134

DATED this 23rd day of May, 2022.

Attorney for Complainant






10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L Introduction.

In their Motion to Dismiss, Respondent claims that CCEA’s Complaint should be dismissed for
two reasons. First, that CCEA lacks standing and second, because CCEA is time barred. Neither of
these assertions are true.

Respondent rests its lack of standing claim on the assertion that CCEA does not represent any of
the employees that would be in the Helpers Local 14 Affiliated with International Board of Teamsters,
Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers of America (“Teamsters”) bargaining unit and therefore
cannot bring claims on behalf of the members of a Teamsters bargaining unit.. However, an employer
has an obligation to consult with all of its employee organizations before creating a new bargaining
unit, not just those that represent employees in the new unit. An employee organization is harmed when
this statutorily required consultation does not take place. As a recognized employee organization of
employees within CCSD, CCEA has standing to claim a violation of NRS 288 when the required
consultation did not take place.

Respondent claims that CCEA’s complaint is time-barred because CCEA must have known
about the agreement between the Education Support Employees Association (“ESEA”) and the
Teamsters, which gave representational authority to the Teamsters over 30% of ESEA’s bargaining unit
(“the Agreement”) (Exhibit A). While this speculation of what CCEA knew regarding the Agreement
and when it knew it are clearly matters of fact that would need to be determined at a later stage of this
litigation, it is also irrelevant. Even if CCEA had knowledge of the Agreement, CCEA would have had
no way of knowing that CCSD would negotiate with the Teamsters following the Agreement, as CCSD
is not a party to the Agreement. In fact, CCEA was not aware that negotiations were occurring directly
between CCSD and the Teamsters until the Teamsters testified to that fact during recent legislative

hearings.
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Further, per arguendo, even if CCEA knew about negotiations between Teamsters and CCSD,
every subsequent occurrence would represent a violation until CCSD followed the recognition process
of NRS 288 and would therefore allow earlier violations to be brought before the Employee
Management Relations Board (“EMRB”/”Board”) under a continuing violations theory.

II. Factual Background.

Up until 2019 ESEA was the exclusive representative of non-licensed employees within CCSD.
Although Teamsters had attempted on several occasions over the prior 19 years to gain recognition of
the non-licensed staff within CCSD, they had never been recognized as an employee organization for
CCSD employees.

In 2019 ESEA and the Teamsters entered into the Agreement which “administratively
bifurcated” ESEA’s bargaining unit. (see Exhibit A) The Agreement gave Teamsters the authority to
enroll members to their union and to represent certain employees in grievances. The employees
represented by the Teamsters were designated as “Unit 2”. Dues for Unit 2 was to be remitted from
ESEA to the Teamsters. CCSD employees who were in Unit 2 who wished to join the union were only
allowed to join the Teamsters. (see Exhibit B page 2) CCSD was not a party to the Agreement.

CCSD has never officially recognized Teamsters as an employee organization under NRS 288.
Teamsters have not filed with the EMRB to be an employee organization of CCSD employees.

During the month of April, 2023 representatives of the Teamsters testified before the Nevada
State Legislature that they had been involved in negotiations with CCSD regarding the terms and
conditions of employment of certain CCSD employees.!

CCEA is the exclusive representative of licensed employees within CCSD. CCSD has never

consulted with CCEA regarding the formation of Unit 2, the Teamsters bargaining unit.

! https://sg001-harmony.slig.net/00324/Harmony/en/PowerBrowser/PowerBrowserV2/20230412/-
1/2tk=11851&viewmode=1 at 2:02.15
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III.  Legal Argument.

A. CCEA’s Claim is Timely.

This Board has held that “the six month limitations period ...start[s] running when the alleged
victim receives unequivocal notice... . Frabbiele v. City of North Las Vegas, EMRB case No. Al-
045929 (2014) quoting City of North Las Vegas v. State, EMRB, 261 P.3d 1071 (Nev. 2011)

CCSD has never notified CCEA that it was negotiating with the Teamsters as the representative
of Unit 2. There have been no EMRB filings by the Teamsters regarding its status as a bargaining unit.
While the agreement between ESEA and the Teamsters was public, it was not until representatives of
the Teamsters testified that they had been negotiating with CCSD that CCEA became aware of the
scope of the Teamsters’ representation.

Notably CCSD does not even state any facts showing that CCEA had knowledge of the
Agreement, stating only that “it is unlikely that CCEA did not have knowledge of the Agreement and/or
that ESEA-designated representatives from Teamsters were involved in ESEA negotiations until this
year.” (Motion to Dismiss 4:12-14) CCEA has stated that it only became aware of direct bargaining in
April of 2023. (Complaint 2:6-7)

CCSD relies on news reports to show that CCEA must have had knowledge of the CCSD’s
relationship with the Teamsters. (Motion to Dismiss 4:7-11) However, CCSD does not show that
CCEA read these reports, provides no evidence that CCEA was made aware of CCSD’s negotiations
with the Teamsters, and never shows that CCEA read the Agreement.

CCSD also claims that CCEA does not identify how it was harmed within the past 6 months.
CCEA does not have to show harm within the past 6 months, only that it did not have unequivocal
notice until sometime in the past 6-months. As stated above CCEA only became aware of direct

bargaining between CCSD and Teamsters in April of 2023. (Complaint 2:6-7)
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Even if it were shown that CCEA had unequivocal notice of CCSD treating Teamsters as its
own bargaining unit prior to 6 months ago, CCSD has continued to bargain with Teamsters, allow its
employees to be forced to join Teamsters instead of ESEA, and allowed representation by Teamsters of
its employees. Each act of treating Teamsters as a recognized bargaining unit without consulting the
other bargaining units would be a violation of NRS 288.170(1) and thus the continuing violation
doctrine would be applicable. See Police Officers Association of The Clark County School District v.
Clark County School District, EMRB Case No. A1-045944 (2010) (stating that if events which occur
within the statutory period are in and of themselves prohibited practices then prior events may be used
to show the true character of matters within the limitations period.)

Because CCSD cannot point to any facts demonstrating that CCEA had unequivocal notice prior
to the six month limitation period, the issue of whether CCEA was timely in bringing its complaint is a
question of fact and is not appropriate to be determined at this stage of the litigation, therefore we ask
that the Motion to Dismiss be denied.

B. CCEA Has Standing to Bring This Claim.

CCSD confusingly asserts that CCEA does not have standing because it does not represent
employees covered by the Teamsters or ESEA. (Motion to Dismiss 7:20-22) This is a misreading of the
statute and the EMRB’s determinations on standing.

CCSD correctly points out that the Nevada Supreme Court has found that a justiciable
controversy “requires a ripe dispute between two interested and adverse parties, in which the moving
party’s interest is legally recognized.” UMC Physicians' Bargaining Unit of Nevada Serv. Emps. Union v.
Nevada Serv. Emps. Union/SEIU Loc. 1107, AFL-CIO, 124 Nev. 84, 93, 178 P.3d 709, 715 (2008)
(emphasis added)

NRS 288.170(1) states that “Each local government employer which has recognized one or more

employee organizations shall determine, affer consultation with the recognized organization or
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organizations, which group or groups of its employees constitute an appropriate unit or units for
negotiating. The primary criterion for that determination must be the community of interest among the
employees concerned.” (emphasis added) CCSD has not disputed that CCEA is a recognized organization,
therefore NRS 288.170(1) clearly confers a right to be consulted with upon CCEA. CCEA’s complaint is
with regards to its legally recognized right to be consulted having been breached by CCSD.

This right to be consulted or to aggrieve a determination rests solely with the employee organization
itself and not with an individual employee. (see McCray v. Clark County EMRB Case No. 2019-012
(2020)) If CCSD’s interpretation were correct that CCEA would have to represent employees within the
new bargaining unit in order to bring a claim then it would moot the requirement that the employer meet
with all of its employee organizations. This is clearly not the case as the EMRB has held that the employer
must meet with each employee organization before recognizing a new bargaining unit. (see Nye County
Law Enforcement Association v. Nye County, EMRB Case No A1-046062 (2013) and Clark County v. Clark
County Defenders Union, EMRB Case No. A1-046104 (2014)

The consultation requirement is a right which belongs to the employee organization itself, not to the
individual members of the union. Because it is clear that CCEA was not consulted before Teamsters were de
facto recognized by CCSD and because CCEA has a clear statutory right to be consulted, CCEA has met the
requirements for standing and the Motion to Dismiss should be denied.

I
/
/I
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1
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IV. Conclusion.

As set forth above, CCEA was timely in its complaint and it has standing as an employee

organization. We therefore respectfully request that this Board deny CCSD’s Motion to Dismiss.

DATED this 23rd day of May, 2023

AL

STEVEN SORENSEN, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 15472
ssorensen(@ccea-nv.org

4230 McLeod Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89121

(702) 473-1020: FAX (702) 866-6134

Attorney for Complainant
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I hereby certify that on the 23rd day of March, 2023, I deposited a true and correct copy of the forgoing

OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS in the United States Mail, postage prepaid thereon, addressed as follows:

Crystal Herrera, Esq.

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL
5100 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89146

Attorney for the Respondent

/s/ Alex Shelton

AN EMPLOYEE OF CCEA






EXHIBIT A





AGREEMENT
Between

GENERAL SALES DRIVERS, DELIVERY DRIVERS AND HELPERS LOCAL 14,
AFFILIATED WITH INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF TEAMSTERS,
CHAUFFEURS, WAREHOUSEMEN AND HELPERS OF AMERICA

and the
EDUCATION SUPPORT EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION

This Agreement is between two unions, the General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers and
Helpers Local 14, Affiliated with International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs,
Warehousemen and Helpers of America (*Local 14”) and the Education Support Employees
Association (“ESEA”™), and concerns representation of support staff employees of the Clark
County School District (“CCSD™). Local 14 and ESEA may be referred to herein individually as
a “Party” or “Union” or collectively as the “Parties” or “Unions.” Local 14 and ESEA are both
an “Employee Organization,” as that term is defined in NRS 288.040. The “Effective Date” of
this Agreement is October 17, 2019.

"WHEREAS, for the past 19 years Local 14 and ESEA have been in a contest to obtain and
maintain, respectively, status as the exclusive “Bargaining Agent,” as that term is defined in NRS
288.027, of the “Bargaining Unit,” as that term is defined in NRS 288.028, consisting of all support
staff employees of CCSD, excluding temporary employees and those employees who do not work
at least 4 hours per day or 20 hours per week (the “Representation Contest™),

WHEREAS, the Representation Contest has been expensive and disruptive for the Parties,
resulting in numerous and repeated proceedings before Nevada’s Local Government Employee-
Management Relations Board (“EMRB”) and numerous appearances before the district courts and
the Supreme Court of Nevada, and has detracted from their mutual core mission of union advocacy
on behalf of working people,

WHEREAS, the Parties desire and intend to enter into a constructive, proactive working
relationship for the benefit of the Bargaining Unit,

WHEREAS, the Parties believe that the Bargaining Unit is best served by representation
by two strong Unions working cooperatively,

NOW THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:

1. ESEA will administratively bifurcate the Bargaining Unit into two sub-units—*Unit 1"
and “Unit 2.” Initially, ESEA will remain the Bargaining Agent for both sub-units. Unit
1 and Unit 2 are described in Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated into this
Agreement.





. ESEA will notify CCSD that Local 14 will be assisting ESEA in the representation and
servicing of the Bargaining Unit, and the Parties will conduct a joint media event to
announce the intention of the Parties and publicize what they mutually determine to be an
appropriate level of detail regarding this Agreement.

. Local 14 may enroll as members Bargaining Unit employees from Unit 2 and will inform
ESEA of what amount of Union dues must be collected from such employees. Upon
receipt of Union dues from Local 14 members who are employees in Unit 2, ESEA will
remit the dues collected from such members to Local 14. Local 14 will pay ESEA a
“One-Time Fee” of 1,00 per member to set up dues deduction. The Parties agree that in
collecting dues on behalf of Local 14 and transmitting those dues to Local 14, ESEA is
performing solely an administrative function on behalf of Local 14 for its convenience,
and ESEA is not a party to any agreement between Local 14 and its members. Therefore,
Local 14 agrees to hold ESEA harmless and to reimburse ESEA for any and all costs and
legal fees it may incur in connection with any action or proceeding arising or resulting
from its collection of dues on behalf of and its transmittal of dues to Local 14.

. ESEA will appoint 4 _employees of Unit 2 designated by Local 14 to the ESEA

bargaining team. Such designated employees must be a member of one of the Unions.
This provision of the Agreement will expire upon recognition of Local 14 as the
Bargaining Agent for Unit 2.

. On or before the Effective Date, ESEA and Local 14 will enter into a confidentiality and
nondisclosure agreement regarding pending Unit 2 grievances that are being processed by
ESEA. After such agreement, ESEA will provide Local 14 with a list of its pending
grievances for Unit 2. Thereafter, the Parties will discuss for which pending Unit 2
grievances ESEA will retain responsibility and for which responsibility will be transferred
to Local 14. If the Parties do not mutually agree that responsibility for a pending Unit 2
grievance should be transferred to Local 14, ESEA will retain responsibility for such
pending Unit 2 grievance. The Parties will continue periodic discussion regarding
responsibility for pending Unit 2 grievances until six months after the Effective Date of
this Agreement.

. Local 14 will provide sufficient personnel to provide coverage for investigatory
interviews, grievances and other representation functions for Bargaining Unit employees
of Unit 2. Unless otherwise agreed between the Parties on a temporary and/or case-by-~
case basis, investigatory interviews, grievances and other representation functions for
Bargaining Unit employees of Unit 2 will be the sole responsibility of Local 14. What
personnel are sufficient for Local 14 to perform its representation functions will be the
sole determination of Local 14. Local 14 will defend and indemnify ESEA in the event a





10.

11.

Bargaining Unit employee of Unit 2 brings an action against ESEA for breach of the duty
of fair representation.

ESEA and CCSD have a standing panel of arbitrators, and periodically, ESEA and CCSD
select new arbitrators for that panel. ESEA agrees that it will confer with Local 14 in the
selection of new Arbitrators until Local 14 is recognized by CCSD as the Bargaining
Agent for Unit 2.

On or before the Effective Date, ESEA will provide sufficient personnel to provide
coverage for investigatory interviews, grievances and other representation functions for
Bargaining Unit employees of Unit 1. Unless otherwise agreed betwéen the Parties on a
temporary and/or case-by-case basis, investigatory interviews, grievances and other
representation functions for Bargaining Unit employees of Unit 1 will be the sole
responsibility of ESEA. What personnel are sufficient for ESEA to perform its
representation functions will be the sole determination of ESEA. ESEA will defend and
indemnify Local 14 in the event a Bargaining Unit employee of Unit 1 brings an action
against Local 14 for breach of the duty of fair representation.

Each Party commits to and promises the other Party that it will not “raid,” or solicit,
cause or assist another union, Employee Organization, or any other person or entity, in a
raid of the other Party’s respective sub-unit, nor will either Party seek to benefit from any
such action taken by a non-party to this Agreement. The Parties have executed a “No-
Raid Agreement.” In addition to the No-Raid Agreement, the Parties agree that should
either Party become the target of a raid by another union, Employee Organization, person
or entity, the Parties will cooperate and collaborate to defend against such araid. Ata
minimum, such cooperation and collaboration will include vigorous, public support for
the Party that has been targeted. Each Party will share with the other Party any
information it may obtain about potential or threatened raids on, decertification of, or
interference with the other Party's established collective bargaining relationships.

Paragraph 9 notwithstanding, any employee of Unit 2 who was a member of ESEA prior
to the Effective Date, may at that employee’s sole election remain a member of ESEA for
the sole purpose of supplemental “benefits” offered by ESEA. For purposes of this
Paragraph, the term “benefits” does not include any terms and conditions of employment
negotiated pursuant to NRS Chapter 288 and does not include representation in
investigatory interviews or grievance proceedings. Further, if such an employee wishes
to have Union representation in investigatory interviews or grievance proceedings, the
employee must pay dues to Local 14 as set forth in this Agreement.

ESEA and Local 14 will form a “Joint Organizing Committee,” which will develop and
will execute a “Joint Organizing Plan” consisting of internal organizing and membership
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13.

14.

15.

16.

recruitment components. The Joint Organizing Plan will continue at least until both
Unions achieve a membership level allowing the Parties to proceed as set forth in
Paragraph 12 below.

When each Party has reached a membership level of at least 50% + 1 of their respective
sub-units, or at such other time as mutually agreed upon by the Parties, ESEA will
engage CCSD in a discussion to bifurcate the Bargaining Unit in the manner set forth in
Exhibit A. In the event CCSD refuses to bifurcate the Bargaining Unit in the manner set
forth in Exhibit A, ESEA will file an action with the EMRB to force such bifurcation.
Local 14 will support and may join or intervene in such action.

Upon bifurcation of the Bargaining Unit in the manner set forth in Exhibit A, ESEA will
notify CCSD that it is disclaiming interest in Unit 2, and Local 14 will present to CCSD a
copy of its constitution and bylaws, a roster of its officers and representatives, a pledge
not to strike under any circumstances, a verified membership list showing membership of
a majority of the employees in Unit 2, and anything else that may be required by NRS
288.160, and seek voluntary recognition from CCSD as the Bargaining Agent for Unit 2.

If necessary, ESEA will assist and support Local 14 in its efforts to obtain recognition
from CCSD. If Local 14 is required to appear before the EMRB to obtain recognition of
Unit 2, ESEA will also appear in such a proceeding and support Local 14°s effort to
obtain recognition.

The No-Raid Agreement and the mutual defense agreement referenced and set forth in
Paragraph 9 will each continue in full force and effect following CCSD’s recognition of
Local 14 as the exclusive Bargaining Agent for Unit 2. The Parties may also agree to
ongoing joint organizing efforts.

The Parties agree to comply with the “Dispute Resolution Procedure” set forth in this
Paragraph to resolve any disputes arising from or under this Agreement. If either Union
wishes to invoke the Dispute Resolution Procedure, it shall do so by serving a written
complaint, signed by its Principal Officer, on the Principal Officer of the other Union.
Local 14’s “Principal Officer” is its Secretary-Treasurer, and ESEA’s “Principal Officer”
is its President. The complaint must be served on the other Party no later than 90 days
after the aggrieved Party learns (or reasonably should have learned) of the incident giving
rise to an alleged violation of this Agreement. The complaint shall contain sufficient
information to allow the other Party to conduct a prompt investigation of the allegation or
issue giving rise to the complaint. After a complaint is filed, an informal "meet and
confer" session of designated representatives of the Principal Officers shall be conducted
in person or via telephone within 10 calendar days. For purposes of this Paragraph, the
Principal Officers will immediately provide each other with the names of the respective





designated representatives. If settlement is not reached through the meet and confer
process, the dispute will proceed to arbitration, which shall occur no later than 60
calendar days after the meet and confer session, unless there is a mutually agreed upon
extension or extraordinary circumstances. The Parties will jointly select an arbitrator. In
the event the Parties cannot mutually agree upon an arbitrator, they will request a list of
seven arbitrators from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services and strike the list.
The first strike will be determined by a coin toss. The decision of the arbitrator will be
final and binding. Aside from any remedies available in NRS Chapter 38, the Dispute
Resolution Procedure will the sole recourse for any alleged violation of this Agreement,

17. Notice to the Parties shall be provided utilizing the information below. Each Party is
responsible for keeping the other apprised of any changes to the information set forth in
this Paragraph.

Local 14 ESEA

Larry Griffith Virginia Mills
Secretary-Treasurer President

Teamsters Local 14 _
8951 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 100
Las Vegas, NV 89117-5899
(702) 384-7841

With a copy to:

Fred Horvath

Executive Director Member Benefits
Teamsters Local 14

8951 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 100

Las Vegas, NV 89117-5899

(702) 384-7841

FOR LOCAL 14

£
£
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,gecnetary fi?i'e/ suéer/ 5/ é” ’

General Sales Drivers, Delivery
Drivers and Helpers Local 14,
Affiliated with International

Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs,

Education Support Employees Association
3511 East Harmon Ave

Las Vegas, NV 89121

(702) 794-2537

With a copy to:

Brian Lee

Executive Director

Nevada State Education Association
3511 East Harmon Ave

Las Vegas, NV 89121

(702) 733-7330

FOR ESEA

y - I3 R ;f 41
(b o DN
Presitient

Education Support Employees
Association





Warchousemen and Helpers of America

Dated: )/ "/ / / : g Dated: 50‘/ gf/ / f






EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT A





Unit 1

Administrative/Clerical/Secretarial
Business/Finance

Food Service

Information Systems
Para-Professionals/Aides/Assistant

Unit 2

Broadcast/Communications
Police Services
Service/Operations Workers
Skilled Trades/Technicians
Transportation

Visual/Printed Communications





EXHIBIT B





| am hearing that Education Support Employees Association (ESEA) and Teamsters Local 14
(Teamsters) have reached an agreement about representation. What exactly is happening?

ESEA and the Teamsters have reached an agreement to jointly represent Education Support
Professionals (ESPs) in the Clark County School District with the goal of splitting the existing bargaining
unit into two separate bargaining units in the future (the “Agreement”). For the immediate future, ESEA
will remain the bargaining agent for all ESPs in Clark County. ESEA will continue to provide direct
representation for disciplinary matters and grievances for all ESPs in Unit 1, which consists of the
following CCSD-designated job families:

Unit 1

Administrative/Clerical/Secretarial
Para-Professionals/Aides/Assistants
Food Service

Business/Finance

Information Systems

The Teamsters, acting under the authority of the Agreement, will provide direct representation for
disciplinary matters and grievances for all ESPs in Unit 2, which consists of the following CCSD-
designated job families:

Unit 2

Police Services
Broadcast/Communications
Skilled Trades/Technicians
Service/Operations Workers
Transportation

Visual/Printed Communication

ESEA and the Teamsters have also agreed to an orderly process to split the existing bargaining unit in
the future. ESEA and the Teamsters have also agreed to a “no-raid” agreement between our
organizations, a mutual defense arrangement to protect against raids by outside organizations, and joint
organizing. A full listing of the positions which are under each of the CCSD-designated job families is
available at www.esea-nv.org.

Why are ESEA and Teamsters Local 14 entering into the Agreement?

For the past 19 years, ESEA and Teamsters Local 14 have engaged in a costly fight over bargaining unit
status which has weakened the power of ESPs in Clark County. By joining together, ESEA and Teamsters
Local 14 will increase the power of ESPs throughout Clark County School District. We are Stronger
Together.

| am in Unit 1 and | am not a member of ESEA yet, can | still join ESEA?

Yes. All employees in Unit 1 who are not yet members of ESEA may join online at www.mynea360.org
or by filling out an application available at http://www.esea-nv.org/join-now/ and mailing it in.






| am in Unit 1, can | join the Teamsters Local 14?

No. Effective immediately, the no-raid agreement between ESEA and Teamsters Local 14 does not
permit any employees in Unit 1 to sign-up to join Teamster Local 14.

I am in Unit 2, can | join the Teamsters Local 14?

Yes, all employees in Unit 2 may join Teamsters Local 14 by contacting Teamster Local 14 at
www.teamsterl4.com.

| am in Unit 2, can | join ESEA?

No. Effectively immediately, the no-raid agreement between ESEA and Teamsters Local 14 does not
permit any employees in Unit 2 to sign up to join ESEA.

| am already a member of ESEA in Unit 2, what happens to my membership?

If you are a member of ESEA in Unit 2 you are entitled to remain a member of ESEA. If you wish to
remain a member of ESEA, you do not have to take any affirmative action. Your membership will remain
in place. If you remain a member of ESEA, you will continue to receive all benefits of membership, such
as NEA member benefits, voting rights and the right to hold NEA, NSEA, and ESEA office, but ESEA will
not provide you representation in disciplinary matters and grievances.

If you are already a member of ESEA in Unit 2, you may also transfer your membership to Teamsters
Local 14 by signing a Teamsters Local 14 Membership Form and agree to pay the required dues to
Teamsters Local 14. If you choose to transfer your membership, your obligation to pay ESEA dues will
cease. You may affirmatively choose to continue membership in both organizations, if you wish, but this
is not required.

Will there be a split of Unit 1 and Unit 2 into separate bargaining units?

The Agreement requires that once ESEA and Teamsters Local 14 have each reached majority
membership in Unit 1 and Unit 2, respectively, that the unions will approach the School District and/or
the Government Employee-Management Relations Board (EMRB) to separate the bargaining units.
After the separation of the bargaining units, ESEA and Teamsters Local 14 agree to continue to work
together and maintain their no-raid and mutual defense agreements.

May | drop my membership in the Union?

Membership in the Union may only be cancelled during the set drop period per the contract and as
stated on membership forms. The drop period is currently closed.

Where can | see a full copy of the Agreement?

A full copy of the Agreement is available at www.esea-nv.org and www.teamstersl4.com.

Is the Agreement finalized?

Yes, the Agreement was agreed to and ratified by the governing board of both ESEA and Teamsters Local
14. The Agreement does not require the approval of the Clark County School District.

Where can | get additional information regarding the Agreement?





Additional information will be posted as it becomes available at www.esea-nv.org and
www.teamstersl4.com.
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OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT FILED
CRYSTAL J. HERRERA, ESQ. (NV Bar No. 12396) June 6, 2023
5100 West Sahara Avenue State of Nevada
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 E.M.R.B.
Phone: (702) 799-5373 5:00 p.m.
Altorney jor Kespondent,
Clark County School District

STATE OF NEVADA

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT

RELATIONS BOARD
CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION CASE NO.: 2023-009
ASSOCIATION,

Complainant,

V.
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT CLARK COUNTY
SCHOOL DISTRICT’S REPLY TO
CCEA’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION
TO DISMISS COMPLAINT

Respondent Clark County School District (“Respondent” / “CCSD™), by and through its
attorney of record, Crystal J. Herrera, Esq. of the Office of the General Counsel for CCSD, hereby
files the following Reply to Clark County Education Association’s (“CCEA”) Opposition to the
Motion to Dismiss CCEA’s Complaint. This Reply is based upon papers and pleadings on file

herein, the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, and any oral argument permitted at

the time of the hearing on this matter.

DATED this 62 day of June, 2023.

By:__

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
OFFI(

RAL COUNSEL

Ck ERA, ESQ.
Nevaaa psar NO. 12396
5100 West Sahara Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Attorney for Respondent,

Clark County School District
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

L INTRODUCTION

CCEA should have performed its due diligence prior to filing its Complaint in the instant
matter and bringing forth allegations that are inaccurate, untimely, and lack standing. CCEA’s
Opposition to CCSD’s Motion to Dismiss (“Opposition”) identifies the Education Support
Employees Association (“ESEA”) as the exclusive bargaining representative of non-licensed staff
employed by CCSD. CCEA’s Opposition also acknowledges that ESEA entered into an
agreement (“Agreement”) with General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers and Helpers Local 14
Affiliated with International Board of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers of
America (“Teamsters”), in 2019. Beyond those factual statements, CCEA mischaracterizes the
relationship between CCSD and ESEA/Teamsters in negotiations, Teamsters’ representations
concerning the same, and CCEA’s own knowledge of the Agreement in an effort to avoid
dismissal of its Complaint. As provided in CCSD’s Motion to Dismiss and herein, CCEA’s
Complaint was filed well beyond the six-month statute of limitations and without a supporting
justiciable controversy. Therefore, dismissal of the Complaint is appropriate.

IL. STATEMENT OF FACTS

As identified by CCEA, there was a 19 year-long attempt by Teamsters to gain recognition
of the non-licensed support staff within CCSD, which “contest” effectively ended when ESEA and
Teamsters agreed to work cooperatively. Opposition at p. 3:7-9 and Exhibit A, p. 1. CCEA was
following the disagreement, weighed in, and stated:

CCEA stands with Clark County support staff seeking freedom from ESEA and
NSEA. Support staff employees have gone to the Teamsters to get better
representation since ESEA/NSEA have failed them for the last decade. The
Teamsters have won three elections against ESEA and winning the last election
by a margin of 4,349 teamsters to 970 ESEA/NSEA. But NSEA and Ruben
Murillo engaged in legal chicanery to deny the results of that election and deny
employees their democratic rights by spending members’ dues money on lawyers
to try to prevent the inevitable.

The Nevada Supreme Court will now hear the case on June 13, 2018, and will

decide the fate of support staff employees. CCEA stands with support staff
employees wanting to rid themselves of the dysfunctional and incompetent
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ESEA/NSEA. Once again, when it comes to NSEA and NEA it’s about money,
not members. !

In October 2019, Teamsters and ESEA entered into an Agreement that provided: “ESEA
will administratively bifurcate the Bargaining Unit into two sub-units;” “ESEA will remain the
Bargaining Agent for both sub-units;” “Local 14 will be assisting ESEA in the representation and
servicing of the bargaining unit;” and ESEA would appoint four employees of Unit 2 designated
by Local 14 to the ESEA Bargaining Team. CCEA’s Opposition, Exhibit A, 1, 2 and 4. Shortly
after the Agreement was executed, news agencies reported on the resolution and Agreement.?

CCSD is not a party to the Agreement and has not granted recognition of a separate
bargaining unit for support staff employees. ESEA remains the only recognized representative and
bargaining agent of the bargaining unit of CCSD non-licensed support employees. Opposition,
Exhibit A, q1; ESEA’s Petition to Intervene at p. 1; Teamsters’ Petition to Intervene at p. 2.
However, to the best of CCSD’s knowledge, ESEA may work with whom it chooses to effectively
carry out its representational duties, and ESEA has chosen to appoint members of Teamsters to its
bargaining team.

CCEA has been aware of the Agreement between ESEA and Teamsters since at least 2021.
Indeed, on January 4, 2021, CCEA wrote a letter to CCSD’s General Counsel stating it opposed
Lisa Guzman’s position on the Board of Trustees of CCCSD due to her affiliation with the Nevada
State Education Association and ESEA. See CCEA letter to CCSD General Counsel, attached
hereto as Exhibit 1. Counsel for CCEA specifically wrote, “Furthermore, ESEA, NEA and NEA-

SN have reached an agreement with the Teamsters Local 14 to split the support staff bargaining

1 “CCEA Stands With Clark Countv Support Staff.” October 2018,
(last visited May 31, 2023).

2 Pak-Harvey, Amelia. “Accord ends labor battle over representation of CCSD support staff.” Las
Vegas Review Journal. reviewiournal.com. October 24. 2019.

Local 14 reach agreement. end decades-long disnute.” KSN V-1V NBC. news3lv.com. Uctober 4.
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unit.” Id. at p. 3. CCEA understood the contents of the Agreement prior to April 2023, and at least
as early as January 2021.

Despite the publicity of the Agreement and CCEA’s correspondence, CCEA appears to
disclaim knowledge of the Agreement and Teamster’s involvement in ESEA negotiations until
Teamsters’ representatives provided legislative testimony on April 12, 2023. Opposition at 3:18-
20. Notably, the testimony that CCEA relies on does not identify that CCSD’s recognition of
ESEA and/or the relationship between ESEA and Teamsters has changed. In fact, Fred Horvath,
principal officer of Teamsters Local 14, testified “and with our partners, the Education Support
Employees Association, we are working as recently as yesterday to fix the root cause of staffing
vacancies, both custodian and campus security monitors.”® To presuppose that CCSD is or has
been negotiating with Teamsters separate and apart from ESEA is inaccurate and ignores what
CCEA has known since at least 2021 concerning the relationship between ESEA and Teamsters.
III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

1. CCEA Had Notice of the Agreement and ESEA and Teamsters’ Relationship

Prior to the Six-Month Statute of Limitations, Rendering CCEA’s Complaint
Untimely.

NRS 288.110(4) provides: “The Board may not consider any complaint or appeal filed
more than 6 months after the occurrence which is the subject of the complaint or appeal.” “The
provisions of ...NRS 288.110(4) are mandatory.” SEIU Local 1107, Nevada Service Employees
Union and Eugene Shults v. Dept. of Aviation, Clark County and Clark County, Case No. Al-
045565 (1996), Item No. 364-A (emphasis added). The Nevada Supreme Court has held, “we
interpret the NRS Chapter 288 limitations period to start running when the alleged victim receives
unequivocal notice of a final adverse decision.” City of North Las Vegas v. State Local EMRB,
127 Nev. 631, 639-40 (2011). “The notice requirement is satisfied by either actual or constructive

notice of the facts giving rise to the complaint.” Service Employees International Union, Local

3 Senate Committee on Education Hearing Aoril 12. 2023.
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1107 v. Clark County, Case No. 2021-018 (2022), Item No. 877 (referencing City of North Las
Vegas v. State Local EMRB, 127 Nev. 631, 639-40 (2011)).

In its Opposition, CCEA argued that it did not have “unequivocal notice” of the “scope of
Teamsters’ representation” and that it “only became aware of direct bargaining in April of 2023”
due to legislative testimony. Opposition, p. 4:21-23. CCEA based this argument on the legislative
testimony by Jason Gately from Teamsters Local 14 on April 12, 2023. CCEA cited specifically
to the Senate Education Committee Hearing at 2:02:15 p.m., where Mr. Gately, with Teamsters,
stated: “To repeat what my brother, Fred Horvath, has stated, we are working with CCSD on
negotiating a new agreement to raise standards.” In this testimony, Mr. Gately was referring to
Mr. Horvath’s prior statement that Teamsters Local 14 was working with their partners, ESEA, to
fix staffing issues. See infra. Sec. II.

Preliminarily, the testimony does not illustrate that Teamsters was direct bargaining with
CCSD or was working any differently with ESEA than it had since it entered into the Agreement
with ESEA in 2019. Certainly, there is nothing contained in the testimony that states CCSD
committed an unfair labor practice or violated NRS 288 within the past six months that would
make CCEA’s Complaint timely. ESEA and Teamsters (as ESEA-designated representatives)
have been negotiating with CCSD on behalf of the bargaining unit of non-licensed support
employees, in accordance with their Agreement reached in 2019. It is a misguided fallacy to
contend that CCSD is direct bargaining with Teamsters and one that ignores CCSD cannot dictate
whom the bargaining agent chooses as its representatives in negotiations.

Moreover, the Agreement between ESEA and Teamsters’ relationship has been public
knowledge since 2019; it is disingenuous for CCEA to claim ignorance of the relationship
particularly given its January 2021 letter to CCSD. As shown infra. Sec. Il, in the letter dated
January 4, 2021, CCEA opposed a Trustee-clect due to her involvement with ESEA and referred to
the Agreement, specifically to the provision regarding splitting the support staff bargaining unit.
Exhibit 1. CCEA was well aware that ESEA and Teamsters had agreed “to administratively

bifurcate the Bargaining Unit in to two sub units” as early as January 2021, and thus its claims that
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it was not consulted about a determination of a bargaining unit in violation of NRS 288.170(1) and
NRS 288.160 are time-barred. See Opposition, Exhibit A, 1 and Exhibit 1.

2. The Continuing Violation Doctrine Does Not Extend the Statute of Limitations

in This Case.

CCEA mischaracterizes how the continuing violation doctrine applies to unfair labor
practice claims. The continuing violation doctrine does not extend the six-month statute of
limitations for filing a complaint relating to an agreement that was signed almost 5 years ago. The
“statute of limitations ‘is triggered when the complainant has reason to believe that an unfair labor
practice has actually occurred.’” Police Officers Association of the Clark County School District
v. Clark County School District, EMRB Case No. A1-045944, Item No. 720 (2010) (citing Cone v.
Nevada Service Employees Union, 116 Nev. 473, 477 n. 2 (2000)). The continuing violation
doctrine may arise:

where the occurrences within the...limitations period themselves may constitute,
as a substantive matter, unfair labor practices. There, earlier events may be
utilized to shed light on the true character of matters occurring within the
limitations period; and for that purpose [the statute of limitation] ordinarily does
not bar such evidentiary use of anterior events. The second situation is that where
conduct occurring within the limitations period can be charged to be an unfair
labor practice only though reliance on an earlier unfair labor practice. Rather, it
serves to cloak with illegality that which was otherwise lawful. And where a
complaint based upon that earlier event is time-barred, to permit the event itself to
be so used in effect results in reviving a legally defunct unfair labor practice.

Id. (citing Local Lodge No. 1424, Int’l Assn. of Machinists v. NLRB, 362 U.S. 411 (1960).
“It is necessary to examine what events, in and of themselves, may constitute a prohibited practice
or whether such events may be viewed as a prohibited practice only through reliance on earlier
events that occurred outside the limitation period.” Id. at p. 4.

In this case, CCEA argued, “[e]ach act of treating Teamsters as a recognized bargaining
unit without consulting other bargaining units would be a violation of NRS 288.170(1) and thus
the continuing violation doctrine would apply.” Opposition at p. 5:4-6. CCEA’s claims that CCSD
continues to “de facto” recognize Teamsters and “de facto” make a determination about a
bargaining unit are based on the Agreement between ESEA and Teamsters, which was executed in

2019, and of which CCEA had knowledge of at least as early as 2021. The only way that CCSD’s
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more recent actions as alleged by CCEA can be characterized as an unfair labor practice would be

through reliance upon the 2019 Agreement between ESEA and Teamsters, and in such situations,

the “continuing violation” doctrine does not create an exception to the six-month statute of
limitations. See id. at p. 5.

3. CCEA Does Not Have Standing To Bring The Claims Alleged In The
Complaint.

CCEA must show that it was aggrieved by a determination of a bargaining unit in order to
appeal the determination to the EMRB. See NRS 288.170(5). “In order to have standing, a
plaintiff must show: ‘(1) it has suffered an ‘injury in fact’ that is (a) concrete and particularized
and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the
challenged action of the defendant; and (3) it is likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the
injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.’” California Sea Urchin Comm'n v. Bean, 883
F.3d 1173, 1180 (9th Cir. 2018), as amended (Apr. 18, 2018) (citing Friends of the Earth, Inc. v.
Laidlaw Envtl. Servs. (TOC), Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 180-81 (2000)).

CCEA does not have standing to bring a claim when it has not been injured (see California
Sea Urchin Comm'n v. Bean, 883 F.3d 1173, 1180 (9th Cir. 2018)). CCEA maintains that
negotiations between ESEA/Teamsters and CCSD mean that CCSD has “de facto” recognized
Teamsters as an exclusive representative for a separate bargaining unit, in violation of the process
set forth in NRS 288.160 and NRS 288.170. The entire supposition is based on legislative
testimony that, as explained above, does not even support the claim. CCSD has not recognized
Teamsters as an exclusive representative, nor has CCSD made any determination about a separate
bargaining unit of non-licensed support staff. Because CCSD did not make a determination about
a bargaining unit, it cannot be said it was required to consult CCEA under NRS 288.170.
Nevertheless, stating “an employee organization is harmed when this statutorily required
consultation does not take place” (Opposition at p. 2:11-12) does not make the conclusion true.

The only claimed injury by CCEA in the Complaint is speculation that CCSD bargaining
with ESEA/Teamsters may affect the finite resources available to all of CCSD’s employees, which
in turn would affect CCEA’s negotiations. As provided in CCSD’s Motion and not addressed by
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CCEA in the Opposition, CCSD’s resources are always finite in every negotiation session. CCEA
has not alleged sufficiently concrete claims that its licensed employee members have been harmed
by any alleged “de facto” recognition of a subset of non-licensed support employees. CCEA’s
supposed injury is too speculative and hypothetical to be a concrete injury that would afford CCEA
standing to bring its claims.

Moreover, CCEA has not been aggrieved by the alleged determination of bargaining units,
nor does it represent any members that have been aggrieved by the so-called determination.* “An
employee organization has a legally recognizable interest in the requested relief, when, for
example, the employees to which the complaint alleges harm are its members and no other
organization exclusively represents its members for such purposes.” UMC Physicians' Bargaining
Unit of Nevada Serv. Emps. Union v. Nevada Serv. Emps. Union/SEIU Loc. 1107, AFL-CIO, 124
Nev. 84, 93, 178 P.3d 709, 715 (2008) (emphasis added). CCEA does not claim that any members
of the bargaining unit of non-licensed support employees have been harmed by this alleged “de
facto” recognition of Teamsters. CCEA did not argue that it would be the better representative for
the non-descript bargaining unit of non-licensed support employees, and thus was aggrieved by
losing potential members because of the “de facto” determination. Just because the right to be
consulted and right to appeal a determination of a bargaining unit under NRS 288.170 rests with an
employee organization and not an individual employee, that does not relieve CCEA from
demonstrating that it or its members have been aggrieved by the determination of a bargaining unit
or the failure to consult employee organizations prior to a determination. A party must be
aggrieved (there must be an alleged harm) in order to have standing to bring a claim under NRS
288.170(5). In fact, cases that CCEA cites in its Opposition demonstrate the very point that CCSD
makes— there must be some injury to bring a claim before the EMRB including one under NRS
288.170. See Nye County Law Enforcement Agency v. Nye County, Case No. A1-046062, 2013
(Item No. 791) (the Nye County Law Enforcement Agency filed with the EMRB claiming the

4 CCEA’s allegations and arguments are confusing because one moment it appears to claim that
CCSD made a determination of a bargaining unit, but then claims it was deprived of the right to
appeal that determination under NRS 288.170(5).

Page 8 of 10
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County inappropriately severed members of its own bargaining unit); see also, Clark County v.
Clark County Defenders Union, Case No. A1-046104, 2013 (Item No. 792) (the County filed with
the EMRB for determination of a bargaining unit, asserting that the public defender employees
would be more appropriately deemed part of the bargaining unit comprised of prosecuting
attorneys, and the Clark County Defendants Union filed a counterclaim challenging the County’s
determination of the bargaining unit.). CCEA cannot show that it was injured or aggrieved by
CCSD and has no standing to bring the claims alleged in the Complaint.

Further, CCEA has no standing because there is no redress that the EMRB can grant. Since
2019, CCSD has negotiated with ESEA as the exclusive bargaining agent for the non-licensed
support employees. To CCSD’s knowledge, ESEA is free to contract with any entity of its choice
in order to fulfill its representational duties. The EMRB cannot order CCSD to cease negotiations
with the duly recognized bargaining agent, ESEA, simply because ESEA has chosen to appoint
members of Teamsters to its bargaining team. Because there is no redress and no concrete injury,
CCEA does not have standing to bring its claims, and the Complaint must be dismissed.
IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, CCSD respectfully requests that the Board dismiss CCEA’s
Complaint because it is time-barred under NRS 288.110(4) and for lack of standing.

DATED this 6% day of June, 2023.
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT
OFFI( IRAL COUNSEL
By.__

Cl\ L DL S J..].L}].\_I.\ERA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12396

5100 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Attorney for Respondent

Clark County School District
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on the 6™ day of June, 2023, I deposited a true and correct copy of
the foregoing RESPONDENT CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT’S REPLY TO
CCEA’S OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT in the United States
Mail, postage prepaid thereon, addressed as follows:

Steven Sorensen

General Counsel

Clark County Education Association
4230 McLeod Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89121

Attorneys for Complainant, CCEA

/s/ Elsa C. Pefia
An employee of the Office of the General
Counsel, Clark County School District
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January 4, 2021

Mr. Luke Puschnig

Clark County School District
5100 W. Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89146

Sent electronically and by USPS

Re: Trustee-elect Lisa Guzman
Mr. Puschnig,

Lisa Guzman is the Trustee-elect of the Clark County School Board of Trustees representing District A.
She is currently employed as the Assistant Executive Director of Nevada State Education Association (“NSEA™), a
position which she has held for five years, and is the Executive Director of NSEA’s affiliate organization — the
Education Support Employees Association ("ESEA").

Ms. Guzman financially benefits from each of these positions by way of salary and each of these
organizations stand to benefit from votes which Ms. Guzman can take as trustee as explained below.

Should Ms. Guzman continue to hold positions within ESEA or NSEA while serving as Trustee it will
violate multiple sections of Nevada's Ethics in Government Law, NRS Chapter 281A.

NRS 281A.400(1) states:

A public officer or employee shall not seek or accept any gift, service, favor, employment,
engagement, emolument or economic opportunity, for the public officer or employee or any person
to whom the public officer or employee has a commitment in a private capacity, which would tend
improperly to influence a reasonable person in the public officer’s or employee’s position to depart
from the faithful and impartial discharge of the public officer’s or employee’s public duties.

NRS 281A.400(2) states:

A public officer or employee shall not use the public officer’s or employee’s position in government
to secure or grant unwarranted privileges, preferences, exemptions or advantages for the public
officer or employee, any business entity in which the public officer or employee has a significant
pecuniary interest or any person to whom the public officer or employee has a commitment in a
private capacity. As used in this subsection, “unwarranted’” means without justification or
adequate reason.

NRS 281A.400(3) states:

A public officer or employee shall not participate as an agent of government in the negotiation or
execution of a contract between the government and the public officer or employee, any business
entity in which the public officer or employee has a significant pecuniary interest or any person to
whom the public officer or employee has a commitment in a private capacity.





"Commitment in a private capacity” includes a commitment, interest or relationship of a public officer or employee
to a person:

4.  Who employs the public officer or employee, the spouse or domestic partner of the public
officer or employee or a member of the household of the public officer or employee;

5. With whom the public officer or employee has a substantial and continuing business
relationship; or

6. With whom the public officer or employee has any other commitment, interest or
relationship that is substantially similar to a commitment, interest or relationship described in
subsections 1 to 5, inclusive.

See NRS 281A.065.

Ms. Guzman’s employment and/or engagement with NSEA and ESEA makes it impossible for her to be
impartial in any matters concerning CCEA. In 2018 CCEA disaffiliated from NSEA and its parent organization
NEA. This has resulted in multiple litigations initiated by NEA and NSEA against CCEA which are currently
ongoing. NSEA has attempted to impermissibly act on behalf of bargaining unit members as a "rival employee
organization" in violation of NRS Chapter 288 which has resulted in litigation before the State of Nevada
Government Employee Management Relations Board ("EMRB").

In addition, following disaffiliation by the CCEA in 2018, NEA, the parent organization of NSEA, started a
new rival employee organization called the NEA-SN to challenge CCEA. A review of information from the
Secretary of State reveals that the President of the NEA-SN, Vicki Kreidel, and its Secretary, Elizabeth Mercedes
Krause, are members of NSEA’s Board of Directors. Starting in February of 2018 NEA began sending millions of
dollars to NSEA in the form of loans. One condition of these loans is that they do not accrue interest until the
litigation between CCEA and NEA is concluded. These loans make up a significant portion of NSEA’s budget.
Because Guzman'’s salary is derived from NSEA and a large portion of NSEA’s budget is in the form of loans
which have more favorable terms so long as litigation continues between NEA and CCEA Guzman could never be
seen to be impartial when it comes to a vote regarding CCEA.

Guzman’s impartiality with regards to CCEA is further compromised by being a high level officer within
NSEA with decision making authority. CCEA stands in direct competition to NEA-SN whose membership dues go
in part to fund NSEA operations. At the bare minimum, there will be the appearance of bias anytime she votes on a
matter regarding CCEA because of her affiliation with what would be defined by the EMRB to be a “rival
employee organization.” See e.g. Lyon County Education Association v. Lyon County School District, Case No.
Case No. 2016-011 Item No. 817 (2016); Nevada Highway Patrol Association v. State of Nevada et al., Case No.
2020-011, Item No. 865 (2020).

Ms. Guzman’s employment with NSEA and/or ESEA also causes conflict with any votes regarding ESEA.
ESEA is an affiliate organization of NSEA and is the current recognized exclusive collective-bargaining
representative for the non-licensed and non-commissioned (i.e. police) employees of the District. ESEA members
pay dues, a portion of which goes to NSEA. These dues, along with the loans referenced above, make up the





budget of NSEA from which employees, including Guzman, receive salary. ESEA also provided financial support
for Guzman’s campaign directly from its organization and through its TIP totaling $10,000. The Trustees of the
District are responsible for oversight and control of the negotiating team of the District in connection with
collective bargaining under NRS Chapter 288. The provisions of NRS 288.153 require that any collective
bargaining agreement negotiated by the District and its recognized employee representatives be ratified by the
Trustees at a public meeting.

Furthermore, ESEA, NEA, and NEA-SN have reached an agreement with the Teamsters local 14 to split
the support staff bargaining unit. Any vote for recognition of the Teamsters or of the modified ESEA bargaining
unit would present another conflict of interest for Guzman as she was working in a position of authority for two of
these organizations when this agreement was reached and was endorsed by ESEA and the Teamsters.

Simply put, in our opinion, NRS 281 A .400(3) expressly prohibits Ms. Guzman from negotiating or voting
to ratify any collective bargaining agreement or other contract involving ESEA. Likewise, Guzman's NSEA
affiliation would, in our opinion, prohibit her from voting in connection with any bargaining agreement or other
contract negotiated with the CCEA.

Despite Ms. Guzman only being the Trustee-elect, her acting in her capacity as ESEA Executive Director
creates a present conflict of interest. Guzman is participating in meetings regarding legislative strategy regarding
the CCSD budget with CCSD staff. She has gone on podcasts to take stances on policy positions in favor of
ESEA’s bargaining unit and had CCSD staff send out communications to promote ESEA member benefits while
utilizing the title of “Trustee-elect.” Her being Trustee-elect gives her undue influence in each of these situations.
It would be impossible for CCSD staff to separate her two roles and treat her as Executive Director as ESEA as
opposed to an incoming Trustee.

While resignation from any and all NSEA and/or ESEA affiliated positions may cure the clear statutory
violations, Guzman’s history with CCEA’s rival which includes Guzman following and likely starting an anti-
CCEA twitter page, calls into question whether she can faithfully discharge her duties on any matter regarding
CCEA without there being the perception of bias by any reasonable observer. As two of the stated policy
objectives of the Ethics in Government Law are “maintaining public confidence in government, which implicates
the matter of appearances”, and “assuring that decisions of public importance are not influenced by private
considerations”, see NRS 281A.020, it seems impossible for Ms. Guzman to separate herself from her past
behavior of trying to attack and supplant the recognized bargaining agent for licensed education professionals of
CCSD. Any decision she makes will have the appearance of bias and prejudice. This is true regardless of her
employment due to her past behavior, but is especially true if she continues being employed by the rival employee
organization which is seeking to undermine and supplant CCEA.

Even if Ms. Guzman were to step down from any ESEA position, ESEA is still an affiliate of NSEA. There would
still be a very real conflict of interest in her serving on the Board which would vote on contracts of an NSEA
affiliate while being employed by NSEA. There is no way for a reasonable person to believe that Ms. Guzman can
be impartial while working for this organization.

Ultimately, while there is a preference that elected officials have jobs outside of legislative bodies, Ms.
Guzman’s positions create real and perceived conflicts which would call into question any vote she takes with
regard to the two largest bargaining units within CCSD. Ms. Guzman, like all candidates for elected office in the
State of Nevada, had the opportunity to request an opinion from the Nevada Commission on Ethics regarding these





conflicts. We are told that Ms. Guzman instead relied on the advice of NSEA’s counsel. This shows
extraordinarily poor judgment on the part of Ms. Guzman. When she takes office we would expect that Ms.
Guzman will seek advice regarding her position as Trustee from the appropriate parties, namely the Nevada
Commission on Ethics and the County Counsel instead of on the private attorneys of the her current employer.

As the exclusive bargaining agent of the close to 19,000 licensed educators within CCSD, CCEA requests
that the Clark County School Board of Trustees does what Ms. Guzman failed to do, request an opinion from the
Nevada Commission on Ethics regarding Ms. Guzman’s numerous conflicts of interest. The Board of Trustees has
a duty to the community, to the 35,000 people in CCSD’s employ, and to the more than 300,000 students which it
serves to ensure that its members are not beholden to outside groups and that the focus of each Trustee is
exclusively on what is best for the students within CCSD.

Until these conflicts can be addressed by the appropriate agency, we ask that Ms. Guzman recuse herself
from all votes regarding CCEA, NSEA, NEA, ESEA, or the Teamsters. Any vote she takes which involves these
parties could involve actual conflicts and would certainly raise the perception of bias. It would be impossible for
the public to be confident that Ms. Guzman’s votes on any matter regarding these parties was not influenced by her
employment and pecuniary interests.

While it would be unfortunate to require Ms. Guzman to resign her employment and abstain from votes
regarding these two organizations, we believe that this is the only remedy for the situation she has placed herself
in. If Ms. Guzman does not resign all positions with NSEA, ESEA and any other affiliated organizations prior to
being sworn in, or if she undertakes to vote on any CCEA or ESEA related matter after being sworn in, a formal
Complaint will be filed with the Ethics Commission.

Sincerely,

Steve Sorensen
General Counsel, CCEA

cc: Ms. Mary-Anne Miller
John Vellardita
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BEFORE THE GOVERNMENT
EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION FILED
ASSOCIATION, April 28, 2023
. State of Nevada

Complainant, CASE NO. 2023-009 EMRB.

Vs. 10:35 a.m.
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT, ESEA’S PETITION TO INTERVENE

Respondent.

/

COMES NOW the Education Support Employees Association (hereinafter “ESEA”), by and
through its attorneys, Dyer Lawrence, LLP and Francis C. Flaherty and SueS. Matuska, and hereby
files its Petition to Intervene pursuant to NAC 288.260 in the above-captioned matter (the
“Complaint”).

NAC 288.260(1) states:

Any person claiming an interest in a dispute or controversy which is the subject of

a hearing may be made a party upon timely petition and a showing satisfactory to the

Board of the person's interest in the controversy.

NAC 288.260(2) enumerates twelve items that a petition to intervene must contain, and the
following information is submitted pursuant to NAC 288.260(a) - (1):

(a) Nature of Petitioner’s Statutory or Other Right

ESEA now, and at all times material hereto, is an employee organization within the meaning
of NRS 288.040 and the recognized bargaining agent for the support staff employeeé of the Clark
County School District (“District”) pursuant to NRS 288.133. Now and at all times material hereto,
the District is a local government employer within the meaning of NRS 288.060. This body, the
Government Employee-Management Relations Board (“the Board”), hears “complaint[s] arising
out of, or performance under, the provisions of this chapter by . . . any local government employer
[and] any employee organization.” NRS 288.110(2). ESEA, therefore, has a statutory right to file
and be heard on a complaint filed with the Board arising out of the performance of duties under NRS

chapter 288 by the District. Moreover, the Board has adopted NAC 288.260, which authorizes a

“person claiming an interest in a dispute or controversy which is the subject of a hearing” to petition
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the Board to intervene. ESEA will show below that it has an interest in the dispute that is the subject
of the Complaint.

(b) Nature and Extent of the Petitioner’s Interest

Complainant Clark County Education Association (“CCEA”) alleges in the Complaint that
“ESEA and General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers and Helpers Local 14 Affiliated with
International Board [sic] of Teamsters” (“Teamsters”) entered into an agreement that “gave
representational authority” to Teamsters for a portion of the ESEA Bargaining Unit (“ESEA-
Teamsters Agreement”). Complaint 4. CCEA is incorrect. CCEA makes other incorrect
allegations in its Complaint regarding the working relationship between ESEA and Teamsters. E.g.,
Complaint §7. ESEA is a party to the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement, and it fully understands what
that agreement does, and does not, provide. ESEA has an important interest in ensuring that
agreement is not mis-characterized by CCEA in its efforts to have this Board effectively void that
agreement.

(c) Effect of Any Decision in the Proceedings on the Petitioner’s Interest

CCEA alleges that the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement and the conduct of ESEA and Teamsters
pursuant thereto somehow amounts to a violation of NRS 288.170 by the District, despite the fact
that the District is not a party to that agreement. Such a finding by the Board would adversely impact
and interfere with ESEA’s operations and functioning as the bargaining agent for the ESEA
Bargaining Unit.

(d) Other Means Available Whereby the Petitioner’s Interest May Be Protected

ESEA could file an action for declaratory relief with the Board, but as a practical matter, both
CCEA and the District would need to be parties to that action, and it would be nonsensical for this
Board to entertain parallel actions concerning the same subject matter and the same parties. An
action in district court would be inappropriate because the Nevada Supreme Court “has recognized
that the EMRB has exclusive jurisdiction over unfair labor practice issues” and that it has a “duty
to administer NRS Chapter 288.” City of Reno v. Reno Police Protective Ass’n, 118 Nev. 889, 895,
59 P.3d 1212, 1217, (2002); NRS 288.110(2) (EMRB hears complaints arising out of or resulting

from party’s performance under NRS 288).
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Dyer Lawrence, LLP
2805 Mountain Street

(e) Extent to Which the Petitioner’s Interest May Be Represented by Existing Parties

ESEA’s interests will not be represented by the existing parties. CCEA represents only the
teachers of the District, not support staff employees, and CCEA is obviously hostile to the ESEA-
Teamsters Agreement, which ESEA sees as an important aspect of its representational activities on
behalf of the ESEA Bargaining Unit. The District, which is the Respondent in this action, is not a
party to the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement and simply not capable of representing the interests of
ESEA. Indeed, NRS 288.270(1)(b) prohibits the District from interfer[ing] or assist[ing] in the .
.. administration of any employee organization.” Finally, as the recognized bargaining agent for the
District’s support staff employees, ESEA has much more than an interest in this case; it has a duty
to safeguard and enforce the collectively bargained rights of the employees it represents, and as
stated, ESEA in its sole discretion has determined that the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement is an
important tool to that end.

@ Extent to Which the Petitioner’s Participation Can Assist in the Development
of a Sound Record

As stated above, ESEA is a party to the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement and thus uniquely
positioned to explain to this Board what that agreement does and does not do. Indeed, because
CCEA effectively seeks to void the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement, ESEA would be an indispensable
party to this action pursuant to NRCP 19(a).

(g) Extent to Which Petitioner’s Participation Will Broaden the Issues or Delay the
Proceedings

ESEA’s participation will not significantly broaden the issues and will provide the Board
with vital context regarding the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement and the actual operation of that
agreement.

(h) Extent to Which the Petitioner’s Interest in the Proceedings Differs from that of the
General Public

ESEA’s sole primary function is representation of the support staff of the District and has
statutory duties in that regard pursuant to NRS Chapter 288.
W\
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(i) How the Petitioner’s Intervention Would Serve the Public Interest

It goes without saying that the public has an interest in the operation of its public school
system and “labor peace.” Clark Cty. Classroom Teachers Ass’nv. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 91 Nev.
143, 144, 532 P.2d 1032 (1975).

(j) If Affirmative Relief is Sought, the Type and Basis of that Relief

ESEA does not seek affirmative relief at this time. It is possible, depending on the course
of the proceedings and arguments made by CCEA and the District, that ESEA may seek a declaratory
order concerning the validity of the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement, but it has no plans to do so at this
time.

(k) Statement as to Whether the Petitioner Intends to Present Evidence in the
Proceedings

ESEA intends to present evidence regarding the ESEA-Teamsters Agreement, including its
purpose and the general activities of ESEA and Teamsters under that agreement. Ifthe Board orders
a hearing or oral argument, ESEA will participate.

(1) The Name and Address of the Petitioner

Education Support Employees Association

3511 East Harmon Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89121

CONCLUSION

The Board’s decision in this case will have a direct effect on ESEA. For this reason, and for
the reasons stated above, ESEA respectfully submits that it meets the conditions for intervention set
forth in NAC 288.260 and thus requests that this Board grant its petition to intervene.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 28" day of April, 2023.

DYER LAWRENCE, LLP

o

Francis C. Flaherty
Nevada Bar No. 5303
Sue S. Matuska
Nevada Bar No. 6051
Attorneys for ESEA
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
Pursuant to NAC 288.200(2), I certify that I am an employee of Dyer Lawrence, LLP, and
that on the 28th day of April, 2023, I sent via email, a true and correct copy of the within ESEA’S
PETITION TO INTERVENE addressed to the following:

Steven Sorensen
ssorensen(@ccea-nv.org

General Counsel

Clark County Education Association
4230 McLeod Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89121

Attorney for Complainant

Crystal J. Herrera, Esq. '
herrec4@nv.ccsd.net

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

5100 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89146

Attorney for Respondent

Issella Fuentes

F:\ \ 23\23047\Pleadings\230428 Petition Intervene.wpd = 5 -
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STRANCH, JENNINGS & GARVEY, PLLC

NATHAN R. RING, Nevada State Bar No. 12078 FILED
JESSICA S. GUERRA, Nevada State Bar No. 14210 May 2, 2023
3100 W. Charleston Blvd., #208 State of Nevada
Phone: (725) 235-9750 E.M.R.B.
Email: LasVegas@StranchLaw.com 3:59 p.m.

Counsel for Intervenor Teamsters Local 14

BEFORE THE STATE OF NEVADA
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION

ASSOCIATION, CASE NO: 2023-09
Complainant,
Vs.
PETITION TO INTERVENE BY
Respondent.

Intervenor, General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers, and Helpers Local 14 Affiliated with the
Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen, and Helpers of America (“Teamsters Local 14), by and through
its attorneys, and pursuant to NAC 288.260 hereby submits this petition to intervene in Case No. 2023-09
filed by the Clark County Education Association against the Clark County School District. The
Government Employee-Management Relations Board ("Board" or "EMRB") has the authority to grant
this petition under NAC 288.260 and NAC 288.270. Teamsters Local 14 is entitled to intervene based on

the standards stated in those code sections and as further argued herein.

I. MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

Intervenor, Teamsters, Local 14 (“Local 14”) is entitled to intervene in this action because it can
demonstrate that it meets the factors set out in NAC 288.260 for intervention and good cause is shown
under the applicable administrative regulation.

A. LEGAL AUTHORITY

Under NAC 288.260, “[a]ny person claiming an interest in a dispute or controversy which is the

subject of a hearing may be made a party upon timely petition and a showing satisfactory to the Board of
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the person’s interest in the controversy.” NAC 288.260(1). “A petition for leave to intervene and proof
of service of a copy of the petition on each party of record must be filed with the Board at least 30 days
before the time set for the hearing.” NRS 288.262(1).

A petition to intervene must include the following information:

(a) The nature of the petitioner’s statutory or other right;

(b) The nature and extent of the petitioner’s interest;

(c) The effect of any decision in the proceedings on the petitioner’s interest;

(d) Other means available whereby the petitioner’s interest may be protected,

(e) The extent to which the petitioner’s interest may be represented by existing parties;

(f) The extent to which the petitioner’s participation can assist in the development of
a sound record;

(g) The extent to which the petitioner’s participation will broaden the issues or delay
the proceedings;

(h) The extent to which the petitioner’s interest in the proceedings differs from that of
the general public;

(1) How the petitioner’s intervention would serve the public interest;

(j) If affirmative relief is sought, the type and basis of that relief;

(k) A statement as to whether the petitioner intends to present evidence in the
proceeding; and

(I) The name and address of the petitioner.

NAC 288.260(2).

B. RELEVANT FACTS

On or about April 20, 2023, the Clark County Education Association (“CCEA”) filed a complaint
with the EMRB against the Clark County School District (“CCSD”). Among other allegations made,
CCEA incorrectly claims CCSD has recognized Local 14 as the representative of certain of CCSD’s
employees. CCSD has not recognized Local 14 as the representative of any of CCSD’s employees. CCEA
further erroneously alleges that CCSD employees have been moved by CCSD into a bargaining unit
represented by Local 14. No such movement has occurred.

Local 14 and certain of its employees and agents have been assigned by the Education Support
Employees Association (“ESEA”) to assist ESEA with the representation of employees within the
bargaining unit represented by ESEA. Local 14 employees have worked at the bargaining table with ESEA

representatives in bargaining and only done so as assigned representatives by ESEA. There is, in fact, no
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direct bargaining taking place between Local 14 and CCSD. Local 14 has only been assigned by ESEA to
assist ESEA in its representation of members in the ESEA represented bargaining unit at CCSD.
C. ARGUMENT

Local 14 can ably demonstrate that there is good cause present for it to be permitted to intervene
in this matter. Local 14 will also demonstrate the twelve required elements for its petition to intervene in
this matter under NAC 288.260(2).

i. The nature of the petitioner’s statutory or other right

NAC 288.260 allows for any person to intervene in an EMRB proceeding upon the showing of
good cause. This is an administrative code provision adopted pursuant to the statutory rights contained
within NRS Chapter 288. This is the right under which Local 14 claims the ability to intervene in this
matter.

ii. The nature and extent of the petitioner’s interest

Local 14 has a direct pecuniary interest in this matter. Local 14 has a contractual relationship with
ESEA and under that agreement serves as a servicing agent for ESEA in the representation of the
bargaining unit represented by ESEA within CCSD. As part of its relationship with ESEA and its services
on behalf of ESEA, Local 14 collects payments from ESEA. These payments and Local 14’s direct
pecuniary interests are threatened should CCEA be granted full relief in this matter to remove Local 14
representatives as servicing agents for ESEA.

iii. The effect of any decision in the proceedings on the petitioner’s interest

The payments for services provided by Local 14 are at risk if CCEA is granted its demand for full
relief and Local 14 is removed from its role as a servicing agent for ESEA.

iv. Other means available whereby the petitioner’s interests may be protected

As it is CCEA that has placed this in process before the EMRB, there is no other forum or means
by which Local 14 can protect its interests.

V. The extent to which the petitioner’s interest may be represented by existing parties

Local 14’s direct pecuniary interest in receipt of payments for its services to ESEA and in service

of ESEA cannot be represented by the existing parties to this action. Certainly, CCEA has no interest in
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protecting this property right of Local 14. It is also not CCSD’s place to defend Local 14’s interests in an
agreement between Local 14 and ESEA, nor should it be. Only Local 14 can protect its interests in this

matter.

vi. The extent to which the petitioner’s participation can assist in the development of a
sound record

Local 14 has direct evidence that can be provided by its witnesses concerning the facts alleged in
CCEA’s complaint in this matter. Local 14 witnesses will assist in developing a sound record because
their testimony will provide a full picture of Local 14’s services as a representative of ESEA. The Local
14 agents who participated on behalf of and at the direction of ESEA in bargaining and other matters can
clearly explain (1) they provided services as a representative on behalf of ESEA and assigned by ESEA,
(2) Local 14 has not been recognized by CCSD, and (3) Local 14 did not engaged in direct bargaining

with CCSD other than as a representative assigned by ESEA.

vii. The extent to which the petitioner’s participation will broaden the issues or delay the
proceedings

Intervention by Local 14 will not broaden the issues in this matter, nor will it delay these
proceedings. This matter was filed by CCEA recently and the date for CCSD’s response to the complaint
has not yet arrived. The evidence and facts to be presented by Local 14’s witnesses go directly to refuting
the false allegations made in CCEA’s specious complaint. Thus, they will be directly within the issues

already presented in this matter.

viii. The extent to which the petitioner’s interest in the proceedings differs from that of
the general public

As mentioned previously above, Local 14 has a pecuniary interest in its work as a servicing agent
for ESEA. This interest is a property interest of Local 14 and it is an interest that only Local 14 has.

ix. How the petitioner’s intervention would serve the public interest

Local 14’s intervention in this matter will serve the public interest by ensuring that a full and
complete record is made before the Board should this matter go to hearing. Local 14’s witnesses can
provide information and testimony that is only within their knowledge. Without intervention, the public

interest in full and frank public hearings will be jeopardized.
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X. If affirmative relief is sought, the type and basis of that relief
The affirmative relief sought by Local 14 in this matter will be the dismissal of CCEA’s complaint

or the EMRB’s denial of the relief requested by CCEA.

xi. A statement as to whether the petitioner intends to present evidence in the proceeding

Local 14 intends to present evidence in this proceeding. It will present oral testimony from
witnesses. The evidence presented may also include written or documentary evidence to refute the false
claims made in CCEA’s complaint.

Xii. The name and address of the petitioner

The full name of the petitioner is The General Sales Drivers, Delivery Drivers, and Helpers Local
14 Affiliated with the Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen, and Helpers of America. Local 14’s address
is 8951 W Sahara Ave Ste 100, Las Vegas, NV 89117.

This petition is timely. There is no hearing set in this matter. Thus, the petition is being filed at
least thirty days prior to the hearing of this matter. This document fully demonstrates that Local 14 meets
the good cause standard required for the EMRB to grant its intervention in this matter.

CONCLUSION
Local 14 requests that the EMRB grant its petition to intervene and that Local 14 be permitted

to participate as a party in this matter.

DATED this 2nd day of May, 2023 STRANCH, JENNINGS & GARVEY, PLLC

/s/Nathan R. Ring, Esq.

NATHAN R. RING, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 12078

JESSICA S. GUERRA, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 14210
LasVegas@StranchLaw.com

3100 W. Charleston Blvd., #208

Las Vegas, NV 89102

Attorneys for Intervenor Teamsters Local 14
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CERTIFICATE OF FILING AND SERVICE

I CERTIFY THAT on the 2nd day of May, 2023, I filed the above and foregoing PETITION TO
INTERVENE BY TEAMSTERS, LOCAL 14 by emailing the document to emrb@business.nv.gov.

I FURTHER CERTIFY THAT on the same date, I mailed the above and foregoing PETITION
TO INTERVENE BY TEAMSTERS, LOCAL 14 by mailing the document via United States Certified

Mail, Return Receipt Requested to the following:

Clark County School District
Office of the General Counsel
5100 W. Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89146

Steven Sorenson, Esq.

Clark County Education Association
4230 McLeod Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89121

/s/ Suzanne Levenson
An employee of Stranch, Jennings & Garvey, PLLC
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FILED
April 20, 2023
State of Nevada
E.M.R.B.
8:30 a.m.
STATE OF NEVADA
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT
RELATIONS BOARD
JEREMY BUNKER, Case No. 2022-012
Complainant, NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
V.
EN BANC

CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent.

TO: Complainant, by and through their attorneys, Daniel Marks, Esq. and Adam Levine, Esq. of the
Law Office of Daniel Marks; and

TO: Respondent, by and through their attorneys, Nicole R. Malich, Deputy District Attorney and
Scott R. Davis, Deputy District Attorney of the District Attorney Civil Division.
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the ORDER ON RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS
COMPLAINT was entered in the above-entitled matter on April 20, 2023.
A copy of said order is attached hereto.
DATED this 20" day of April 2023.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-
MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

BY_. QJMXQMQ %M/D—

ISABEL FRANCO
Administrative Assistant II






CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Government Employee-Management Relations

Board, and that on the 20" day of April 2023, I served a copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY
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OF ORDER by mailing a copy thereof, postage prepaid to:

Law Office of Daniel Marks
Daniel Marks, Esq.

Adam Levine, Esq.

610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101

District Attorney Civil Division

Nicole R. Malich, Deputy District Attorney
Scott R. Davis, Deputy District Attorney
500 South Grand Central Pkwy., Suite 5075
Las Vegas, NV 89155-2215

nokel Hance

ISABEL FRANCO
Administrative Assistant II
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FILED
April 20, 2023
State of Nevada

E.M.R.B.
8:30 a.m.

STATE OF NEVADA
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT

RELATIONS BOARD

JEREMY BUNKER, Case No. 2022-012

Y ORDER ON RESPONDENT’S MOTION

omplainant, TO DISMISS COMPLAINT
V.
EN BANC

CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent.

On April 11, 2023, this matter came before the State of Nevada, Government Employee-
Management Relations Board (the “Board”) for consideration and decision on Respondent’s Motion to
Dismiss Complainant’s Complaint pursuant to the provision of the Employee-Management Relations
Act (the Act), NRS Chapter 233B, and NAC Chapter 288. At issue is whether or not the Complainant
was terminated during his probationary period for political reasons under NRS 288.270(1)(D).

An employee may be terminated during their probationary appointment for almost any reason.
However, an employee may not be terminated because of “race, color, religion, sex, age, physical or
visual handicap, national origin or because of political or personal reasons or affiliations” as set out in
NRS 288.270(1)(f).

In Reno Police Protective Ass'n v. City of Reno, 102 Nev. 98 (1986), the Nevada Supreme Court
adopted a framework to resolve state prohibited labor practice claims against employers that are
brought under NRS 288.270. Bisch v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, 129 Nev. 328, 339
(2013). Specifically, the Nevada Supreme Court concluded that:

[a]n aggrieved employee must make a prima facie showing sufficient to support the
inference that protected conduct was a motivating factor in the employer’s decision.

-1-
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Once this is established, the burden shifts to the employe to demonstrate by a
preponderance of the evidence that the same action would have taken place even in the
absence of the protected conduct. The aggrieved employee may then offer evidence that
the employer’s proffered “legitimate” explanation is pretextual and thereby conclusively
restore the inference of unlawful motivation.

Id
In addition to the test set forth above, it is not enough that the employee simply put forth

evidence that is capable of being believed, rather the evidence must actually be believed by the Board.
Id. 1In this case, the Board finds that the Complaint is devoid of any facts proving that the bumper
sticker on the Complainant’s vehicle was a motivating factor in the Complainant’s termination.

Based on the foregoing, it is hereby ORDERED that Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss
Complainant’s Complaint is GRANTED WITHOUT PREJUDICE.

Dated this 20 day of April 2023.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-
MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

TE RSLEY, ES@F, Chair
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LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 002003
office@danielmarks.net

ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 004673
alevine@danielmarks.net

610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

(702) 386-0536: FAX (702) 386-6812
Email: office@danielmarks.net
Attorneys for Complainant/Employee

FILED
May 2, 2023
State of Nevada
E.M.R.B.
3:56 p.m.

STATE OF NEVADA

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT

JEREMY BUNKER,
Complainant/Employee,

V.

CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent/Employer.

RELATIONS BOARD

Case No.: 2022-012

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

Jeremy Bunker by and through undersigned counsel hereby moves the Board for

reconsideration of its Order dated April 20, 2023 dismissing Bunker’s Complaint without prejudice.

An Order dismissing a Complaint without prejudice is not a final decision within the meaning
of the Administrative Procedures Act. See e.g. Clark v. Columbia/HCA Information Services, 117 Nev.
468, 25 P.3d 215 (2001) (“a dismissal without prejudice is not a final adjudication on the merits”)
Therefore, the time limits for filing a Petition for Judicial Review, and the time limits for a Petition for

rehearing or reconsideration under NRS 233B.130, which would otherwise require this Board to decide
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any Motion for Reconsideration “at least 5 days before the expiration of the time for filing” a Petition
for Judicial Review are not implicated.!

In ruling upon Motions to Dismiss:

As this Board has repeatedly held, cases involving factual disputes and
credibility determinations require a hearing and cannot be disposed of by a motion to
dismiss. NAC 288.375 provides that the Board may dismiss a matter if the Board
determines that no probable cause exists for the complaint or a complaint presents only
issues that have been previously decided by the Board. An -evidentiary hearing is
required in order to determine the issues presented including the proper submission and
presentation of evidence, as well as credibility determinations in accordance with NRS
and NAC 288.

City of Las Vegas v. Las Vegas Peace Olfficers Association, Case No. 2019-016, Item No. 851 (2019);
see also IAFF Local 5046 v. Elko County Fire Protection District, Case No. 2019-011, Item No. 847
(2019).

In his Complaint Jeremy Bunker alleges that Clark County District Attorney Family Support
Supervisor Jeff Burkhead, who was married to Nevada’s then Lieutenant Governor, was seen taking a
photo of Bunker’s vehicle and particularly the bumper sticker “Fuck Sisolack”. (Paragraph 4). Shortly
thereafter, Bunker was terminated based upon a claim he had not satisfactorily completed probation.
However, Bunker’s own supervisor denied any knowledge of any disciplinary or performance issues.
(Paragraph 5). Bunker alleged that the actions of Clark County and dismissing him constituted
discrimination for personal and political reasons in violation of NRS 288.270(1)(f).

In its prior decisions, this Board only required a Complaint allege facts sufficient to raise a
dispute “within the Board’s authority” or “within the Board’s jurisdiction”. See Ronald G. Taylor vs.

Clark County Education Association, CCEA Review Board, Africa Sanchez, Esq., Vicki Courtney and

Karen Ackerman, Case No. A1-045904 Item No. 657 (2007) (dismissing allegations of free-speech

!If the Board believes otherwise, it must decide the Motion by May 17, 2023.

2
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violations and whistleblower allegations “because such violations are not contemplated by NRS
Chapter 288 and thus are outside the jurisdiction of this Board”); Judith Carpenter vs. Rosemary
Vassiliadis, Deputy Director of Aviation; Doris Diaz, Terminal 2 Manager, Bill Klein, Assistant
Director/Airside Ops,; Christine Santiago, Manager, Airport Employee Services; Kathleen Kirwan,
Management Analyst, HR, Case No. A1-045773 Item No. 562 (2004) (requiring the complainant to file
an Amended Complaint confined “to the area of law within the Board’s jurisdiction™); Dr. Ronald
Glenn vs. Ormsby County Teachers Association and NSEA, Case No. A1-045277 Ttem No. 17 (1974)
(denying that portion of the Motion to Dismiss against Ormsby County Teachers Association as such
allegations were sufficient to fall within the Board’s jurisdiction).

Moreover, in evaluating the allegations of complaints, the Board has held that “the pleadings
should bé liberally construed”. AFSCME, Local 4041 v. State of Nevada, Department of Health and
Human Services, Aging and Disability Services Division, Desert Regional Center, et al., Case No.
2020-001 Item No. 861-A (2020). In fact, NAC 288.235(2) specifically states “Pleadings, motions and
other papers will be liberally construed, and any defects which do not affect substantial rights of any
party may be disregarded by the Board.” The Board’s Order in this case does not identify how any
substantial rights of any party were adversely impacted.

The Complaint clearly alleges a matter within the Board’s jurisdiction as discrimination for
personal or political reasons is covered by NRS 288.270(1)(f). See also David O’Leary v. LVMPD,
Case No. A1-046116 Item No. 803 (2015).

Instead of liberally construing the pleadings, the Board’s Order cites to the evidentiary
framework from Reno Police Protective Association v. City of Reno, 102 Nev. 98 (1986) and Bisch v.
Las Vegas Metro. Police Department, 129 Nev. 328 (2013) which requires the employee to put on
evidence sufficient to make a prima facie showing sufficient to support an inference that protected

conduct was a motivating factor, and once such evidence is produced the burden shifts to the employer

3
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to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that the same action would’ve taken place even in
the absence of the protected conduct. The Board’s Order further emphasizes “it is not enough that the
employee simply put forth evidence that is capable of being believe, rather the evidence must actually
be believed by the Board.” (Order at p. 2). However, this evidentiary framework references the
evidence to be produced at a hearing. Evidence is not produced in a Complaint. In fact, evidence is not
even to be produced in connection with Pre-Hearing Statements. See NAC 288.250(2) (“Except as
otherwise specifically provided by this chapter or chapter 288 of NRS, a party shall not attach any
document, including, without limitation, an exhibit, to a prehearing statement.”)

If the Board wished more details in the Complaint, then it should have treated the Motion to
Dismiss as a Motion for a More Definite Statement as the Board has done in the past. See e.g. Mark
Anthony Boykin v. City of North Las Vegas Police Department, Case No. A1-045921 Item No. 647
(2008). But it should not be dismissing a case with or without prejudice where the allegations are
sufficient to allege conduct within the jurisdiction of this Board.

Accordingly, Bunker requests that the Board reconsider its Order of April 20, 2023 and accept
the Complaint.

b

DATED this day of May 2023.

LAW OFFICE @F BANIEL MARKS

DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar State No. 002003
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 004673

610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Attorneys for Complainant/Employee
Jeremy Bunker






10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE

I hereby certify that I am an employee of the LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS and that on
this 2" day of May 2023, I served a true and correct copy of the MOTION FOR
RECONSIDERATION, by emailing the same to the following recipients. Service of the foregoing

document by email is in place of service via the United States Post Office Service:

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney
State Bar No. 001565

SCOTT R. DAVIS, Deputy District Attorney
State Bar No. 10019

NICOLE R. MALICH, Deputy District Attorney
State Bar No. 13180

DISTRICT ATTORNEY - CIVIL DIVISION
500 South Grand Central Pkwy., Suite 5075
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2215

(702) 455-4761
Scott.Davis@clarkcountyda.com
Nicole.Malich@clarkcountyda.com
Attorneys for Defendant Clark County

NS

An empl yee of the
LAW O FICE OF DANIEL MARKS
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
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Marquis Aurbach

Nick D. Crosby, Esq. FILED
Nevada Bar No. 8996 April 3, 2023
10001 Park Run Drive State of Nevada
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 EMR.B
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 ST
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 123 pm.

ncrosby@maclaw.com
Attorneys for Respondents

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD
STATE OF NEVADA
NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS
ASSOCIATION, INTERNATIONAL
ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS, LOCAL | Case No.: 2023-006
4547,
Complainant,
Vs.

NORTH LYON COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT; JASON NICHOLL, in this official
capacity, and RYAN HANAN, in his official

capacity,

Respondents.

HANAN’S MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT

Respondent Ryan Hanan (“Hanan”), by and through his attorneys of record, Nick D.
Crosby, Esq. of the law firm of Marquis Aurbach, hereby files his Motion to Dismiss the
Complaint in the above-captioned matter. This Motion is made and based on the attached
memorandum of points and authorities, the papers and pleadings on file herein and any oral
argument permitted by the Board during a hearing on the Motion.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
L. INTRODUCTION

The instant Complaint against Hanan should be dismissed as it relates to Hanan because
the Union has failed to articulate a violation of Nevada’s Employee Management Relations Act.
Instead, the Union is using the Complaint as a basis to further violate Nevada law by refusing to

bargaining with the District due to the District’s exercise of its rights under Nevada Revised

Page 1 of 6
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Statute 288.150(1) — namely, its statutory right to select its representatives for purposes of
collective bargaining. The Complaint cites to no conduct on the part of Hanan that could
possibly be construed as a violation of chapter 288 and is clearly an attempt to curtail the
District’s statutory rights because the Union harbors personal animus against Hanan and,
ironically, the Complaint actually serves as evidence of a prohibited practice on the part of the
Union. As such, the Complaint should be dismissed as it relates to Hanan.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. THE PARTIES.

The North Lyon County Fire Protection District (the “District™) is a local government
employer as defined in Nevada Revised Statute 288.060. (Compl., 9§ 3). Complainant, the North
Lyon Firefighters Association, IAFF Local 4547 (the “Union”) is an employee organization as
defined in Nevada Revised Statute 288.040 and the recognized bargaining agent, pursuant to
Nevada Revised Statute 288.027, for a bargaining unit consisting of all full-time non-
supervisory, supervisor and emergency support services employees engaged in fire protection,
suppression, and fire equipment/apparatus repair and maintenance employed by the District. (Id.
at 4 2). Hanan is member of the District’s negotiating team for purposes of negotiating a
successor collective bargaining agreement between the Union and the District. (Id. at 9 28).
Hanan is a councilman for the City of Fernley. (Id. at 4 5). Respondent Jason Nicholl
(“Nicholl”) the lead negotiator for the District’s negotiating team and the Fire Chief for the
District. (See id. at 9/ 4 and 28).

B. THE COMPLAINT.

On or about March 15, 2023, the Union filed the Complaint in this matter against the
District, Nicholl and Hanan. Confusingly, however, there is no asserted misconduct on the part
of Hanan, nor is there a specific claim asserted against Hanan. (See id., generally). The only
factual allegations regarding Hanan, other than paragraph 5 which identifies Hanan, are as
follows:

28. On or about February 6, 2023, the parties conducted their first bargaining

session. The District’s bargaining team consisted of [Nicholl], President of the
District’s Board of Directors Dan McCassie, [Hanan], Fernley Assistant City

Page 2 of 6
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Attorney Aaron Mouritsen and District Administrative Assistant Shannon Moffit.
[The Union’s] bargaining team consisted of Capt. Bill Snyder,
Firefighter/Paramedic John Renaud and Firefighter/Paramedic Alex Mendoza.

29. [Hanan] has no relationship or connection to the District. However, in
2018, [Hanan] filed a defamation lawsuit against [the Union] and one (1) of its
members, which was settled and dismissed in 2022.

30. On or about February 10. 2022, the parties conducted their second
bargaining session. [The Union] added retired Firefighter Joe Espinoza to its
bargaining team as the lead negotiator. At the bargaining session, [Nicholl] took
the position that the parties must mutually agree upon which Article or Section of
the Agreement could be negotiated, that the bargaining sessions must be audio
recorded and that [Hanan] was going to be on the District’s team.

43. Apparently without good faith, the District and [Nicholl] included on the
District’s bargaining team [Hanan], who has displayed hostility toward [the
Union] in the past, for no legitimate or proper reason. Further, the District,
through [Nicholl] has unlawfully discussed negotiations outside of the parties’
bargaining process and has taken the illogical and indefensible position that the
parties must mutually agree upon which Articles or Sections of the Agreement
can be negotiated for a successor Agreement.

(Id. at 99/ 28-30, 43). In its prayer for relief the Union seeks, inter alia, “[f]or an Order directing
Respondents to bargain in good faith with [the Union] without [Hanan].”

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. THE COMPLAINT FAILS TO ALLEGE A COGNIZABLE CLAIM
AGAINST HANAN.

The Complaint does not allege any conduct on the part of Hanan which could arise to any
conceivable violation of the Employee Management Relations Act (“EMRA”). The First,
Second and Third Causes of Action are completely silent as to any involvement, action or
inaction on the part of Hanan. (Compl. at 99 33-40). The Fourth (and final) Cause of Action is
the only cause of action that actually mentions Hanan. Specifically, in its claim for refusing to
bargain collectively in good faith in violation of Nevada Revised Statute 288.270(1)(e), the
Union alleges:

43: Apparently without good faith, the District and [Nicholl] included on the

District’s bargaining team [Hanan], who has displayed hostility toward [the

Union] in the past, for no legitimate or proper reason. Further, the District,

through [Nicholl] has unlawfully discussed negotiations outside of the parties’

bargaining process and has taken the illogical and indefensible position that the

parties must mutually agree upon which Articles or Sections of the Agreement
can be negotiated for a successor Agreement.
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(Compl. at 4 43). But the allegations do not actually assert any misconduct (or any conduct for
that matter) on the part of Hanan which would qualify as a violation of Nevada Revised Statute
288.270(1)(e). That statute states:

NRS 288.270 Employer or representative; employee or employee
organization.

1. It is a prohibited practice for a local government employer or its
designated representative willfully to:

(e) Refuse to bargain collectively in good faith with the exclusive

representative as required in NRS 288.150. Bargaining collectively includes the

entire bargaining process, including mediation and fact-finding, provided for in

this chapter.
Nev. Rev. Stat. 288.270(1)(e). The only allegation against Hanan is that he “displayed hostility
toward [the Union] in the past, for no legitimate or proper reason.” (Compl. at § 43) (emphasis
added). There are no facts asserted which articulate that Hanan refused to bargain collectively in
good faith, as required by the statute. Instead, the Union alleges that the inclusion of Hanan on
the negotiating team for the District somehow constitutes a lack of good faith because Hanan
displayed hostility against the Union in the past. The Complaint does not articulate the alleged
hostility, nor does it allege how any alleged hostility constitutes a lack of good faith. It is
apparent that the Union does not want Hanan on the District’s negotiating team because Hanan
sued the Union and one of its members for defamation. (See id. at 49 29 and 43). While the
Union argues that this alleged “hostility” had no “legitimate or proper reason,” the fact that
Hanan filed a lawsuit and the parties settled the same, as admitted to in the Complaint, wholly
undermines the baseless allegation that any “hostility” was illegitimate or without “proper
reason.” Nonetheless, the allegations are irrelevant because they do not actually assert any
conduct or misconduct on the part of Hanan vis a vis bargaining. Because the Complaint failed
to allege any actions or inactions on the part of Hanan that would constitute bad faith bargaining,
the Complaint should be dismissed.

B. THE UNION’S COMPLAINT IS A VIOLATION OF THE EMRA.

The irony of the Complaint is that it actually proves the Union violated the EMRA vis a
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vis Hanan. As this Board is aware, a local government employer has a statutory right to select
representatives of its choosing for purposes of collective bargaining. Indeed, Nevada Revised
Statute 288.150(1) states:

NRS 288.150 Negotiations by employer with recognized employee

organization: Subjects of mandatory bargaining; matters reserved to

employer without negotiation; reopening of collective bargaining agreement

during period of fiscal emergency; termination or reassignment of employees

of certain schools.

1.  Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6 and NRS 354.6241, every

local government employer shall negotiate in good faith through one or more

representatives of its own choosing concerning the mandatory subjects of

bargaining set forth in subsection 2 with the designated representatives of the

recognized employee organization, if any, for each appropriate bargaining unit

among its employees. If either party so requests, agreements reached must be

reduced to writing.
(Nev. Rev. Stat. 288.150(1)) (emphasis added). This Board has held as a matter of law a local
government is required to designate a representative or a team for negotiations pursuant to the
statute. Educ. Support Emplys. Assn. and Police Officers Assn. of the Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist. v.
Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., Case No. A1-046113, Item No. 809 *§ (Oct. 20, 2015). The plain
language of Nevada Revised Statute 288.150(1) provides that it is the right of the local
government employer to select its representative or representative and there is no limitation or
exclusion to such right. Indeed, if the Legislature intended to put limitations on a local
government employer’s right to select its representatives, it would have done so, as evidenced by
the fact the Legislature passed limiting language on who is able to be appointed to the Board.
See Nev. Rev. Stat. 288.080. The Union’s attempt to curtail the District’s statutory right to
designate members of its negotiating team, and its refusal to bargain with the District while
Hanan is a member of the negotiating team, is a violation of Nevada Revised 288.270(2)(b).
Furthermore, because the Union has stated that its basis for not wanting Hanan to serve on the
negotiating team for the District is due to his prior filing of a lawsuit or some undefined or

articulated “hostility,” the Union also violated Nevada Revised Statute 288.270(2)(c), which

precludes discrimination based upon political or personal reasons.

Page 5 of 6
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IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Hanan respectfully requests the Board dismiss the Complaint
as it applies to Hanan, as the Complaint fails to allege a cognizable claim under Nevada Revised
Statute chapter 288 and, in fact, serves as prima facie evidence of a prohibited practice on the
part of the Union.

Dated this 3rd day of April, 2023.

MARQUIS AURBACH

By:__ s/ Nick D. Crosby
Nick D. Crosby, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8996
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Attorneys for Respondents

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I hereby certify that on the 3rd day of April, 2023, I served a copy of the foregoing
HANAN’S MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT upon each of the parties by

depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope in the United States Mail, Las Vegas, Nevada,
First-Class Postage fully prepaid, and addressed to:
Thomas J. Donaldson, Esq.
Dyer Lawrence, LLP
2805 Mountain Street
Carson District, NV 89703

and that there is a regular communication by mail between the place of mailing and the place(s)

so addressed.

s/Sherri Mong
An employee of Marquis Aurbach
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BEFORE THE STATE OF NEVADA GOVERNMENT
EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

JASON NICHOLL, in his official capacity,
and RYAN HANAN, in his official capacity.

Respondents.

FILED
April 17, 2023
State of Nevada
NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS ) E.M.R.B.
ASSOCIATION, INTERNATIONAL ) 2:55 p.m.
ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS, )
LOCAL 4547, ). Case No. 2023-006
) .
Complainant, )
)
Vs. )
)
NORTH LYON COUNTY FIRE )
PROTECTION DISTRICT, )
)
)
)
)
/

OPPOSITION TO HANAN’S MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT

COMESNOW, Complainant North Lyon Firefighters Association, International Association
of Fire Fighters (“IAFF”), Local 4547 (“Local 4547”), by and through its attorneys, Dyer Lawrence,
LLP, and hereby opposes Respondent Ryan Hanan’s Motion to Dismiss the Complaint (“Motion”)
filed on April 3, 2023. The instant opposition is made pursuant to NAC 288.240 and based upon
the following memorandum of points and authorities. "

DATED this 17" day of April, 2023.

DYER LAWRENCE, LLP

—
BW/
Thémas J. Donaldson
Nevada State Bar No. 5283
2805 Mountain Street
Carson City, Nevada 89703
Telephone: (775) 885-1896

Facsimile: (775) 885-8728
Attorneys for Complainant IAFF Local 4547
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Memorandum of Points and Authorities

The Motion asserts that Local 4547'é Complaint against Respondents North Lyon County
Fire Protection District (“District”), Fire Chief Jason Nicholl and City of Fernley Councilman Ryan
Hanan (“Councilman Hanan™) fails to allege a cognizable claim against Councilman Hanan. Motion,
pp. 3-6; Complaint, § 5; Answer, § 2. However, Local 4547's allegations in the Complaint are
sufficient to put Councilman Hanan on notice of his unlawful conduct.

A complaint must include “[a] clear and concise statement of the facts constituting the
alleged practice sufficient to raise a justiciable controversy under chapter 288 of NRS, including the
time and place of the occurrence of the particular acts and the names of persons involved.”
NAC 288.200(1)(c). The Nevada Government Employee-Management Relations Board (EMRB)
has the authority to deny a motion to dismiss a complaint for failure to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted. See, No. Las Vegas Police Officers Ass’n v. City of No. Las Vegas, EMRB
Case No. A1-045655, Item No. 444 (2/12/1999).

The Complaint filed herein alleges:

* ok ok

28.  On or about February 6, 2023, the parties conducted their first
bargaining session. The District’s bargaining team consisted of Chief Nicholl,
President of the District’s Board of Directors Dan McCassie, Councilman Hanan,
Fernley Assistant City Attorney Aaron Mouritsen and District Administrative
Assistant Shannon Moffitt. Local 4547's bargaining team consisted of Capt. Bill
Snyder, Firefighter/Paramedic John Renaud and Firefighter/Paramedic Alex Moralez.

29.  Councilman Hanan has no relationship or connection to the District.
However, in 2018, Councilman Hanan filed a defamation lawsuit against Local 4547

and one (1) of its members, which was settled and dismissed in 2022.
. * %k %

Complaint, p. 4. Further, the Fourth Cause of Action in the Complaint asserts:

k ok k

43,  Apparently without good faith, the District and Chief Nicholl included
on the District’s bargaining team Fernley Councilman Hanan, who has displayed
hostility toward Local 4547 in the past, for no legitimate or proper reason. Further,
the District, through Chief Nicholl has unlawfully discussed negotiations outside of
the parties’ bargaining process and has taken the illogical and indefensible position
that the parties must mutually agree upon which Articles or Sections of the
Agreement can be negotiated for a successor Agreement.

44.  Therefore, Respondents’ conduct constitutes a refusal to bargain
collectively in good faith with Local 4547, the exclusive labor representative, as
required in NRS 288.150 regarding the terms and conditions of a successor

/11
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negotiated agreement and, hence, bad faith bargaining and an unfair labor practice
in violation of NRS 288.270(1)(e).

* k%

Complaint, pp. 6-7.

Councilman Hanan cannot credibly deny his hostility toward Local 4547 and its members
over the past five (5) years. Councilman Hanan’s ill-will started after he lost his bid to become
Mayor of the City of Fernley in June, 2018, by a wide margin. He finished third out of three (3)
candidates receiving only 22.88% of the votes. Exhibit 1 hereto. Councilman Hanan blamed the
loss on Local 4547's alleged Facebook posts and filed a Complaint for Libel in Lyon County District
Court against Local 4547 on July 6,2018, in Case No. 18-CV-00771. Exhibit 2 hereto.! Regarding
the Complaint for Libel, Councilman Hanan told a Fernley Leader-Courier reporter, “[e]veryone
should be entitled to transparency and fairness and honesty and integrity and we still have members
of our community who are running this community who are underhanded and lie.” Exhibit 4 hereto.
Local 4547 denied most of Councilman Hanan’s allegations, but he continued to tell the reporter that
they are “[l]ies.” Exhibit 5 hereto. The District was certainly aware of Councilman Hanan’s
litigation because in October, 2019, the Couft ordered the District to pay an information technology
specialist to retrieve deleted email messages regarding Councilman Hanan. Exhibit 6 hereto. Upon
the advice of Local 4547's former attorney and without admitting any fault, Local 4547 settled the
lawsuit with Councilman Hanan in August, 2022. Exhibits 7 and 8 hereto.

Further, Local 4547 recently discovered that in connection with Councilman Hanan’s
Complaint for Libel he pursued a claim against the District on July ‘1, 2018, for “ALLEGED
FAILURE TO DISCIPLINE FIREFIGHTERS WHO ARE UNION MEMBERS.” Exhibit 9 hereto,

" p. 2 (emphasis in. original). On or about April 3, 2020, the District paid Councilman Hanan

$15,915.38 to resolve this claim. Id. Thus, the District was clearly aware of Councilman Hanan’s
crusade against Local 4547 and its members.
It is a prohibited practice for a local government employer or its designated representative

willfully to refuse to bargain collectively in good faith with the exclusive representative as required

1

The “Vote NO for Ryan Hanan Fernley Mayor” Facebook page was not published by
Local 4547. Exhibit 3 hereto, p. 1.

-3
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in NRS 288.150. NRS 288.270(1)(e). Here, the District’s inclusion of Councilman Hanan on its
bargaining team in light of his relentless hostility toward Local 4547 is analogous to Lyon County
Commissioner Ken Harvey’s misconduct in Int’l Union of Operating Engineers, Stationary
Engineers, Local 39, vs. County of Lyon and Commissioner Ken Harvey, EMRB Case No. Al-
045451, Item No. 240 (2/23/90). In that case, the EMRB held that Lyon County and Commissioner
Harvey committed prohibited practices when “the COUNTY commissioners, at the time they voted
Respondent KEN HARVEY chairman of the négotiating team, knew of his ‘continuing litany’ of
hostilities toward employees, yet placed him on the team in spite of said knowledge.” Id. pp. 10-11.
Not only is Councilman Hanan improperly on the District’s bargaining team, but the District’s
attorney is representing him in this matter. Answer, p. 1; Motion, p. 1.

Further, Councilman Hanan’s attempted reliance upon Education Support Employees Ass’'n
etal. v. Clark Cty. School Dist., EMRB Case No. A1-046113, Item No. 809 (10/20/15), is misplaced.
Motion, p. 5. Clearly, the issue in that case was the school district’s “failure to bargain in good faith
.. . evidenced by its refusal to designate a bargaining agent or team with sufficient authority to
negotiate.” Id. at 11. Local 4547 is unaware of any such issue in this matter.

Finally, in the unlikely event that the EMRB is inclined to grant the Motion, Local 4547
hereby requests leave to amend the Complaint in accordance with the EMRB’s order. Alternatively,
Local 4547 reserves the right to file a motion to amend its Complaint.

Conclusion

Needless to say, the District’s inclusion of Councilman Hanan on its bargaining team has had
a chilling effect on the parties’ pending negotiations. Councilman Hanan cannot credibly deny his
“‘continuing litany” of hostilities toward” Local 4547 and its members. While Local 4547, in good
faith, attempted to resolve this issue discretely at the bargaining table and generally allege
Councilman Hanan’s hostility in the Complaint, it is now left with no option other than airing
Councilman Hanan’s and the District’s “dirty laundry” for the EMRB to decide whether Respondents
are acting in bad faith. Therefore, Local 4547 requests an order from the EMRB denying Hanan’s
/11
111
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Motion to Dismiss the Complaint and directing the parties to file pre-hearing statements regarding
the instant dispute or, alternatively, granting Local 4547 leave to amend its Complaint, if needed.
DATED this 17™ day of April, 2023.
DYER LAWRENCE, LLP

Thomas J. Donaldson

Nevada State Bar No. 5283

2805 Mountain Street

Carson City, Nevada 89703

Telephone: (775) 885-1896

Facsimile: (775) 885-8728

Attorneys for Complainant IAFF Local 4547
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Exhibits
Description Pages
2018 City of Fernley Mayor election results. 1

Hanan v. Local 4547, Complaint for Libel filed 7/6/2018.
Hanan v. Local 4547, Stipulation and Order filed 11/4/2019.
Fernley Leader-Courier article dated 7/12/2018.

Fernley Leader-Courier article dated 8/7/2018.

Fernley Leader-Courier article dated 11/5/2019.
Compromise Agreement and Mutual Release dated 8/3/2022.
Stipulation and Order for Dismissal filed 8/10/2022.
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District’s POOL Loss Run dated 4/1/2023.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to NAC 288.200(2), I certify that I am an employee of DYER LAWRENCE, LLP,
and that on the 17™ day of April, 2023, I caused to be sent via email and deposited for mailing,
postage prepaid, a true and correct copy of the within OPPOSITION TO HANAN’S MOTION TO
DISMISS THE COMPLAINT addressed to:

Nick D. Crosby
Marquis Aurbach
10001 Park Run Dr.
Las Vegas, NV 89145
ncrosby@maclaw.com

Wk G

Kelly Gilbert
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City of Fernley Mayor (Nonpartisan)

4 year term

hide details top

*

3

Edgington, Roy kIncumbent)Bickertn, Tim
53.83%23.30%

Bickerton,
Tim

Edgington,

Roy (Incumbent)
Percent 53.83 23.30 22.88
Lyon Votes 1421 615 604

City Council, Ward 1, City of Fernley (Nonpartisan)

4 year term

view details top
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Case No. \8
Dept. T— 2018 JUL -6 AH16: 12
TANYA SEEIRINE,
QURT ADMIRISTRATOR
15iRD JUDICIAL DS TR
\JictaueToveni ity
IN THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF LYON
RYAN HANAN,
Plaintiff, COMPLAINT FOR LIBEL
Vs,
NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS

ASSOCIATION IAFF LOCAL 4547
and DOES 1-20,

Defendants.
/

COMES NOW Plaintiff Ryan Hanan (“Hanan”), and for his Complaint for Libel
against Defendants North Lyon Firefighters Association IAFF Local 4547 (“Union”) and
Does 1-20, and each of them, alleges:

1. Hanan is an individual residing in Lyon County, Nevada.

2. The Union is an unincorporated association of individual members with a
principal place of business in Fernley, Lyon County, Nevada.,

3. Hanan is unaware of the true names or capacities of Defendants sued herein
by the fictitious names-of Does 1-10, and therefore sues such Defendants by such
fictitious names. Plaintiff will seek leave to allege their true names and capacities when

the same are ascertained.
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4, Hanan is informed and believes that at all relevant times, Defendants Does
1-10 were members ofthe Union acting in their individual capacities and as agents and
representatives of the Union in causing the damages to Hanan alleged herein.

3. Hanan is informed and believes that at all relevant times, Defendants Does
1-20 were the agents, employees, representatives, co-venturers and co-conspirators of
each other Defendant, and at all relevant times were acting in the course and scope of
such agency, employment, representation, joint venture and conspiracy, and with the
knowledge, approval and ratification of each other Defendant, in causing the injuries and
damages to Hanan alleged herein.

6. Hanan served as a volunteer firefighter with the North Lyon County Fire
Protection District.

7. Hanan received training as a firefighter.

8. Hanan was assigned a pager and new turnout gear and was a responding
member of the department.

9. Hanan was voted out of North Lyon County Fire Protection District after
medical leave for an injury.

10.  Hanan also was a firefighter for Pyramid Lake Fire Rescue.

11.  In2018, Hanan conducted a campaign to be elected mayor of Fernley.

12, On or about March 20, 2018, the Union published on the Internet on the
Union’s Facebook page the following false statements of fact of and concerning Hanan:

“This individual running for Mayor has NEVER been a firefighter or EMT,

paid or volunteer with NLCFPD. In fact he applied to be a volunteer and never

completed any training. He was removed as a trainee by our volunteers within a

year. This person who was removed within less than a year and now running for

Mayor is claiming he is something he wasn’t. This should make you question his

integrity.”
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13, The publication by the Union on or about March 20, 2018 falsely states as
an alleged fact that Hanan was never a volunteer firefighter who trained with the North
Lyon County Fire Protection District.

14, The publication by the Union on or about March 20, 2018 falsely states as
an alleged fact that Hanan is claiming to be something he was not.

15.  The Union created a Facebook page “Vote NO for Ryan Hanan for Mayor
of Fernley” in which it republished the false factual assertions of and concerning Hanan.

16.  The “Vote NO” webpage contained photographs with overlays falsely
stating that Hanan was fired from North Lyon Fire Protection District and Pyramid Lake.

17.  InaMay 25, 2018 article in the Reno Gazette Journal, the Union falsely
accused Hanan of “stolen valor,” equating Hanan with individuals who claim military
honors they did not earn and military service they did not perform.

18.  Inthe Gazette Journal article, the Union falsely accused Hanan of
fabricating log entries of his responses to service calls.

19, The Union’s publications were defamatory falsehoods subjecting Hanan to
hatred, contempt and ridicule.

20.  The Union’s publications were knowingly false and published with reckless
disregard for their falsity.

21.  The Union’s publications were not privileged.

22, The Union’s publications were made to third parties and were read by third
parties.

23.  The Union’s publications were in a fixed and permanent form constituting
libel.

24, The Union refused to respond to a request to remove the libelous postings
from the Internet. |

25.  Asadirect and proximate result of the Union’s libels, Hanan sustained

general, consequential and special damages in an amount to be shown according to proof.
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26.  The Union’s acts were intended_f§ cause injury and v\;/er'e 'maliciou‘s,
oppressive and fraudulent, justifying an awafd bf punitive or exemplary damages in an
amount to be shown according to proof.

WHEREFORE, Hanan prays for:

L. General, consequential and special damages in an amount in excess of
$15,000 and to be shown according to proof;

2. Punitive or exemplary damages in an amount in excess of $15,000 and to

be shown according to proof;,

3. Prejudgment interest on damages;
4. Reasonable attorneys fees; '
5. Costs of suit; and

6. All other relief the Court deems just and proper.
The undersigned certifies that the foregoing document does not contain the Social

Security number of any person.
DATED: July 3, 201§ = LAW OFFICES OF MARK WRAY

WW

MARK WRAY, #4425 (/

608 Lander Street -

Rero, Nevada 89511 -

(775) 348-8877

(775) 348-8351 fax
mwray@markwraylaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff RYAN HANAN
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Case No. 18-CV-00771
Dept. 1

IN THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT COUR%&F THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF LYON

RYAN HANAN,
Plaintiff, STIPULATION AND ORDER TO
Vs. ‘ VACATE SETTLEMENT
CONFERENCE, PRETRIAL
NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS HEARING AND TRIAL DATE

ASSOCIATION IAFF LOCAL 4547,
MICHAEL OCHS, aka MIGUEL
OCHACHEZ; and DOES 1-20,

Defendants.
/

THIS STIPULATION, by and between Plaintiff Ryan Hanan (“Hanan”) and
Defendant North Ly(_)h Firefighters Association IAFF Local 4547 (“Association”),
through their undersigned counsel, is made with reference to the following facts:

1. On October 9, 2019, Mr. Hanan filed a motion for leave to file a first
amended complaint adding a new defendant. The motion was based on the deposition of
Michael Ochs, taken September 5, 2019, and his testimony at that deposition that the
Facebook page ‘Vote NO for Ryan Hanan for Mayor of Fernley’ was not published by
the Association but rather solely by Mr. Ochs. Thus, based on the testimony of Mr.
Ochs, there are two sources of publications that Mr. Hanan claims to be libelous: the

Association and Mr. Ochs.
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2. Because Mr. Hanan’s original Complaint for Libel erroneously attributes
the “Vote NO” web page and the statements made on that web page to the Association,
Mr. Hanan was compelled to seek leave to file an amended complaint to correct the error.

3. On October 11, 2019, the Court granted the motion for leave to amend. Mr.
Hanan filed his First Amended Complaint on October 16, 2019.

4. Serving Mr. Ochs has proven to be a challenge. Despite numerous attempts
over the past two weeks, the process servers report to Mr. Hanan’s counsel that they have
been unable to serve Mr. Ochs. Phone messages left for Mr. Ochs at his place of
employment at Q&D Construction have gone unanswered. Mr. Ochs is not known to
have an attorney representing him at this point.

5. The parties have actively pursued discovery. The parties have taken four
depositions and served written discovery requests, as well as served subpoenas to the
North Lyon County Fire Protection District and the State Fire Marshal. A discovery
dispute with the District led to a motion to compel that recently was heard and resolved
by the Court. |

6. The Association wishes to take the deposition of Mr. Hanan and Mr. Hanan
desires to take the deposition of Association member Bill Snyder. These depositions
recently were continued, by stipulation, to allow Mr. Ochs the chance to appear and
participate.

7. The Court also has a settlement conference scheduled for November 7,
2019. All the parties should be present for the settlement conference.

8. In order to allow time for Mr. Ochs to be served, to enter his appearance,
and to participate in discovery, the settlement conference, and other pretrial matters,
counsel for Mr. Hanan and the Association wish to vacate the existing pretrial deadlines
and set new deadlines after Mr. Ochs appears in the action, either after personal service |
or after service by publication.

IT IS THEREFORE STIPULATED AND AGREED that the settlement

conference currently set for November 7,2019, the pretrial hearinglcurrently set for

2
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February 13, 2020, and the trial currently set for March 13, 2020 be vacated and that the
new conference and trial dates be reset to a time that is convenient to the Court, counsel
and parties.

IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED that the deadline for discovery
should be continued until 45 days before any new trial date and NRCP 16.1(a)(3)
disclosures should be due 30 days before any new trial date. The undersigned represent
this is the second request for a continuance of the trial date and that this stipulation is
entered into in good faith and not for purposes of delay.

DATED: November i, 2019 LAW OFFICES OF MARK WRAY

By W%

MARK WRAY, #4625~ O
608 Lander Street
Reno, Nevada 89511
(775) 348-8877
(775) 348-8351 fax
mwray@markwraylaw.com
Attorney for Plaintiff RYAN HANAN

A, g Sl %’{’
DATED: November _/f_ . 2019 %Qé)%/ <o %”

MICHAEL LANGTON, #290 ¢
801 Riverside Drive

Reno, Nevada 89503

(775) 329-7557
mlangton@sbcglobal.net

Attorney for Defendant

NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS
ASSOCIATION IAFF LOCAL 4547
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ORDER

The parties having stipulated, for good cause shown,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the existing deadlines in the Court’s Amended
Scheduling Order of May 28, 2019 be vacated, including but not limited to the settlement
conference currently set for November 7, 2019, the pretrial hearing currently set for
February 13, 2020 and the trial cutrently set for March 13, 2020.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that no later than Decembef 15, 2019, the parties

shall submit a new proposed Scheduling Order and set this matter for trial.

e

HN SC GELMILCH
District Judge

DATED: sy ot <h 2019
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Lawsuit against North Lyon Firefighters
Association alleges libel

Amy Alonzo Fernley Leader-Courier
Published 10:23 a.m. PT July 12, 2018

A former Fernley mayoral candidate who claims he was libeled by the North Lyon County
Firefighters Association during his campaign has filed a lawsuit against the group.

Fernley resident Ryan Hanan, 43, filed the suit July 6 in Lyon County Third Judicial District
Court. North Lyon has 20 days to respond to the lawsuit, which also lists 20 unnamed
defendants alleged to be part of the union.

The suit stems from contentious claims and online posts by the group regarding Hanan’s
service as a firefighter in Fernley. |

During Hanan’s campaign, a post on the North Lyon County Firefighters Association’s
Facebook page stated Hanan “has NEVER been a firefighter or EMT, paid or volunteer with
NLCFPD. In fact he applied to be a volunteer and never completed any training...”

The suit also claims a Facebook page titled “Vote NO For Ryan Hanan Fernley Mayor” was
created by the Union.

According to the suit, “The Union’s publications were knowingly false and published with
reckless disregard for their falsity.”

Hanan was a paid and volunteer firefighter for Pyramid Lake Fire Rescue EMS from 2017-
2018. He also maintains he received training and served as a volunteer firefighter with North
Lyon County Fire Protection District from 2014 to 2015 and that he was voted off the district
because of absences related to medical issues.

The lawsuit seeks damages in excess of $30,000, as well as attorney and court fees.

“Everyone should be entitled to transparency and fairness and honesty and integrity and we
still have members of our community who are running this community who are
underhanded and lie,” Hanan said in a phone interview.





(\/,"w {/‘ '\)
Hanan said he and his attorney have made five requests over four months to obtain copies of
his employee file with North Lyon Fire. He said he still has not received anything.

“Their answer is, they’re working on it,” he said.

Hanan was one of three people who ran for the seat of Fernley mayor in the June primary
election. Incumbent Roy Edgington received more than 50 percent of the 2,640 votes cast to
win. Hanan received 604 votes, and Tim Bickerton received 615 votes.

“I feel it had a large impact on the campaign,” Hanan said. “People like me who want to help
are now the targets of hate and discrimination and vulgar comments. All the good I've done
has been undone and I feel like a criminal.”

North Lyon County Fire Protection District Association President Paul Murphy did not
return calls to the Mason Valley News.
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LEADER COURIER

North Lyon& Fire denies libel claims

Amy Alonzo Fernley Leader-Courier
Published 10:21 a.m. PT Aug. 7, 2018

The North Lyon Cbunty Firefighters Association has denied most of the allegations made
against it in a lawsuit filed by former Fernley mayoral candidate Ryan Hanan.

Hanan, 43, filed a suit July 6 that claims he was libeled by the group during his campaign.
The suit stems from claims and online posts by the association regarding Hanan’s service as
a firefighter in Fernley.

Among the disputed claims are a post on the North Lyon County Firefighters Association’s
Facebook page that stated Hanan “has NEVER been a firefighter or EMT, paid or volunteer
with NLCFPD. In fact, he applied to be a volunteer and never completed any training ...”
Hanan also claims a Facebook page titled “Vote NO For Ryan Hanan Fernley Mayor” was
created by the union, and that the comments and page harmed his political campaign.

In its answer to the suit, the association admits:

Hanan was voted into membership with the North Lyon County Fire Protection District
as a volunteer member

That he was enrolled in a firefighter one class, although he did not complete training or
certification

That he was issued a pager and turnout gear

“It's completely contrary to their post on Facebook where they said I never attended any
trainings and wasn'’t a firefighter,” Hanan said in an email. “What district issues a pager to a
member who isn't a firefighter? Lies.” -

The association denies that it made any false statements on its Facebook page and claims it
never received a request by Hanan to remove any statements from its page, which Hanan
says he did.
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The association is asking that Hanan’s complaint be dismissed and for reimbursement for all
costs and attorney’s fees.

Hanan’s attorney, Mark Wray of Reno, has also submitted a written complaint to the legal
counsel of the North Lyon Fire Protection District Board against district fire chief Scott
Huntley. The complaint contends Huntley failed to provide Hanan his employee file, did not
discipline his employees and did not address the alleged libel his employees posted.

Huntley is currently the subject of an independent investigation by Reno-based Gladding &
Michel, Inc. The investigation is examining how Huntley uses his time and a vote of no
confidence taken against him by all members of the North Lyon County Firefighters
Association. ' |

“We hope this will be added to the investigation into the chief’s performance and
administration,” Hanan said.

Association President Paul Murphy is on a wildland fire and was unavailable for comment.
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LEADER COURIER

North Lyon Fire must pay to retrieve
deleted emails, court says

™ . Amy Alonzo
y  Reno Gazette-Journal

Published 4:57 p.m. PT Nov. 5, 2019

North Lyon County Fire Protection District must pay for an IT specialist to retrieve deleted
emails regarding Ryan Hanan, according to a court order. District employees had admitted to
deleting various emails, which were public documents under NRS.

A judge at the Third Judicial District Court in Yerington has ordered the district to produce
all emails to or from former Chief Scott Huntley, Office Manager Kasey Miller and other
district administrators regarding Hanan, a Fernley resident, between September 2014 and
October 2015, and January 2018 to present.

In July of 2018, Hanan filed a lawsuit against North Lyon County Firefighters Association
claiming the group libeled him during his campaign for mayor of Fernley. The district’s
firefighters are members of the association, and Hanan claims members of the association
were behind a Facebook post that claimed Hanan was never a firefighter or EMT with North
Lyon, as well as another Facebook page titled “Vote NO For Ryan Hanan Fernley Mayor.”
Hanan ultimately lost his bid for mayor, and he claims the social media posts affected his
campaign. | |

After the posts, Hanan began requesting documents pertaining to his time with the district.
In a July deposition, Miller admitted she deleted emails deemed “unnecessary” from her |
computer, which wasn’t backed up to a server. Those emails included documents pertaining
to Hanan. '

According to Nevada law, public officials are required to save any public document
electronically or on microfilm.

In a call to the district, Miller referred all questions to the district’s attorney, Katherine
Parks. Parks did not reply to emails from the Mason Valley News.
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North Lyon County Fire Protection District is funded by local taxes, consolidated tax

distribution and ambulance fees. In 2018, the district had an operating budget of around $2
million.

Amy Alonzo covers Mason Valley and rural Nevada. See her work right here. Here's how
you can support local journalism.
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COMPROMISE AGREEMENT AND MUTUAL RELEASE

Ryan Hanan (“Hanan’”), North Lyon Firefighters
Association IATFF Local 4547 (“Association”) and Michael
Ochs (“Ochs”), on behalf of themselves and their
affiliates, officers, directors, agents, heirs, successors
and assigns, in consideration of the promises made herein,
agree as follows:

Nature and Effect of Agreement

1. This Agreement consists of a compromise and
settlement of the parties' disputed claims against each
other, and a release given by the parties to each other,
relingquishing all claims, in consideration of the mutual
covenants and conditions in this Agreement. Upon
performance of the covenants set forth in this Agreement;
each of the parties intends to and does hereby extinguish
any and all claims existing or claimed to exist between
them regarding the subject matter of the Action, as that
term is defined below. This Agreement's compromises and
releases are to be construed in the broadest manner
possible. This Agreement is not an admission of liability
or wrongdoing by any party for any purpose.

Background

2. Mr. Hanan asserts claims against the Association
and Mr. Ochs in the Third Judicial District Court for the
County of Lyon, State of Nevada, Case No. 18-Cv-00771,
Dept. I (“Action”).

3. The Association and Mr. Ochs deny Mr. Hanan’s

claims in the Action and raise their own claims.
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Resolution of Dispute

4, The Association shall pay $15,000 by checks
payable to Ryan Hanan and sent to the Law Offices of Mark
Wray, 608 Lander Street, Reno, Nevada 890509 (“Wray
Offices”). The payments shall be made in'consecutive
monthly installments of $5,000 each paid on or before the
14th day of each month until paid in full.

5. Mr. Ochs shall pay $10,000 by checks payable to
Ryan Hanan and sent to the Wray Offices. The payments
shall be made in consecutive monthly installments of
$1,000.00 (One Thousand and 00/100ths Dollars) each paid on
or before the 15th day of each month until paid in full.
Mr. Ochs first installment payment shall be due and payable
on before September 15,-2022.

6. The Association and Mr. Ochs shall execute and
deliver to Wray Offices concurrently with the signing of
this Agreement standard form Cohfessions of Judgment which
shall be held by Wray Offices to secure payment of the
amounts due under this Agreement. The Confessions of
Judgment shall not be filed with the Court unless the payor
defaults on payment and fails to cure the default with five
(5) business days after receipt of a notice of default
emailed to counsel for the defaulting party by Wray Office.

For purpose of notice to Ochs, the email notice shall be

sent to Brad Johnston at bjohnston@shjnevada.com and Kendra

Jepsen at kjepsen@shjnevada.com.
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7. The Association shall post on the Association’s
Facebook page for at least 30 days the following:

“The lawsuit that was filed by Ryan Hanan over Local
4547's Facebook posting about Ryan back in 2018 has been
settled out of court. Without admittihg any fault, Local
4547 regrets the posting that could be read in a way that
overlooks Ryan’s volunteer work and the training he went
through on behalf of the North Lyon County Fire Protection
District to the community of Fernley.”

8. The obligations of the Association and Mr. Ochs
are independent and default by either of them does not
constitute a default by the other.

9. Upon receipt of full performance from the
Association, and separately upon receipt of full
performance from Mr., Ochs, Mr. Hanan shall éause to be
prepared a Stipulation and Order for Dismissal with
Prejudhce, which shall be signed by counsel for each party,
and lodged with tﬁe Court for signature by the assigned
Judge, stating that all claims as to the party that
performed are dismissed, with prejudice, with each party to
bear its own fees and costs, and requesting that any Jjury
fee deposited in the Action be refunded to the party that
deposited it. The Stipulation and Order fof Dismissal with
Prejudice shall be filed withing ten (10) business days of
the execution of this Agreement by all parties and the
Association’s and Ochs’ delivery of the confessions of
judgment to Wray Offices.

Release of Claims
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10. In consideration of the performance of the

|obligations set forth in this Agreement, and upon the

completion of the timely payment of the settlement amounts,
each party, on behalf of itself and its affiliates,
officers, directors, agents, heirs, successors and assigns
releases all claims for injuries, damages, liabilities or
losses Lo each party’s own person and properly, real or
personal, whether those injuries, damages, liabilities or
losses are known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, patent
or latent, which each party may have against each other
party, arising out of or related to the subject matter of
the Action. Even if a party should eventually wish to bring
additional claims, or suffer additional liability or
damages, related to the subject matter of the Action, no
party will be able to make any claims or pursue any
liability or damages that may exist as of the date of this
release but which the party does not know exist, and which,
if known, would materially affect that party’s decision to
execute this release, whether such decision is the result
of ignorance, oversight, error, negligence, or any other
cause,

No Warranties or Representations

11. The undersigned warrant that no promise or
inducement has been offered except as herein set forth; and

further that this Agreement is executed without reliance

upon any inducement, statement or representation of the

person or parties released or their representatives.
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No Assignments of Rights

12, The parties represent that they have not and will
not assign or transfer, to any person or entity, any of the
selttled claims that are the éubject of the Dispute, or any
portion thereof,ror interest therein.

Advice of Attorney

13. Each party warrants and represents that in
executing this Agreement, each party has had the
opportunity to seek legal advice from the attorney of each
party’s choice.

Conditions of Execution

14. Each party acknowledges and warrants that each
party’s execution of this Agreement is free and voluntary,
that the undersigned is of legal age, legally competent to
execute this Agreement.

Execution of Other Documents

15. Each party to this Agreement shall cooperate fully
in the execution of any and all documents and actions that
may be necessary or appropriate to give full force and
effect to the terms and intent of this Agreement.

Attorneys’ Fees

16. If any party is required to employ an attorney to
enforce the.provisions of this Agreement, the party may
recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred to enforce
the provisions of this agreement. This paragraph shall be
applicable to this entire Agreement.

Entire Agreement

17. This Agreement contains the entire agreement






S U s WD

10
11
1z
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

between the parties. This Agreement supersedes any
previous agreements or understandings, and may not be
modified except in a writing signed by all parties.

Execution in Duplicate

.-

18. The parties may execute this agreement by

counterparts and by fax or emailed signatures.

Dated: & — 2 -tozz LA {/J—M

RYAN HANAN

Dated: ¥-3-72p022 NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS
ASSOCIATION IAFF LOCAL 4547

ByZ Yy

sTim Mye

Dated:

MICHAEL OCHS
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Case No. 18-CV-00771
Dept. I , 2022 8U5 10 AR 07
T Uu:= l,:;..i..‘-f_
IN THE THIRD JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF LYON

RYAN HANAN,

Plaintiff,

VS. STIPULATION AND ORDER
FOR DISMISSAL

NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS
ASSOCIATION IAFF LOCAL 4547,
MICHAEL OCHS, aka MIGUEL
OCHACHEZ; and DOES 1-20,

Defendants.

IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED, by and between Plaintiff Ryan
Hanan and Defendants North Lyon Firefighters Association IAFF Local 4547 and
Michael Ochs, by their respective counsel, that this entire action and all claims and
defenses of the parties be dismissed, with prejudice, with each party to bear its own fees
and costs.

IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED that the jury fee deposited by
Attorney for Plaintiff, Mark Wray, on October 10, 2018, be refunded by check payable to
Mark Wray and mailed to the Law Offices of Mark Wray, 608 Lander Street, Reno,

Nevada 89509.
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The undersigned certifies that the foregoing document does not contain the Social

Security number of any person.

DATED: August 8, 2020

DATED: 9/ 7/ zT

DATED: g/f / £t

I
1
/
/
/
1
I
//
I
I
I
I
N
I

LAW OFFICES OF MARK WRAY

" MARK WRAY %\
Attorney for Plaintiff

RYAN HANAN

SIMONS HALL JOHNSTON PC

? e
BRAD M HNSTON

Attorney fof Defendant
MICHAEL OCHS

By: %éé%/ 4 /L/‘;%/I

MICHAEL LANGTON 7
Attorney for Defendant
NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS
ASSOCIATION






w o~ oy R W NN

NN NN N NN R R R P R R e
® O N s W RO W ® AU W N e O

ORDER
The parties having filed their Stipulation for Dismissal,
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that this entire action and all claims and defenses of
the parties be dismissed, with prejudice, with each party to bear its own fees and costs.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the jury fee deposited by Attorney for Plaintiff,
Mark Wray, on October 10, 2018, be refunded by check payable to Mark Wray and
mailed to the Law Offices of Mark Wray, 608 Lander Street, Reno, Nevada 89509.

Dated this 10th day of August 2022.

=z

HON. JOHN P”SCHLEGELMILCH
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE
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10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
(702) 382-0711 FAX: (702) 382-5816
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FILED

Marquis Aurbach

Nick D. Crosby, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 8996 APR 16 073
10001 Park Run Drive TATT 2DA
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 STAL

Telephone: (702) 382-0711

Facsimile: (702) 382-5816

ncrosby@maclaw.com
Attorneys for Respondents

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

STATE OF NEVADA

NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS

ASSOCIATION, INTERNATIONAL é
ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS, LOCAL | Case No.: 2023-0()\\
4547,

Complainant,

VS.

NORTH LYON COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT; JASON NICHOLL, in this official
capacity, and RYAN HANAN, in his official
capacity,

Respondents.

HANAN’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT

Respondent Ryan Hanan (“Hanan”), by and through his attorneys of record, Nick D.
Crosby, Esq. of the law firm of Marquis Aurbach, hereby files his Reply in Support of Motion to
Dismiss the Complaint in the above-captioned matter. This Reply is made and based on the
attached memorandum of points and authorities, the papers and pleadings on file herein and any
oral argument permitted by the Board during a hearing on the Motion.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I THE FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD CAUSES OF ACTION MUST BE
DISMISSED.

In the Motion, Hanan asserted that the First, Second and Third Causes of Action were
completely void of any allegations against Hanan and the Opposition did not identify any

evidence in the pleading to the contrary. Indeed, in the Opposition, the Complainant refers only

Page 1 of 4
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to the Fourth Cause of Action as containing specific allegations against Hanan. Considering the
Complaint does not articulate any specific facts vis a vis Hanan in support of the first three
causes of action, and the Opposition did not cure this defect, the First, Second and Third Cause
of Action should be dismissed to the extent they apply to Hanan.

IL. COMPLAINANT IGNORES TO CLEAR LANGUAGE IN THE STATUTE AND
IMPROPERLY RELIES ON HARVEY.

At the outset, Hanan reiterates the argument that Nevada Revised Statute 288.150(1)
provides a local government employer the right to designate a representative of its choosing for
purposes of collective bargaining, and notes that the Opposition did not dispute the plain
language (or even address it, for that matter). Instead, the Opposition attempts to argue that
Hanan somehow is unqualified to be a member of the: negotiating team because is previously
filed lawsuits against the Complainant.

In support of this argument, the Complainant relies on International Un. of Operating
Engineers v. Cnty of Lyon, Case No. A1-045451, Item No. 240 (1990) (the “Harvey” decision).
The facts of the Harvey decision are markedly different than those at play in the instant matter.
At the outset, Harvey did not address the statutory mandate of Nevada Revised Statute
288.150(1), which clearly provides that a local government employer is permitted to select a
representative of its choosing for purposes of collective bargaining. Second, the subject
respondent in Harvey — Ken Harvey — was found by the Board to have made comments
amounting to a prohibited practice and those comments were made in his capacity as a
councilman and a member of the negotiating team. Id. at pp. 2-3. These comments included
Harvey’s request that the employees appear at a County Commission meeting and advise the
Commission that the employees no longer wished to be represented by the union, that the
employees would receive the same benefits as other non-classified employees and, when his
requests and promises were rejected, Harvey threatened to lay-off County employees as a means
of reimbursement for the fees associated with the negotiations. (Id. at p. 2). The Board’s

adverse findings against Harvey and the County were directly related to the fact the comments
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made by Harvey were found to be in his capacity as a councilman and member of the negotiating
team. (Id. at p. 5).

Here, the complained-of conduct of Hanan did not occur while he was a member of the
negotiating team and certainly not as councilman. Indeed, the evidence offered in opposition to
the Motion stems from actions which occurred well-before Hanan was elected to City Council,
which was in 2022, and the subject lawsuits referenced in the Opposition were brought by Hanan
in his individual capacity. (See Ex. 2 to Compls. Opp.). Thus, the fact Hanan filed lawsuits as
an individual against the Complainant cannot be ignored when comparing the findings in
Harvey. Moreover, the fact Hanan, as an individual, filed a defamation lawsuit against the :
Union does not, in and of itself, somehow result in a finding that the District or Hanan engaged |
in a prohibited labor practice. While the Union contends, and the documents support, that none
of the parties in the defamation lawsuit admitted to liability, it is worth noting that as part of the
settlement, not only did the Union and the other defendant agree to tender a certain amount of
monetary payment, the Union agreed to post a statement that read, in relevant part, “Without
admitting fault, Local 4547 regrets the posting that could be read in a way that overlooks
[Hanan’s] volunteer work and the training he went through on behalf of the North Lyon County
Fire Protection District to the Community of Fernley.” The act of an individual seeking legal
redress for comments he believed were defamatory cannot automatically result in the conclusion
that the person is incapable of bargaining in good faith as a member of a negotiating team. In
fact, it is important to note that the Complainant still has not identified any conduct on the part of

Hanan since he became a member of the negotiating team that would even remotely arise to

prohibited conduct.
1
1
1
1
"
"
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1. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Hanan respectfully requests the Board dismiss the Complaint

as it applies to Hanan, as the Complaint fails to allege a cognizable claim under Nevada Revised

Statute chapter 288 and, in fact, serves as prima facie evidence of a prohibited practice on the |

part of the Union.
Dated this 26th day of April, 2023.

MARQUIS AURBACH

By:_ s/ Nick D. Crosby
Nick D. Crosby, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8996
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Attorneys for Respondents

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING
I hereby certify that on the 26th day of April, 2023, I served a copy of the foregoing
HANAN’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT upon |

|
each of the parties by depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope in the United States |

Mail, Las Vegas, Nevada, First-Class Postage fully prepaid, and addressed to:
Thomas J. Donaldson, Esq.
Dyer Lawrence, LLP
2805 Mountain Street
Carson District, NV 89703

and that there is a regular communication by mail between the place of mailing and the place(s)

so addressed.

s/Sherri Mong
An employee of Marquis Aurbach
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Marquis Aurbach

Nick D. Crosby, Esq. FILED
Nevada Bar No. 8996 March 17, 2023
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 EMRB
Telephone: (702) 382-0711 R
Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 10:43 a.m.
ncrosby@maclaw.com

Attorneys for Complainant
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD
STATE OF NEVADA

NORTH LYON COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT
Case No.: 2023-007

Complainant,

VS.

NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS
ASSOCIATION IAFF LOCAL 4547,

Respondent.

COMPLAINT

Complainant, the North Lyon County Fire Protection District, by and though its counsel
of record, Nick D. Crosby, Esq., of the law firm of Marquis Aurbach, hereby complains and
alleges as follows:

THE PARTIES

1. The North Lyon County Fire Protection District (“District”) is a local government
employer as defined in Nevada Revised Statute 288.060.

2. The District’s address is 195 E. Main Street, Fernley, Nevada 89408 and its phone
number is 775-575-3310.

3. Jason Nicholl is the Fire Chief for the District.

4. North Lyon Firefighters Association IAFF Local 4547 (“Union”) is an employee
organization as defined in Nevada Revised Statute and the bargaining agent, as defined in

Nevada Revised Statute 288.133, for the bargaining unit comprised of all full-time non-
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supervisory, supervisory and emergency support services employees engaged in fire prevention,
suppression, and fire equipment/apparatus repair and maintenance in the District.

5. The District and the Union are parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement
(“CBA”), negotiated pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute chapter 288, effective July 1, 2020
through June 30, 2023.

STATEMENT OF FACTS CONSTITUTING A PROHIBITED PRACTICE

6. On or about October 13, 2022, the District notified the Union of its intent to
negotiate certain articles in the CBA.

7. On January 31, 2023, the District received the Union’s notice of its intent to
negotiate certain articles in the CBA with proposed changes to identified articles/issues.

8. On January 31, 2023, the District acknowledged receipt of the Union’s
correspondence regarding its intent to negotiate, identified the articles which were mutually
agreed to be negotiated, those articles that were not mutually agreed to be opened for
negotiations, and encouraged the Union to provide dates for commencement of negotiations.
Additionally, the District provided its proposed changes to articles.

0. The following day, February 1, 2023, Bill Snyder (“Snyder”) as a member of the
Union’s negotiating team, sent an email to Nicholl (the District’s lead negotiator) with available
dates for negotiations.

10.  Nicholl responded the same day confirming his availability on four of the eight
days offered by Snyder. Snyder responded, “Sounds good, Chief.”

11. On February 4, 2023, Nicholl sent an email to Snyder advising Snyder that he had
not received confirmation from Nicholl about the negotiation dates and requested that Snyder
confirm when the parties could meet to negotiate, as one of the previously available dates was no
longer available.

12. It appears there was a miscommunication between the parties, as Snyder
responded on February 4, 2023 via email that the Union had accepted the four dates Nicholl
identified, reiterated those dates were still available and agreed to remove the no longer available

date.
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13. On February 6, 2023, the parties met to discuss rules for the negotiations. The
parties discussed rules at length and it was determined the Union would draft the rules as
discussed and present the same at the next meeting, which was to be February 9, 2023. Present
for this meeting was, inter alia, Ryan Hanan (“Hanan”) who was a member of the District’s
negotiating team.

14. On February 7, 2023, Nicholl sent an email to the Union’s negotiating team,
advising that he created a shared folder for the efficient transfer of documents during the
negotiations.

15. The same day, Snyder sent a letter to Nicholl informing him that the Union
needed to cancel the February 9 negotiation meeting. Snyder confirmed, however, that the
February 10, 2023 negotiation date would proceed.

16. On February 7, 2023, counsel for Union’s President Jose Mendoza (“Mendoza™)
in regard to an unrelated matter, raised an issue with Hanan being a member of the District’s
negotiating team and alleged that his role on the negotiating team, somehow, operated as
interference with bargaining process because Hanan had a prior lawsuit against the Union.

17. On February 8, 2023, Nicholl sent Snyder a letter with the subject “Negotiation
interference.” In the letter, Nicholl brought to the attention of Snyder that Nicholl had learned
that Mendoza approached Hanan in the parking lot following the February 6, 2023 negotiation
meeting and demanded to know why Hanan was present for the meeting. Hanan advised
Mendoza that he was part of the District’s negotiating team, at which point Mendoza allegedly
began to ask questions about the negotiations and complained to Hanan that Mendoza only
earned $18.00/hour. Nicholl’s letter stated that Mendoza’s attempts to elicit information
concerning negotiations and providing inaccurate information to a negotiator could be viewed as
an attempt to interfere with the negotiation process and/or bad faith negotiations.

18. When the parties met again on February 10, 2023 to negotiate, a new lead
negotiator for the Union, Jose Espinoza (“Espinoza”) was introduced and appeared via Zoom.
During this meeting the Union demanded the removal of Hanan from the District’s negotiating

team, among other demands.
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19. On February 13, 2023, Nicholl sent an email to Snyder asking for Espinoza’s
contact information and also stated he would like to schedule a new date for negotiations.

20. Later that day, Nicholl received the contact information for Espinoza, but the
Union did not provide any available dates for negotiations.

21. On February 13, 2023, Nicholl then sent an email to Espinoza asking for available
dates for negotiations.

22. Responding the following day, February 14, 2023, Espinoza stated it was his
understanding that the parties held the negotiation process in abeyance following the February
10, 2023 meeting, “until such time that there was a determination made by the EMRB and/or
possibly a grievance decision” regarding, inter alia, “the inclusion of Fernley City Counsel
person, Ryan Hanan, on the district’s negotiating team.” Espinoza then stated that he interpreted
Nicholl’s request for negotiating dates to mean that the District was agreeing to the demands of
the Union, to include the removal of Hanan from the negotiating team.

23. On February 15, 2023, counsel for the Union sent an email to Fernley City
Attorney Brandi Jensen (“Jensen’) which stated counsel would be filing an unfair labor practice
complaint with the Employee Management Relations Board (“EMRB”) regarding Nicholl’s
“antics” and a threat to add the City of Fernley and Hanan if “he” (presumably Hanan)
“continues to interfere with the parties’ negotiations.”

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION (NRS 288.270(2)(b))

24, The District repeats and realleges its prior allegation as though fully set forth
herein.

25.  Nevada Revised Statute 288.150(1) states:

NRS 288.150 Negotiations by employer with recognized employee

organization: Subjects of mandatory bargaining; matters reserved to

employer without negotiation; reopening of collective bargaining agreement
during period of fiscal emergency; termination or reassignment of employees

of certain schools.

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 6 and NRS 354.6241,
every local government employer shall negotiate in good faith through
one or more representatives of its own choosing concerning the

mandatory subjects of bargaining set forth in subsection 2 with the
designated representatives of the recognized employee organization, if
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any, for each bargaining unit among its employees. If either party so
requests, agreements reached must be reduced to writing.

26. The plain language of Nevada Revised Statute 288.150(1) makes clear it is the
right of the local government employer to select one or more representative of its choosing for
purposes of negotiating mandatory subjects of bargaining.

27.  Nevada Revised Statute 288.270(2)(b) states it is a prohibited practice for an
employee organization, or its designated agent, to willfully “[r]effuse to bargain collectively in
good faith with the local government employer, if it is an exclusive representative.

28. The District had the statutory right to select Hanan to be one of its representatives
for collective bargaining.

29. There is no statutory prohibition in chapter 288 of Nevada Revised Statutes that
prevents Hanan from being a member of the District’s negotiating team.

30. The Union committed and continues to engage in prohibited practices by refusing
to collectively bargaining over mandatory subjects of bargaining because of Hanan’s
participation on the District’s negotiating team.

31. Further, the Union committed a prohibited practice by interfering with the
District’s exercise of its rights under Nevada Revised Statute 288.150(1) by demanding Hanan
be removed from the District’s negotiating team.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION (NRS 288.270(2)(c))

32. The District repeats and realleges its prior allegation as though fully set forth
herein.

33.  Nevada Revised Statute 288.270(2)(c) states it is a prohibited practice for an
employee organization, or its designated agent, to willfully “[d]iscriminate because of ...
political or personal reasons or affiliations.”

34. The Union violated Nevada Revised Statute 288.270(2)(C) by discriminating
against the District and its negotiating team for political or personal reasons when it refused to
participate in good faith bargaining because of its involvement in a prior, unrelated lawsuit filed

against the Union by Hanan.
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WHEREFORE, the District requests the Board:

1. Issue findings that one or more prohibited practices were committed by the Union;

2. Issue findings that the Union refused to bargain collectively with the District in
violation of Nevada Revised Statute 288.270(2)(b);

3. Issue findings that the Union violated Nevada Revised Statute 288.270(2)(c) by
discriminating against the District and/or its negotiating team for political or personal
reasons;

4. Issue an order directing the Union and its representatives to cease and desist its
prohibited practices;

5. Issue an order directing the Union to bargain in good faith over mandatory subjects of
bargaining and consistent with the parties” CBA;

6. Award the District its reasonable attorneys fees and costs; and

7. Enter any additional and further relief the Board deems necessary and proper.

Dated this 17th day of March, 2023.

MARQUIS AURBACH

By s/ Nick D. Crosby
Nick D. Crosby, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8996
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Attorney(s) for Complainant
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CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

I hereby certify that on the 17th day of March, 2023, I served a copy of the foregoing
COMPLAINT upon each of the parties by depositing a copy of the same in a sealed envelope in
the United States Mail, Certified Mail, Las Vegas, Nevada, First-Class Postage fully prepaid, and
addressed to:

North Lyon County Firefighters Association
Local 4547

P.O.Box 11
Fernley, Nevada 89408

and that there is a regular communication by mail between the place of mailing and the place(s)

so addressed.

/s/ Rosie Wesp
an employee of Marquis Aurbach
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BEFORE THE STATE OF NEVADA GOVERNMENT
EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

NORTH LYON COUNTY FIRE )
PROTECTION DISTRICT, ) Case No. 2023-07
)
Complainant, )
v g FILED
' ) April 10, 2023
NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS ) State of Nevada
ASSOCIATION, IAFF LOCAL 4547, ) E.M.R.B.
) 2:36 p.m.
Respondent. )
/
ANSWER

COMES NOW Respondent NORTH LYON FIREFIGHTERS ASSOCIATION, IAFF
LOCAL 4547 (“Local 4547”), and pursuant to NAC 288.220 hereby answers the Complaint filed
herein by Complainant NORTH LYON COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT (“District”),
as follows:

1. Answering the introductory paragraph of the Complaint, Local 4547 is without
sufficient knowledge and information to admit or deny said allegations and therefore denies all of
the allegations in the introductory paragraph.

8 Answering paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits the
allegations in paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5.

3 Answering paragraph 6 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that it received
correspondence from the District in October, 2022, which speaks for itself and, therefore, denies all
other allegations in paragraph 6.

4. Answering paragraph 7 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that it sent a letter dated
January 31, 2023, to the District, which speaks for itself and, therefore, denies all other allegations
in paragraph 7.

5. Answering paragraph 8 of the Complaint, Local 4547 affirmatively avers that after
the District’s Fire Chief Jason Nicholl (“Chief Nicholl”) received Local 4547's letter dated
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January 31,2023, and verbally assaulted Local 4547 President Captain Joseph Mendoza (“President
Mendoza”) at Fire Station #61 (see EMRB Case No. 2023-006), Local 4547 admits receiving a letter
dated January 31, 2023, from the District, which speaks for itself and, therefore, denies all other
allegations in paragraph 8. |

6. Answering paragraph 9 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits the allegations in
paragraph 9.

7. Answering paragraph 10 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits to the email exchange
between Chief Nicholl and Local 4547's bargaining team member Captain Bill Snyder (“Captain
Snyder”) on or about February 1, 2023, and affirmatively avers that Captain Snyder’s response was
a confirmation of the dates that Chief Nicholl was available.

8. Answering paragraphs 11 and 12 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that Chief
Nicholl initiated an email exchange with Captain Snyder on or about Saturday, February 4, 2023,
and affirmatively avers that Chief Nicholl also replied to Captain Snyder with the following
unprofessional text messages:

[The dates were] not confirmed. I need confirmation as there are more things that I
do than just your needs.

B[y]T[he]W[ay]. It’s after 1700 [hours]. And the weekend. Please do not ever
contact me after hours unless it’s an emergency.

9. Answering paragraph 13 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that the parties
conducted their first bargaining session on February 6, 2023, and that City of Fernley Councilman
Ryan Hanan (“Councilman Hanan”) was present as a member of the District’s negotiating team, but
denies the remainder of the allegations in paragraph 13.

10.  Answering paragraph 14 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that Chief Nicholl sent
an email dated February 7, 2023, which speaks for itself and, therefore, denies all other allegations
in paragraph 14.

11.  Answering paragraph 15 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that Captain Snyder
sent a letter dated February 7, 2023, which speaks for itself and, therefore, denies all other
allegations in paragraph 15.
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12.  Answering paragraph 16 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that undersigned
counsel sent an email dated February 7, 2023, to Fernley City Attorney Brandi Jensen, which speaks
for itself and, therefore, denies all other allegations in paragraph 16, including that
President Mendoza’s name is “Jose Mendoza.”

13.  Answering paragraph 17 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that Chief Nicholl sent
a letter dated February 8, 2023, which speaks for itself and, therefore, denies all other allegations in
paragraph 17, including the content of the letter, but affirmatively avers that Chief Nicholl repeatedly
referred to “Councilman Hanan” in the letter.

14.  Answering paragraph 18 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that the parties
conducted their second bargaining session on February 10, 2023, with Joe (“Jose”) Espinoza as
Local 4547's lead negotiator and affirmatively avers that Mr. Espinoza raised three (3) issues that
the parties were unable to resolve that day: 1) the District’s position that only those articles that were
mutually agreed to by the parties, were properly opened for negotiations; 2) the District's decision
to record the negotiation sessions without mutual agreement; and 3) the inclusion of Fernley
Councilman Hanan on the District's negotiating team.

15.  Answering paragraphs 19, 20 and 21 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits to the
email messages on February 13, 2023, which speak for themselves and, therefore, denies all other
allegations in paragraphs 19, 20 and 21.

16.  Answering paragraph 22 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that Mr. Espinoza sent
an email message dated February 14, 2023, which speaks for itself and, therefore denies all other
allegations in paragraph 22.

17.  Answering paragraph 23 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that undersigned
counsel sent an email message dated February 15,2023, which speaks for itself and, therefore, denies
all other allegations in paragraph 23. Further, Local 4547 affirmatively avers that Local 4547 did
file a complaint with the EMRB against the District, Chief Nicholl and Councilman Hanan on
March 15, 2023, in Case No. 2023-006.

18.  Answering paragraphs 24 and 32 of the Complaint, Local 4547 repeats and reasserts

its responses to the paragraphs identified therein.
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19.  Answering paragraph 25 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that the text of
NRS 288.150(1) speaks for itself.

20.  Answering paragraph 26 of the Complaint, Local 4547 denies the allegations in
paragraph 26.

21.  Answering paragraph 27 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that the text of
NRS 288.270(2)(b) speaks for itself.

22.  Answering paragraphs 28, 29, 30 and 31 of the Complaint, Local 4547 denies the
allegations in paragraphs 28, 29, 30 and 31.

23.  Answering paragraph 33 of the Complaint, Local 4547 admits that the text of
NRS 288.270(2)(c) speaks for itself.

24.  Answering paragraph 34 of the Complaint, Local 4547 denies the allegations in
paragraph 34.

25.  Anyallegationin the Complaint not specifically responded to herein is hereby denied.

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES
A. The Complaint fails to state any claim against Local 4547 upon which relief can be
granted.
B. The Complaint is barred due to the District’s failure to exhaust its contractual
remedies.
e The District is estopped from asserting the claims against Local 4547 contained in

the Complaint.
D. The District has waived the claims asserted against Local 4547 in the Complaint.
B Any alleged misconduct on the part of Local 4547 is excused by the conduct of the
District (“Doctrine of Unclean Hands™).
F. All of the District’s causes of action are moot.
G. Any and all affirmative defenses that the District may assert against Local 4547.
H. Local 4547 reserves the right to amend its Answer to allege affirmative defenses if

subsequently discovered.
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THEREFORE, Local 4547 requests an Order from the EMRB that:

a. Finds that Local 4547 did not commit any labor practice prohibited by
NRS Chapter 288 and, accordingly, dismiss the Complaint with prejudice;

b. Awards Local 4547 reasonable attorney's fees and costs attributable to defending the
Complaint; and,

£ Grants to Local 4547 such other and further relief as may be necessary and
appropriate.

DATED this 10™ day of April, 2023.

Zliomas J. Donaldson

Nevada State Bar No. 5283

2805 Mountain Street

Carson District, Nevada 89703

Telephone: (775) 885-1896

Facsimile: (775) 885-8728

Attorneys for Respondent IAFF Local 4547
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to NAC 288.200(2), I certify that  am an employee of DYER LAWRENCE, LLP,
and that on the 10™ day of April, 2023, I caused to be deposited for mailing, postage prepaid, and

sent via electronic mail a true and correct copy of the within ANSWER addressed to:

Nick D. Crosby, Esq.
Marquis Aurbach
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, NV 89145
ncrosby@maclaw.com
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Electronically Filed
5/18/2023 11:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLE OF THE CO

JEFFREY F. ALLEN, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 9495

857 N. Eastern Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Phone: (702) 595-1127 CASE NO: A-23-870895-

Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com Department

Attorney for Petitioners,
Las Vegas City Employees’ Association

and Julie Terry
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
% %k ok %
LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES’ ) CASE NO.:
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY )
)
Petitioners, ) DEPT. NO.:

)

VS. )

)

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE- )
MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD, ) PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW

THE CITY OF LAS VEGAS, MARC )

BROOKS, JODY GLEED AND )

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF )

FIREFIGHTERS, LOCAL 1285 )

)

Respondents. )

)

)

)

COMES NOW, Petitioner Las Vegas City Employees’ Association (“LVCEA”) and Julie
Terry (“Terry”), by and through their counsel, Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq., and hereby files the instant
petition for Judicial Review of Respondent, Government Employee-Management Relations
Board’s (“EMRB”) Order on Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss For Failure to Exhaust
Contractual Remedies and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings entered on April 26, 2023.
This Petition for Judicial Review is made and based upon NRS §233B.130, et. seq., and the
following:

| At all relevant times herein, the LVCEA was and is a Nevada non-profit

00

corporation, authorized and doing business in the County of Clark, State of Nevada and is an

Case Number: A-23-870895-J





10

1

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

employee organization within the meaning of NRS §288.040.

2, At all relevant times herein, the EMRB is an administrative agency created by the
State of Nevada to administer and enforce the Government Employee-Management Relations
Act codified within Chapter 288 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. As such, its final decisions are
subject to a Petition for Judicial Review to this Court under the Nevada Administrative
Procedure Act set forth in Chapter 233B of the Nevada Revised Statutes.

3. At all times relevant herein, the City of Las Vegas (“City”’) was and is a local
government employer within the meaning of NRS §288.060.

4, Terry is an individual who, at all relevant times was employed by the City as a
Communications Specialist. Consequently, at all relevant times, Terry was a local government
employee within the meaning of NRS §288.050.

3: At all times relevant herein, the City has recognized the LVCEA as the exclusive
bargaining agent and employee organization for classified employees of the City.

6. At all relevant times herein, Respondent Marc Brooks (“Brooks™) was and is an
individual, residing in the County of Clark, State of Nevada and has been employed by the City
as an Equipment Operator. Consequently, at all relevant times, Brooks was a local government
employee within the meaning of NRS §288.050. Brooks is not a Petitioner in the instant Petition
for Judicial Review and hence is being named as a Respondent only because NRS
§233B.130(2)(a) requires that all parties to the underlying administrative action be named as
parties herein. It is anticipated that Brooks will not participate in the Petition for Judicial
Review.

7. At all relevant times herein, Respondent Jody Gleed (“Gleed™) was and is an
individual, residing in the County of Clark, State of Nevada and had been employed by the City
as an Irrigation Systems Repairer. Consequently, at all relevant times, Gleed was a local
government employee within the meaning of NRS §288.050. Gleed is not a Petitioner in the
instant Petition for Judicial Review and hence is being named as a Respondent only because
NRS §233B.130(2)(a) requires that all parties to the underlying administrative action be named

as parties herein. It is anticipated that Gleed will not participate in the Petition for Judicial
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Review.

8. At all relevant times herein, the International Association of Firefighters, Local
1285 (“IAFF Local 1285") was and is a Nevada non-profit corporation, authorized and doing
business in the County of Clark, State of Nevada and is an employee organization within the
meaning of NRS §288.040. [AFF Local 1285 is not a Petitioner in the instant Petition for
Judicial Review and hence is being named as a Respondent only because NRS §233B.130(2)(a)
requires that all parties to the underlying administrative action be named as parties herein. It is
anticipated that IAFF Local 1285 will not participate in the Petition for Judicial Review.

9. At all times relevant herein, the LVCEA and the City have been parties to a series
of Collective Bargaining Agreements (“CBA”), which were effective at all times from July 1,
2020 through the present date. Further, that at all times relevant herein, Terry was a member of
the bargaining unit represented by the LVCEA and covered by the CBA.

10.  The CBA contains an exhaustive set of provisions pertaining to the disciplinary
process that applies to the City and LVCEA represented employees. In particular, in order for an
LVCEA represented employee such as Terry to be removed from work without pay (ie:
suspended) or terminated, the City is required to provide notice of an investigation to the
employee, must specify the nature of the charges stated against the employee, must provide the
employee with a pre-disciplinary hearing, must follow the principles of progressive discipline
and must have just cause to impose discipline. The CBA does not allow the City to suspend an
employee without pay or terminate their employment prior to the completion of the disciplinary
process and, again, even then only if the City has just cause to impose such discipline.

11.  Nothing in the CBA permits the City to require an employee to attend
psychological counseling as a condition of employment. Moreover, nothing in the CBA gives
the City or a third party hired by the City the right to unilaterally determine that an employee is
not psychologically fit for duty and on that basis force an employee to burn through their accrued
paid leave, force an employee into an unpaid leave status and/or terminate the employee’s
employment.

12. On or about February 19, 2021, while Terry was off-duty at her home, she had a
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telephone conversation with a colleague, City Marshal Sam Hansen, during which she discussed
her emotional well-being. In response to Marshal Hansen’s query, she advised him that she had
contemplated suicide. She had not taken any steps towards actually committing the act, but she
was extremely distressed, in part due to her mother’s recent passing as well as the fact that she
was present at the Harvest Festival massacre in Las Vegas on October 1, 2017. Marshal Hansen
was concerned that Terry might actually commit suicide and so he reported his conversation with
Terry to his supervisor, Sergeant John Burdette. Sgt. Burdette relayed the information to Terry’s
supervisor, Communication Specialist Supervisor Teresa Skipalis. Skipalis contacted the
Boulder City Police Department who responded to Terry’s residence that day. After speaking
with Terry, the police officers on scene “Legal 2000'd” Terry, meaning that they involuntarily
had her committed for observation at a mental health clinic. Terry was taken to Spring Mountain
Treatment Center where she remained for three days. On or about February 22, 2021, the
physicians released Terry, concluding that she was not a threat to herself (or anyone else). Terry
was ready, willing, able and eager to return to work. She has been ready, willing and able to
perform her regular job duties at all relevant times herein.

13. On or about February 24, 2021, the City placed Terry on paid administrative leave
and insisted that she submit to a psychiatric fitness for duty evaluation. The City hired Mark
Short (“Short™) of Integrated Psychological Solutions to perform the psychological evaluation of
Terry. Terry met with Short on February 25, 2021. After meeting with Short and being
subjected to a battery of psychological tests, Short determined that Terry was fit for duty and
could return to work immediately. In fact, Short told Terry that he was shocked that she was
involuntarily confined given that she never took any steps to commit suicide. Short’s findings
were detailed in a report dated February 26, 2021. That same day, City Human Resources
Analyst Lori Petsco (“Petsco™) contacted Terry and advised her that she could return to work on
her next scheduled work day.

14.  Terry returned to her regular work shift on or about February 27, 2021 and
completed three shifts without incident over the course of the next week.

15.  City management was dissatisfied with Short’s conclusion that Terry was fit for
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duty. City Human Resources Administrator Rick Hunt (“Hunt™) and Petsco began to conspire to
find a way to convince Short to reassess Terry and to reverse his opinion that she was
psychologically fit for duty. On March 8, 2021 Hunt sent an email to Short’s colleague,
psychologist Bonnie Brown (“Brown”) in which he claimed that Terry had lied about various
matters, had manipulated the results of psychological examinations, regularly had melt-downs at
work and would scream and cry and slap herself in the face at work. Many of the assertions in
Hunt’s email were uncorroborated, one-sided and false. On March 16, 2021, Hunt forwarded to
Brown a four page memo created by Petsco which was replete with more one-sided,
uncorroborated and false information about Terry that placed her in the worst possible light.

16.  Brown and Short agreed to reevaluate Terry based on the negative information
provided by Hunt and Petsco. Terry met with Short again on March 16, 2021. On March 22,
2021, Short reversed his earlier opinion rendered just a month prior and claimed that Terry was
not fit for duty. Based on the “collaborative data” conveyed to him by City management, Short
implied that Terry was a theat to others despite the fact that she had never been accused of
physically touching anyone in an aggressive or unwanted way in her life. Short opined that Terry
needed to obtain psychological counseling and that she be reevaluated in three to six months to
assess whether “‘she made sufficient progress to safely return to work.”

17. As a result of Short’s professed reversal of opinion on Terry’s mental health, the
City refused to allow Terry back to duty and instead essentially suspended her without pay. The
City forced Terry to burn through her accrued annual leave, sick leave and TILO (additional
leave earned in lieu of overtime pay). When Terry exhausted her accrued paid leave, the City
forced Terry into Leave Without Pay status. The City’s removal of Terry from work, its forcible
burning of Terry’s paid accrued leave and its subsequent placement of Terry in an unpaid status
were all done outside of the bargained for disciplinary process specified in the CBA. Moreover,
there was no contractual basis within the CBA for the City’s actions.

18.  In or about late March 2021, Terry sought counseling from mental health
counselor Trina Robinson (“Robinson™). For several months thereafter, Terry had obtained

counseling from Robinson nearly every week. Robinson issued a report dated July 12, 2021 in
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which she opined that Terry was fit for duty and that it was safe to return her to work in her full
capacity. This report was communicated to Short.

19. Pursuant to the City’s demand, on June 29, 2021, Terry returned to Short for a
third assessment. On July 15, 2021, Short issued a third report in which he continued to insist
that Terry was a potential threat to others and that she was not psychologically fit for duty. Short
disregarded Robinson’s opinion that Terry was fit for duty despite the fact that Robinson was her
treating physician and had treated her for years. Short purported to justify disregarding
Robinson’s opinion based on his assertion that Robinson wasn’t privy to the negative
information about Terry provided to Short by the City. Of course, this information from the City
was completely unobjective, dominated by hearsay and largely false but Short apparently blindly
accepted this information as being truthful and accurate.

20.  In short, the City bought Short’s opinion and he shamelessly gave the City exactly
what it paid for. Based on Short’s purchased opinion, the City continued to refuse to allow Terry
to return to work and kept Terry in an unpaid status.

21.  OnlJuly 28, 2021, the City sent Terry a Notice of Separation. This Notice stated
that because Terry had been in an unpaid status for 90 days and still supposedly wasn’t able to
return to work, she was being separated pursuant to Section 17.6.8 of the CBA.

22.  OnJuly 29, 2021, Terry filed a grievance contesting her termination, the City’s
refusal to allow her to work and the City’s refusal to pay her any wages or benefits. Terry’s
grievance was based on the City’s failure to adhere to its contractual obligations under the CBA.

23. On August 5, 2021, Terry and the LVCEA filed a Prohibited Labor Practice
Complaint against the City with the EMRB. The Prohibited Labor Practice Complaint alleged
that the City violated NRS §288.270(1) by implementing a unilateral change to multiple
mandatory subjects of bargaining without first negotiating with the LVCEA regarding same.
Specifically, the City’s new fitness for duty process (in which it removes employees from work
and discontinues all pay and benefits based on a failed fitness for duty evaluation) directly
impacts the mandatory subjects of bargaining of wages, leave time, hours of work and

disciplinary procedures.
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24. Following the filing of Terry’s grievance, the City retracted Terry’s separation and
placed her back in an unpaid status. Since then and, upon information and belief, through the
present date, Terry technically has remained an employee of the City. However, Terry has
received no wages or monetary benefits from the City since April of 2021.

25.  The City denied Terry’s grievance and so the LVCEA demanded that the matter
be submitted to arbitration pursuant to the grievance procedures specified in the CBA.

26.  On June 28, 2021, the City wrongfully refused to allow IAFF represented
employee David Lewis (“Lewis”) to work in his regular capacity as a Firefighter and forced him
to burn through his accrued paid leave based on an unsubstantiated opinion of its agent that
Lewis was unfit for duty. Lewis was fit for duty at all times. The City did not follow the
bargained for disciplinary process when it refused to allow Lewis to work and forced him to burn
through his accrued paid leave and its actions were not authorized by the Non-Supervisor
Collective Bargaining Agreement between the IAFF and the City. On July 6, 2021, Lewis filed a
grievance contesting the City’s actions. The City denied Lewis’ grievance.

27.  OnlJuly 9, 2021, the City wrongfully refused to allow Brooks to work and forced
him to burn through his accrued paid leave based on an unsubstantiated opinion of its agent that
Brooks was unfit for duty. Brooks was fit for duty at all times. The City did not follow the
bargained for disciplinary process when it refused to allow Brooks to work and forced him to
burn through his accrued paid leave and its actions were not authorized by the CBA. On August
5, 2021, Brooks filed a grievance contesting the City’s actions. The City denied Brooks’
grievance.

28.  OnlJuly 27, 2021, the City wrongfully refused to allow Gleed to work and placed
him on leave without pay based on an unsubstantiated opinion of its agent that Gleed was unfit
for duty. Gleed was fit for duty at all times. The City did not follow the bargained for
disciplinary process when it placed Gleed on leave without pay and its actions were not
authorized by the CBA. On August 12, 2021, Gleed filed a grievance contesting the City’s
actions. The City denied Gleed’s grievance.

29. On September 16, 2021, the LVCEA and Brooks filed a Prohibited Labor
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Practices Complaint against the City with the EMRB. Said Prohibited Practices Complaint
alleged that the City violated §288.270(1) by implementing its new fitness for duty process
without first negotiating with the LVCEA.

30.  Also on September 16, 2021, the LVCEA and Gleed filed a Prohibited Labor
Practices Complaint against the City with the EMRB. Said Prohibited Practices Complaint
alleged that the City violated §288.270(1) by implementing its new fitness for duty process
without first negotiating with the LVCEA.

31, On September 23, 2021, the IAFF and Lewis filed a Prohibited Labor Practices
Complaint against the City with the EMRB. Said Prohibited Practices Complaint alleged that the
City violated §288.270(1) by implementing its new fitness for duty process without first
negotiating with the IAFF. As Lewis subsequently decided that he did not wish to participate in
any litigation against the City, on October 4, 2021, the IAFF filed a First Amended Prohibited
Labor Practices Complaint that removed Lewis as a Complainant.

32. On December 9, 2021, the EMRB consolidated the four Prohibited Labor
Practices Complaints that had been filed against the City (“Consolidated EMRB Action™).

33. On January 20, 2022, the EMRB entered an Order invoking the “limited deferral
doctrine™ to stay the Consolidated EMRB Action until the underlying grievances filed by Terry,
Gleed, Brooks and Lewis were resolved.

34.  The grievances submitted by the Brooks and Gleed were not submitted to
arbitration because it would not have been a prudent use of membership dues given the limited
amount of money in controversy and because the LVCEA hoped that the EMRB would resolve
the related Prohibited Labor Practices Complaints on their merits. The grievance submitted by
Lewis was not submitted to arbitration because Lewis declined to participate in any further
litigation of his claim. Upon information and belief, because Lewis agreed not to proceed to
arbitration on his grievance, and without advising the IAFF, the City ultimately restored all of the
paid accrued leave it had initially taken from Lewis.

35.  The arbitrator selected for the arbitration of Terry’s grievance was Jonathan

Monet (“Monet™). Monet issued his Arbitrator’s Findings and Award on August 11, 2022.
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Monet ruled in favor of the City and denied Terry’s grievance.

36.  Monet’s decision was and is wholly inconsistent with the Government Employee-
Management Relations Act because it would allow the City to make an incredibly self-serving
unilateral change to mandatory subjects of bargaining in violation of NRS §288.270(1). Monet
acknowledged in his decision that the LVCEA and the City had never negotiated a new fitness
for duty process that would abrogate the bargained for disciplinary process. Yet he permitted the
City to implement it and to remove Terry from work and eliminate her wages and benefits based
on it. Monet’s decision hinted that a single provision in the CBA allowed the City to place Terry
on Leave Without Pay once she ran out of accrued paid leave. However, Monet’s decision failed
to explain how the City had the contractual authority to refuse to allow Terry to work in the first
place. Similarly, the decision failed to explain how the City had the contractual authority to force
Terry to burn through her accrued paid leave. Bereft of any analysis on these critical matters, it
appears Monet simply concluded that the City could impose its will simply by virtue of being
Terry’s employer.

37.  On October 14, 2022, the EMRB entered an Order lifting the stay on the
Consolidated EMRB Action.

38. On November 3, 2022, the City filed a Motion to Dismiss For Failure to Exhaust
Contractual Remedies and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings for the Consolidated
EMRB Action. On November 17, 2022, the LVCEA, IAFF, Terry, Gleed and Brooks filed an
Opposition to the City’s Motion to Defer in the Terry matter and an Opposition to the City’s
Motion to Dismiss Gleed’s, Brook’s and IAFF’s Prohibited Labor Practices Complaints. On
December 8, 2022, the City filed a Reply to the Opposition to the Motion to Defer and a Reply to
the Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss. On March 21, 2023, the EMRB allowed oral argument
on the City’s motions.

39. On April 26, 2023, the EMRB entered an Order on Respondent’s Motion to
Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust Contractual Remedies and Motion to Defer to Arbitration
Proceedings. This Order reflected that the EMRB granted the City’s Motion to Dismiss the
Prohibited Labor Practices Complaints filed by the LVCEA, Brooks, Gleed and the IAFF. This
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Order also reflected that the EMRB granted the City’s Motion to Defer to the arbitrator in the
Terry matter which disposed of Terry’s Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint without a hearing
on the merits.

40.  The LVCEA and Terry hereby seeks Judicial Review of the portion of the
EMRB?’s Order on Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust Contractual Remedies
and Motion to Defer to Arbitration Proceedings that disposed of Terry’s Prohibited Labor
Practice Complaint because it was made in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions, in
excess of the statutory authority of the agency, affected by other error of law, clearly erroneous in
view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record and/or arbitrary or
capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion.

WHEREFORE the LVCEA and Terry seek Judicial Review of the decision of the EMRB,
and request relief as follows:

I That this Honorable Court enter an Order reversing the EMRB’s decision to grant

the City’s Motion to Defer to Arbitration in the Terry matter;

2. That this Honorable Court enter an Order mandating that the EMRB conduct a

full hearing to determine the merits of the Prohibited Labor Practices Complaint
filed by the LVCEA and Terry against the City;

3. For such other and further relief as this Honorable Court may deem appropriate.

Dated: May 18, 2023 @ZL\

By:
JEFFREY F. ALLEN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 9495
Attorneys for Petitioners,
Las Vegas City Employees’ Association
and Julie Terry

10
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Electronically Filed
5/24/2023 9:35 AM
Steven D. Grierson

STAT CLERK OF THE CO
AARON D. FORD Cﬁ/—“_ﬁ ﬂua

Attorney General

SAMUEL J. TAYLOR (Bar No. 15101)
Deputy Attorney General

State of Nevada

Office of the Attorney General

100 North Carson Street

Carson City, NV 89701

(775) 684-1209

E-mail: staylor@ag.nv.gov

Attorneys for Respondent Nevada Government
Employee-Management Relations Board

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
LAS VEGAS CITY EMPLOYEES’ Case No. A-23-870895-J
ASSOCIATION and JULIE TERRY,
Dept. No. 8

Petitioners,
VS.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT
RELATIONS BOARD, THE CITY OF LAS
VEGAS, MARK BROOKS, JODY GLEED, and
INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
FIREFIGHTERS LOCAL 1285,

Respondents.

STATEMENT OF INTENT TO PARTICIPATE
In accordance with NRS 233B.130(3), the Nevada Government Employee—Management
Relations Board (“EMRB”), by and through counsel, Aaron D. Ford, Attorney General of the State of
Nevada, and Samuel J. Taylor, Deputy Attorney General, notifies this Court of its intent to participate in
this judicial review.
/17
/17

Case Number: A-23-870895-J
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AFFIRMATION
(Pursuant to NRS 239B.030)

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the foregoing document does not contain the social

security number of any person.

Dated this 24th day of May, 2023.

AARON D. FORD
Attorney General

By: _/s/ Samuel J. Taylor
SAMUEL J. TAYLOR
Deputy Attorney General

Attorneys for Respondent Nevada Government
Employee-Management Relations Board
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that [ am an employee of the State of Nevada, Office of the Attorney General, and that
on the 24th day of May 2023, I filed and served the foregoing STATEMENT OF INTENT TO

PARTICIPATE via this Court’s electronic filing system and via email addressed as follows:

Jeffrey F. Allen, Esq.

857 N. Eastern Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Email: jeffreyfallen@aol.com
Attorney for Petitioners

Morgan Davis

Deputy City Attorney

495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Email: mdavis@lasvegasnevada.gov
Attorney for Respondent City of Las Vegas

/s/ M. Garcia
An Employee of the Office
of the Nevada Attorney General
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FILED
May 22, 2023
State of Nevada

E.M.R.B.
BEFORE THE GOVERNMENT 4:11 p.m.

EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

CLARK COUNTY EDUCATION
ASSOCIATION and DAVITA
CARPENTER,

Complainants,
Vs. CASE NO. 2020-008
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

JOINT STATUS REPORT
Respondent,

and

EDUCATION SUPPORT
EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION and
CLARK COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF
SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS AND
PROFESSIONAL-TECHNICAL
EMPLOYEES,

Intervenors.

/

Pursuant to the State of Nevada, Government Employee-Management Relations Board’s
(“Board”) Orders dated February 23, 2021, and April 11, 2023, Complainants Clark County
Education Association and Davita Carpenter; (“Complainants”) Respondent Clark County School
District (“CCSD”); and Intervenors Education Support Employees Association and Clark County
Association of School Administrators and Professional Technical Employees (“CCASAPE”)
(collectively, “Parties”), by and through their respective attorneys of record, hereby submit the
following Joint Status Report. The Parties state as follows:

1. On February 23, 2021, the Board stayed this case pending the Eighth Judicial Court’s
decision in Case No.: A-20-822704-P and arbitration proceedings between Complainants and
Respondent.

2. On June 18, 2021, the District Court filed a written order denying CCASAPE'’s
Petition for Writ of Prohibition, Or in the Alternative, Writ of Mandamus and granting

/1
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Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss. CCASAPE subsequently filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the
Judgment, which the District Court denied in a written order filed on August 4, 2021.

3. On September 4, 2021, CCASAPE filed a Notice of Appeal appealing the June 18,
2021 and August 4, 2021 Orders. The appeal is designated Case No.: 83481 before the Nevada
Supreme Court. On May 11, 2023, the Nevada Supreme Court issued 139 Nev., Advance Opinion
12, en banc, affirming the District Court.

4. Complainants have withdrawn their demands for arbitration related to this matter.

5. Complainants and CCSD will be submitting to the Board a stipulation to dismiss

Complainants’ prohibited practice complaint, without prejudice, each party to bear its own attorney

fees and costs.

6. The Parties request that the Board lift the stay it entered in this matter on February 23,

2021, and make its December 7, 2020 Declaratory Order a final order.

Dated: May 22, 2023.
CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

By: /s/ Crystal J. Herrera
CRYSTAL J. HERRERA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12396

5100 West Sahara Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89146

Attorney for Respondent,

Dated: May 22, 2023.

BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER
SCHRECK, LLP

By: /s/ Christopher M. Humes
CHRISTOPHER M. HUMES, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12782

100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600
Las Vegas, NV 89106

Attorney for Intervenor, CCASAPE

Dated: May 22, 2023.
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS

By: /s/ Adam Levine

DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 002003

ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 004673

610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Attorneys for Complainants, CCEA and
Davita Carpenter

Dated: May 22, 2023.

DYER LAWRENCE, LLP

By: _/s/ Francis C. Flaherty
FRANCIS C. FLAHERTY, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 5303

2805 Mountain Street

Carson City, NV 89703

Attorney for Intervenor, ESEA
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For presence LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 002003

ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.

Nevada State Bar No. 004673

610 South Ninth Street

Las Vegas, Nevada §9101

(702) 386-0536: FAX (702) 386-6812
Email: alevine(@danielmarks.net
Attorneys for Nye County Association Of
Sheriff’s Supervisors

FILED

MAY 31 2023

STATE GF NEVADA
E.M.R.B.

STATE OF NEVADA
EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

NYE COUNTY, NEVADA,
Petitioner,

V.

NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF SHERIFE’S
SUPERVISORS,

Respondent

|NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF SHERIFE’S

SUPERVISORS; and DAVID BORUCHOWITZ,
Counter-Claimants,

V.
NYE COUNTY, NEVADA,

Counter-Respondents.

Case No.: 2022-009

NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF
SHERIFF’S SUPERVISORS AND DAVID
BORUCHOWITZ’S POST HEARING
BRIEF

COMES NOW Respondent NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF SHERIFF’S SUPERVISORS

(“NCASS”) and Counter-Claimants NCASS and DAVID BORUCHOWITZ (“Boruchowitz”) by and

through undersigned counsel Adam Levine, Esq. of the Law Office of Daniel Marks and hereby submit

their Post Hearing Brief.
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L ISSUES TO BE DECIDED

There are two (2) issues be decided by the Board. The first issue comes before the Board on
Nye County’s Amended Petition for a Declaratory Order which seeks to remove Captains from the
NCASS bargaining unit based upon a claim that they are statutory Supervisors within the meaning of
NRS 288.138(1)(a) and/or (b) and therefore prohibited from being in the same bargaining unit as the
Lieutenants.

The second issue arises from NCASS’ Counterclaim alleging a violation of NRS 288.270(1)(a)
and (e) for failure to bargain in good faith arising out of Nye County’s suspension of bargaining
negotiations with NCASS based upon Captain David Boruchowitz presence/involvement in such
bargaining on behalf of NCASS.

1. THE HISTORY OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING BY LIEUTENANTS AND

CAPTAINS EMPLOYED BY THE NYE COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE.

For as long as anyone can remember, Lieutenants, Captains, and Assistant Sheriffs employed by
the Nye County Sheriff’s Office (hereafter “NCSO”). were represented for purposes of collective
bargaining by the Nye County Law Enforcement Management Association (“NCLEMA™). (Tr. at 331-
332; Exhibit “A”).

Prior to 2015, NCSO was under the supervision of Sheriff Anthony DeMeo. However, DeMeo
decided to retire at the end of his term in 2014. The candidates to replace him were then Assistant
Sheriff Rick Marshall and Sharon Wehrly.

Prior to the election in November 2014, the sole Captain, William Becht, and several lieutenants
retired from NCSO. (Tr. at 332-333). After Sharon Wehrly won the election and took office, every
other Lieutenant either retired or was terminated. (Tr. at 332). This left only Assistant Sheriff _ Rick
Marshall who also was ultimately terminated. (Tr. at 333-334). During the time that Marshall was

challenging his termination before this Board in Case No. 2016-004, Nye County sought and obtained
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decertification of NCLEMA. See Nye County v. Nye County Law Enforcement Management
Association, Case No. 2016-005 Ttem No. 815 (May 16, 2016). (Tr. at 333).

There were no Lieutenants at NCSO until Sergeants David Boruchowitz and Christopher Jordan
were promoted to Lieutenant. At that time, they formed NCASS, were recognized as the exclusive
bargaining representative for NCSO Lieutenants, and negotiated a 2018-2020 collective bargaining
agreement. (Union Exhibit "B"; Tr. at 330).

On July 2, 2019 Lieutenant Boruchowitz was promoted to Captain — the first since Captain
Becht's retirement in 2014. (Union Exhibit “C”; Tr. at 331). It was agreed between Nye County and
NCASS that the Captain position would be placed in the NCASS bargaining unit. NCASS and Nye
County entered into a collective bargaining agreement for 2020-2022 which included "Administrative
Captain" in the Recognition Clause. (Exhibit "1" at p. 3; Tr. at 216).

In 2021 Sheriff Sharon Wehrly decided to promote a second Captain. Several Lieutenants and
Sergeant Harry Means were placed into an Acting Captain position training under Captain
Boruchowitz. In November of 2021 Sergeant Harry Means assumed this Acting Captain position. (Tr.
at 268). On July 11, 2022 Sheriff Wehrly formally promoted Sergeant Means to the rank of Captain.

(Tr. at 268).

HI. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELATING TO BARGAINING FOR THE SUCCESSOR
AGREEMENTS TO THE 2020-2022 NCASS COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

AGREEMENT.

It is undisputed that the July 1, 2020 through June 30, 2022 collective bargaining agreement
between NCASS and Nye County included Captain Boruchowitz as the sole Captain with NCSO.
(Exhibit “1” at p. 3).

Article 14 (2) of the 2020-2022 NCASS bargaining agreement stated:

Either party may notice the increase or decrease of pay based on the increase or decrease

of audited property tax revenues (excluding net proceeds) for the prior fiscal year. A
COLA or wage increase or decrease may only be granted if audited property tax revenue
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(excluding net proceeds) exceeds or decreases by five (5%) from the preceding year
respectively.

(County Exhibit “1” at p. 19). This was treated as a reopener clause. (Tr. at 354).

In August 2021, NCASS Chief Negotiator Captain David Boruchowitz sent an email to Nye
County Human Resources Director Elona Goldner informing her that based upon Article 14 of the
NCASS agreement property tax revenues had exceeded more than 5% from the prior year, and that the
NCASS bargaining unit would be entitled to an approximately 11% increase in pay. (Exhibit “F”). Nye
County Manager Timothy Sutton and Captain Boruchowitz agreed to negotiate NCASS’ demands by
email as opposed to meeting in person. (Union Exhibit “G”). This was done by mutual agreement due
to Covid. (Tr. at 184-186, 188-189, 354).

Thereafter, NCASS and Nye County engaged in negotiations for an NCASS pay increase.
Throughout September and October 2021 NCASS awaited an offer from Nye County. (Exhibits “H”
through “J”). This waiting for an offer from Nye County extended into November 2021 as Nye County
had been consulting with Mark Ricciardi, Esq. In evidence as NCASS Exhibit “J” is an email dated
November 8, 2021 from Boruchowitz to Sutton inquiring “any word from Richardi (sic)”.

On November 8, 2021 Nye County made an offer by email. (Exhibit “L”). Because the parties
would otherwise have been starting negotiations on the successor agreement in February 2022, the
parties agreed to wrap the COLA increase sought under Article 14 of the 2020-2022 bargaining
agreement into the negotiations for a successor agreement. (Exhibit “BB”; Tr. at 185-186, 188, 355).

Throughout November and December NCASS awaited an offer from Nye County. (Union
Exhibits “M” through “0°”). On December 27, 2021 Nye County made another offer. (Union Exhibit
“P”). Thereafter, NCASS made a counterproposal on January 8, 2022. (Union Exhibit “Q” and “R”).

Throughout January and February 2022 Captain Boruchowitz had to follow-up with Sutton

because there had been no response to NCASS® latest proposal. (Exhibit “S” and “T”). Nye County
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finally responded on March 2, 2022 wherein Sutton informed Boruchowitz that he had just gotten out
of the meeting where NCASS’ proposal was discussed. (Exhibit “U”). No explanation was given for
the two (2) month delay.

On March 7, 2022 Sutton sent NCASS a wage study by a company, Pontifex, for NCASS to
review while Nye County was preparing its counteroffer. That same day Boruchowitz responded by
suggesting Nye County request a refund from Pontifex due to a number of identifiable errors. (Exhibit
“y” and “U”). No offer was forthcoming in the month of March as on April 1, 2022 NCASS was
forced to send another email to Sutton stating “Offer?” (Exhibit “X”). On April 4, 2020 to another
email was sent by Boruchowitz “Status on offer?” (Exhibit “Y”). On April 6, 2022 Sutton responded
that he was still awaiting on Pontifex to address the concerns raised by NCASS month earlier. (Exhibit
“AA”).

When no additional response from Nye County was forthcoming, on April 12, 2022 sent an e-

mail pointing out that it had been almost a year since they started negotiating, and that the

392

“membership is truthfully sick of hearing from me that *Tim’s working on it’”. Boruchowitz reminded
Sutton the parties had agreed to roll the prior reopener negotiations into the negotiations for a successor
agreement. (Exhibit “BB”).

On April 15, 2022 Boruchowitz pointed out that Pontifex” study was still wrong as a claimed
NCASS had 10 steps in its wage scale with 4% between steps. In fact there was only 8 steps at 5.25%
between steps. (Exhibit “CC”).

On April 20, 2022 Boruchowitz sent Sutton and email with the subject line of “Impasse” stating
that he (on behalf of NCASS) had “been left with no choice” and provided a timeline detailing the
parties’ negotiations going back to August 2021. On April 21, 2022 following a conversation

Boruchowitz sent an email stating “Per our discussion you will get me a counteroffer by Wednesday

and we will either counter, or set up meetings or declare impasse if we are not close”. (Exhibit “DD?).






10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

On April 27, 2022 Nye County finally sent another Proposal. Boruchowitz responded by
summarizing Nye County’s proposal and pointing out “this really has a strong flavor of bad faith”.
NCASS proposed to set up a meeting the following week for in-person negotiations, and if at the end of
the meeting there was no resolution each side would submit a last best offer. (Exhibits “EE” and “FF”).

On April 29, 2022 Boruchowitz sent another email trying to move the bargaining process along
stating “And? Are we going to meet?” Sutton responded “Yes, need to reach out to Mark though”.
(Exhibit “G”). This was a reference to Mark Ricciardi.

On May 2, 2022 Sutton email Boruchowitz stating “Reached out to Mark for dates, I'll let you
know when I hear back. Who’s on your team? Just you?” Boruchowitz responded “Me and TK for
now.” TK was a reference to a Lieutenant Thomas D. Klenczar. (Exhibit “HH”; Tr. at 235).

Nye County sent a meeting notice to Captain Boruchowitz and Lieutenant Klenczar setting a
“NCASS Negotiations” meeting for Friday, May 6, 2022 at 1:00 PM. (Exhibit “II"”). Klenczar, who had
planned to go to Lake Meade the meeting. for a 3-day weekend canceled his plans in order to attend.
(Tr. at 239-240).

No such negotiation meeting took place. On May 6, 2022 when Boruchowitz and Klenczar
entered the conference room, the following discussion took place:

MARK RICCIARDI: So I'm sorry guys’, you probably didn’t expect to see

me, I’m not here for your bargaining session, because I
didn’t even know it was happening.

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:  Oh that’s too bad we were excited.

MARK RICCIARDI: I was talking to them about other stuff, but, so I don’t
think this is a real bargaining session I just wanted to
point something out that I am noticing, I was not
involved, other than the first contract that you and I did,
I’ve not been involved in any of your other stuff. But
uhm it says here in 288, uhm 170, paragraph 3 a
supervisory employee must not be a member of the same
bargaining unit as the employees under the direction of
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DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

THOMAS KLENCZAR:

MARK RICCIARDI:

Laughter

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

that supervisory employee, so as the captain aren’t you
over lieutenants.

[ am

So, it’s not like, I read this for some other clients a
bunch of times

You’re on your own TK. We’ll branch off and settle my
contract.

I’m just saying it’s not
What were you saying 288

170 paragraph 3, here you can read it right here, uhm I
ah, it’s not one of those optional things where every can
agree and lets forget it, it’s mandatory in the statute.

So I think though, that it’s going to come down to the
definition of supervisory employee. Because I think this
is specifically to the supervisory employees that are
exempt from collective bargaining.

No No that’s been there way before the exempt language
came in. I’ve been doing this for a long time.

Well the supervisory employee’s been defined in there
for 15 years.

The newer definition and add on was that these people
can’t be in a bargaining unit at all.

You’ve lost a shit ton of weight huh?

A little bit, I’'ve got 10 more to go and then I’ll be
irresistible.

Let’s not go that far Mark 1 think your getting excited.

Ya so, I would not fall under the definition of a
supervisor employee.

I think you would here.

I don’t have any authority to hire, fire, suspend,
discipline It’s all above me.
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MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

There’s a case on it so let’s see that’s 288, what number
is it?

138
138

Anyone having, ... inaudible ... the employer having
authority if you go to the end of that phrase or
effectively to recommend such action, which obviously
you would.

No, I do not, I absolutely do not, 1 have nothing to do
with recommendation.

By the way it’s not limited to hiring or firing, it’s uhm
assign, reward, direct adjust grievances, 1 wish I could
say it’s up for debate, it’s not. Because I've done this
litigation so long now, I’m just trying to think of how we
fix it.

I think your flat wrong Mark.
Ok

You know how our agency works. So I have no, so like
if a grievance is going to be resolved, that comes from
above, hire, discipline, fire, that is absolutely not my
authority. No question.

So, you don’t direct the work of anyone?
I do direct some work.

Ok well, that word direct is there. Responsibility to
direct them.

Right, requires the use of independent judgement,
merely routine or clerical in nature. My directing of
supervisors is clerical in nature. We have a policy that
the sheriff has enforced and I direct them inaudible.

I’d love to say, I don’t have all afternoon to debate,
you're wrong and that’s fine that’s why they build
courthouses. When two people disagree.

That is.
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MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ: *

So, we need to deal with it, I’m not saying it’s unfixable,
but I think we need to deal with it. It makes for an
uncomfortable situation for a supervisor to be in the
same bargaining unit with his subordinates. I’ll just...I
don’t have to paint the picture, but if the boss is in the
same union and is the chief negotiator it makes for an
interesting balance. I don’t know how that works.

For sure

When you and [ did the first contract you were a
lieutenant so you were all peers, so if you guys
voluntarily elect this guy to be the chief spokesman
that’s fine, but now you’re the boss, so it’s tricky that’s
the way the statute is written. But I don’t know how to
solve it right this minute, I just wanted to bring it up
since we were all here. [ don’t know how to deal with it
right this minute.

Sounds like we kick TK out and settle the captain’s
contract.

Well, you’d have to have your own bargaining unit.
We’d have to unravel that a little bit. You’d have your
own contract just for you?

Sure, why not I’ll sign a contract with you.

Well, the undersheriff has a contract we’ll give you his.
No, He doesn’t have his own contract, does he?

Yes, he does. You’ll get his.

I don’t want his. I am way more qualified than he is.

Alright well anyway I will get out of your hair, I just
wanted to at least get this on the table so you guys can
think about it. I think that what what we need to, we’ll
send you something official to sort of tell you here’s our
thinking, I’ll cite to it, [ won’t make shit up you know
that. You look at the law. We’ll figure out, what kind of,
if we want to have a real negotiation meeting or not. I
don’t know how this happened, I wasn’t around for this,
so you got a promotion and then somehow the contract
got amended to put that position in the union.

Two contracts ago, or this is the second contract.
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MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

THOMAS KLENCZAR:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

Yeah, it was 2020 right, yea
So.

These things do happen I have the same issue in another

is there any reason we can’t continue for the NCASS
though?

Well . . . Maybe we can, but you’re a member of
management, management can’t negotiate on behalf of
the union.

Can I employ him if [ want to.
Of course

No, you can’t employ the Sheriff, this would be the
same thing basically.

As of right now I’'m a part of this bargaining unit.
Right but we think it’s unlawful. So, that’s our concern.

Ok, but certainly at this point and time I'm a part of it,
there’s no reason we can’t negotiate and if we end up
carving me out of it and move forward, I mean we’re at
a point where this has been going on for 12 months of
negotiations

Well, my understanding is you haven’t had a good
official negotiation meeting yet.

We have official negotiation meeting that we agreed to
have electronically done.

You had a virtual meeting, a zoom meeting?

No, we’ve been going back and forth by email. By
agreement of both parties.

Right, but there still has to, has to be six meetings under
the statute, I don’t think were at that point yet.

I think when both parties have agreed to do it
electronically and there’s been more than six, I don’t
think that’s fair.

10
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MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

TIM SUTTON:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

TIM SUTTON:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

TIM SUTTON:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

You’re right T haven’t seen any rulings interpreting that
yet. ’'m just saying it sounds odd that the statute says
meetings and we don’t even have a virtual meeting.

Well, that was by agreement of both parties twelve
months ago, I don’t think the county gets to take the
position that we are going to start over at the end of 12
months.

It’s nothing about starting over it’s about having some
actual meetings, like T said, I'm not here to have a
meeting I was here for other purposes. I'm just telling
you what my

It would be our position that we should go forward with
negotiations as we are currently a part of that bargaining
unit, and certainly if we decide to carve us out, carve me
out then that can be something that we discuss but that
doesn’t affect negotiations.

Well, my concern with that is if it’s unlawful for you to
be in the bargaining unit its

That’s going to be disputed, we are going to be tied up
for a year disputing that so . . .

Well Well . . .

We can’t continue down a broken path. So, I mean that’s

If we want to negotiate everything but the captain
pending.

But it can’t be you because you are the boss. So yes, the
bargaining unit we can continue but not you.

Mark’s being very polite. He’s not going to say this. But
he said Hey you guys screwed up and should not have
put him in

Right, I'm reading between the lines, I disagree with
him, but I’'m reading between the lines. So my point is I
am in there, so you can’t take my collective bargaining
rights away

Not during, well during the term of this contract I have a
feeling you probably still have some rights, so..

11
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DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

TIM SUTTON:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

But that’s my point we are in the term of this so there is
nothing to say we can’t negotiate for the NCASS

I think the law says we can’t, with you in that seat.

So, is that the position that were not going forward?
Cause...were not going to postpone so we will file with
the EMRB.

Absolutely and we’ll file...

And it’s frustrating that were at this point ...
And we’ll file a counter claim if necessary ...
I know...

I thought you’d want to wait...

It’s frustrating. ..

To get our letter...

We’ve been waiting twelve months Mark! We’ve been
dealing with this for twelve months, a hundred
communications with the county with promises that are
not met.

I was not involved...

I understand that, but that’s where we’re at. So you’re
making a recommendation that the NCASS just continue
to wait when they have been extremely patient and
attempting to resolve this with promises not fulfilled by
the county. To the tune of a lot.

I don’t know that Tim would agree that promises haven’t
been fulfilled.

Well, it’s in writing so there’s no question. I’ll have this
to you Monday I’ll have this to you Friday and it’s not
fulfilled.

That’s true. I wouldn’t say a hundred.

Maybe not a hundred but a lot. There’s a lot. There’s
three pages of it

Let us do this ...

12
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TIM SUTTON:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

THOMAS KLENCZAR:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

There’s three pages of communications, you send
multiple ...

Right I keep trying.

Let us do this. Let us send you, and this won’t take
forever, give us a couple days. County will send you a
letter kinda setting in our position and and coming up
with an idea for moving forward that way you don’t
have to rush to the EMRB right away.

Well the EMRB part is not about that the EMRB part is
we cannot get negotiations out of the county. That’s the
frustration.

Well well once you get our written position, if you still
feel that way you have the absolute ability to proceed.

So you’re going to give us a written communication that
addresses your intent to remove me, and some remedy
for the negotiation aspect of it.

It it it will be a comprehensive idea. Yes.

So no?

Well, a comprehensive plan, a proposed plan.
About what though?

About removing you from the bargaining unit, and
proceeding with negotiations ...

Six more sessions is what you’re saying ...

Well, we can talk more about that, if we’re spinning our
wheels no one wants to do the unnecessary. But but your
email that Tim showed me is that you want to have one
in person meeting and that’s the end and then we’re off
to the races. You said if we can’t settle it in one in
person meeting we’re done. That I think is a little over
blown. I want to at least give us ...

That’s because of twelve months of trying
Tknow ...

So it’s not overblown.

13
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MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

MARK RICCIARDI:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

TK:

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:

THOMAS KLENCZAR:

MARK RICCIARDI:

THOMAS KLENCZAR:

MARK RICCIARDI:

THOMAS KLENCZAR:

1 know at least I want to give it a little idea of are we
getting somewhere or not.

But... the problem is now we’re not. Now we have
another meeting that we set up and the plan is to remove
me, from that bargaining unit.

When you say another meeting, this is the first meeting.
No, I refuse to acknowledge that.
Ok

I believe that our electronic meetings will qualify when
both parties agree that that was how we were going to
meet and ...

Alright

And that was a mutual agreement that that was how this
was going to be handled.

Let’s not worry about having to agree or disagree on
that. Let us get you our written position and our idea for
moving forward. And then you can make a judgement. If
you want to go to the EMRB, we may go to the EMRB,
we may both be there. We may be having coffee at the
EMRB. Let’s just see what happens.

Alright
So, we’re done today?
Done

You couldn’t have called and solved this over the
phone?

No no, wait this is an in-person discussion.

An in-person discussion for something you haven’t been
involved in the whole time, just until the end and start us
all over for six ...I’'m just curious how this works.

I’m just the lawyer, not the county.

The county lawyer or just a lawyer? That’s the other
question. All these negotiations start paying you more
for next six sessions, these are the kind of things why I

14
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don’t want to be involved with this. This is why, you
start getting paid, you start saying have more things, we
have a county employee that can sit in your seat and do
what you’re doing, however you start saying at the end
we’re going to start all over again, you fight about 1%
yet you make three times as much as that arguing our
thing arguing our thing.

MARK RICCIARDI: 1%7?

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:  He’s talking about the county’s measly offer that they
offered us after we agreed to take a loss with the county
that’s the frustration from my membership, is that my
membership agreed to ride a loss out during covid with
the county and the county’s response is this back, and
it’s frustrating.

MARK RICCIARDI: I understand there’s a typo in the contract and it doesn’t
talk about what happens with that reopener.

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:  1Idon’t think there’s a typo, I think it just doesn’t specity
how we handle the reopener.

MARK RICCIARDI: Soso....
DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:  It’s there, it just doesn’t specify how.

MARK RICCIARDI: I guess an arbitrator, ultimately if we don’t make a deal
on it, will decide it.

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:  They will that’s not what I’m saying. I’'m saying that’s
what the frustration is based on. Our membership does a
good deed for the county and the county’s response is to
screw them. You have to understand that the

membership, every step of the way the county has a
game that screws the membership, so.

MARK RICCIARDI: We’ll agree to disagree.

DAVID BORUCHOWITZ:  Alright, have a good day.

(Audio Recording in evidence as Exhibit “MM?”).

On May 9, 2022 at 4:40 PM Ricciardi sent an email to Captain Boruchowitz claiming to be

writing to Boruchowitz in his “capacity as the President of the Nye County Association of Sheriff’s
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Supervisors” claiming that “it is beyond dispute” that a “Captain satisfies the criteria for supervisory
status set out in NRS 2 88.138(1)(a)” and citing the decision of this Board in “City of Elko™. Ricciardi
claimed that as “the current NCASS CBA is expiring June 30, 2022 the issue must be dealt with now so
that the parties can proceed with promptly negotiating a successor NCASS CBA”, and that he would be
sending NCASS a draft MOU to accomplish removal of the Captain classification. (Exhibit “JJ” at pp.
9-11).

On May 10, 2022 at 5:24 PM Lieutenant Christopher Jordan emailed Ricciardi informing
Ricciardi that NCASS anticipates acting as it pertained to the County’s unilateral removal of the
Captain from the bargaining unit, but expressing:

However, for the time being NCASS would like to proceed with ongoing contract

negotiations devoid of Captain. We request an audience with Nye County as soon as

practicable toward the timely and mutually beneficial resolution of the NCASS CBA to
include an MOU of similar nature to the one attached for review.
This email was courtesy copied to President Boruchowitz. (County Exhibit “5” and also in evidence as
“Exhibit “JJ” at pp. 7-8). NCASS attached a proposed Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) which
would allow negotiations to go forward excluding Captains and providing for the reopening of the
agreement in compliance with any final determination as to the status of Captains as made by either the
Board or an arbitrator. (County Exhibit “5” also in evidence as Exhibit “KK”).

On May 19, 2022 at 1:09 PM Ricciardi, acting on behalf of the Nye County rejected NCASS’
proposal to move forward without the Captains without prejudice by sending an email which stated:
Lieutenant Jordan:

Thank you for your patience. The County is unable to execute the proposed agreement
you sent. I have drafted a proposed MOA for your review. My client is reviewing it
today and I should have it to you tomorrow.

(County Exhibit “6” also in evidence as Exhibit “JJ” at p. 5).
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Later that same day at 6:58 PM Ricciardi emailed Lieutenant Jordan again rejecting NCASS’
attempts to move forward without prejudice to the dispute over Captains stating:

Lieutenant Jordan:

We have reviewed the document you sent. As you know, by law the captain

classification cannot be in the same bargaining unit as the licutenant classification. The

law is quite clear on that and the document you drafted has provisos and contingencies
which place that conclusion in doubt.

The County is interested in arriving at a prompt solution to this problem so that it can
begin meetings with NCASS for the purpose of negotiating a successor agreement.
Please review the attached proposed Memorandum of Agreement and let me know if

you have any questions. If the agreement is acceptable please have the appropriate
NCASS official sign and return it to my attention.

(Exhibit “7” at p. 4). The attached Memorandum of Agreement removed Captains from the Bargaining
Unit. (County Exhibit “6” at pp. 4-5).

Later that evening on May 8 19, 2022 at 9:14 PM Captain Boruchowitz responded to Ricciardi
accusing Nye County of stalling collective bargaining as evidenced by the “numerous delay between
each correspondence” relating to a new agreement, and further disputing Ricciardi’s assertion that
Captains cannot be in the bargaining unit stating:

I think there is some confusion. We do not agree with your interpretation of the law, and

disagree completely with the unilateral removal of the Captain from the bargaining unit.

The NCASS request is to move forward with negotiations for the NCASS Lieutenants,

while we resolve the disagreement regarding your unilateral removal of the Captain

from the bargaining unit by signing an MOU to agree to continue negotiations with the

Captain position removed until such time as that agreement is resolved.

Please advise if the County is willing to negotiate for NCASS Lieutenants while the

disagreement regarding your unilateral removal of the Captain from the bargaining unit
is addressed through appropriate legal recourses.

(Exhibit “7” at p. 3).

On May 23, 2022 at 10:44 AM Ricciardi responded:
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Captain Boruchowitz:

I’m sorry about the delay in responding — I was traveling on Friday and through the
weekend. I was confused when I received a response directly from you (and I also
noticed that the email was from your official Nye County email account). It would be
helpful if you could please make a clarification. Your email says: “Please advise if the
County is willing to negotiate for NCASS Lieutenants...”. You had already handed over
negotiations to Lieutenant Jordan. He had sent the County a proposal and we had sent
him a document for review. Did you write your email of 5/19 below as the Chief
Spokesperson for NCASS or as a management advocate for your subordinates?

Once 1 receive your response I will discuss with the County and get back to you.

Thank you for your cooperation

(Exhibit “7” at p. 2).

Later that day at 12:04 PM Captain Boruchowitz responded and made a direct request for an

answer from Nye County regarding its bargaining position:
Mr. Richardi:
With all due respect your reported “confusion” is a fagade.

There is no DISPUTE in what capacity I sent that email. Tt was clearly signed,
“President David Boruchowitz NCASS”.

I did not “hand over negotiations” to anyone. Vice President Jordan corresponded to you
on behalf of the NCASS with direct communication with me, it could not get
inappropriate/timely response. I interceded as the Union President for clarification.

My e-mail to you is clear. [ am the Union President. I corresponded to you as the Union
President.

Please answer my question.

Please advise if the County is willing to negotiate for NCASS Lieutenants while the
disagreement regarding your unilateral removal of the Captain from the bargaining unit
is addressed through appropriate legal recourses. If the answer is yes the NCASS will be
assigning a Spokesperson to spearhead those negotiations formally.

David Boruchowitz
President
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NCASS
(Exhibit “7” at p. 1).

Ricciardi and Nye County refused to agree to negotiate for the NCASS Lieutenants while the
dispute over the Captain’s inclusion within the bargaining unit was resolved. Instead, Nye County filed
its Petition for Declaratory Order with the Board on May 24, 2022. NCASS filed its Counterclaim for
unilateral change and failure to bargain in good faith in violation of NRS 288.270(1)(a) and (¢).

IV. NYE COUNTY'S PETITION FOR DECLARATORY ORDER TO REMOVE
CAPTAINS FROM THE NCASS BARGAINING UNIT SHOULD BE DENIED.

A. Nye County Should Be Estopped From Asserting That Captains Should Be
Removed From The NCASS Bargaining Unit Because Nye County Agreed To
Place Them In That Bargaining Unit, And Bargained With Captains Through
NCASS For A Successor Agreement To The Agreement Expiring June 30, 2022.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Chairman Eckersley specifically requested that the parties
brief the issue as to whether Nye County should be estopped from asserting that Captains should be
removed from the bargaining unit because they were included by Nye County in the bargaining unit in
2020. (Tr. at 433). While as set forth below, the 2019 statutory amendments, and Nye County’s total
failure of proof on the merits, are sufficient to defeat the Petition, Nye County should be estopped from
asserting the issue in the first instance because Nye County voluntarily acquiesced to having
Lieutenants and Captains in the same bargaining unit both under the old NCLEMA, and again in 2020
when it placed Captain Boruchowitz into the NCASS bargaining unit.

The NLRB has long recognized that employers may be estopped from challenging bargaining
units that they voluntarily recognized. Red Coats, 328 N.L.R.B. 205 (1999); Strand Theatre of
Shreveport Corp., 346 NLRB 523 (2006); Int'l. Tel. & Telegraph Corp.,159 NLRB 1757 (1966). As
explained by the NLRB in Strand Theatre of Shreveport Corp.:

The principal of equitable estoppel is premised on the notion that a party that obtains a

benefit by engaging in conduct that causes a second party to rely on the 'truth of certain
facts' should not be permitted to later controvert those facts to the prejudice of the

19






10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

second party. See R.P.C., Inc., 311 NLRB 232 (1993). The Board has identified the

requisite elements of estoppel as (1) knowledge; (2) intent; (3) mistaken belief; and (4)

detrimental reliance. See Red Coats, 328 NLRB 205, 206 (1999); R.P.C., supra at 233.

In addition, in light of the underlying premise of the estoppel doctrine, the Board also

assesses whether the party to be estopped has received a benefit as the result of its

actions. See Red Coats, supra at 207; R.P.C., supra at 233.

346 NLRB at 536.

To demonstrate knowledge, it is sufficient that an employer extended recognition, “and had the
opportunity (within 6 months) to accept or refuse to accept the legal consequences of that event”. 346
NLRB at 537. Nye County clearly intended that NCASS rely upon its recognition as evidenced by the
fact that it entered into a two-year collective bargaining agreement. Bargaining with NCASS while the
bargaining unit included a Captain, who was in fact the Chief Negotiator for NCASS, is sufficient to
establish that a union has acted in reliance upon its mistaken belief as to the employer’s intentions and
reliance to its detriment. Strand Theatre of Shreveport Corp., 346 NLRB at 537 (“Respondent's
conduct of bargaining with the Union for more than a year prior to its repudiation of the bargaining
relationship (via its unilateral actions) surely induced the Union to believe that the Respondent would
forgo any subsequent challenge to the propriety of the unit or to the Union's majority status as of the
time of recognition”).!

In fact, Nye County’s conduct in inducing reliance extends far beyond the mere recognition of
Captain(s) within the NCASS bargaining unit. Nye County recognized a bargaining unit including both
Licutenants and Captains (and Assistant Sheriffs) for many years under the NCLEMA. At no time prior

to the decertification of the NCLEMA bargaining unit did Nye County asserted that it was an “illegal”

bargaining unit. Indeed, when the bargaining unit was decertified in 2016 in Case No. 2016-005 Item

1 As noted by footnote 9 to the NLRB's decision in Red Coais, the Board is not precluded from
addressing issues of equitable estoppel sue sponte. Because this matter came before the Board as a
Petition for a Declaratory Order filed by Nye County, as opposed to a Complaint where NCASS would
have to file an answer asserting affirmative defenses, it was entirely proper for the Board to take up the
issue of estoppel at the conclusion of the hearing.
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No. 815, it wasn’t under an accusation that it was an improper bargaining unit; it was because the
bargaining unit consisted of a single person — Assistant Sheriff Marshall.”

Given the long time acceptance by Nye County of Captains being in the same bargaining unit as
Licutenants, both during the NCLEMA era, and after the formation of NCASS, Nye County should be
estopped from seeking to have this Board carve Captains out of the NCASS bargaining unit. The
Supreme Court has recognized that one of the purposes of Chapter 288 is to bring “labor peace and
stability”. Clark County Classroom Teachers Association v. Clark County School District, 91 Nev. 143,
532 P.2d 1032 (1975). Peace and stability are undermined if bargaining units are subject to revision
every time a new county manager (or in this case old/new attorney) becomes involved.

B. Captains May Be Part Of The Same Bargaining Unit As Lieutenants Under 2019

Senate Bill 158 Codified At NRS 288.138.

In 2018 this Board decided City of Elko v. Elko Police Officers Protective Association, Case
No. 2017-026 Ttem No. 831 (August 29, 2018) which held that sergeants could not be part of the same
bargaining unit as police officers under NRS 288.170(3) because sergeants were "Supervisors" within
the meaning of NRS 288.075(1)(a).

In the 2019 Legislative Session Senate Bill 158 ("SB 158") was introduced to revise the
definition of "Supervisory employee" for purposes of Chapter 288. Whereas NRS 288.075(1)(a) had
defined "Supervisory Employee" to mean:

Any individual having authority in the interest of the employer to hire, transfer, suspend,

lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or discipline other employees or

responsibility to direct them, to adjust their grievances or effectively to recommend such

action, if in connection with the foregoing, the exercise of such authority is not of a
merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment. The

2 Mark Ricciardi's testimony that he did not recall the NCLEMA consisting of licutenants and Captains
(Tr. at 84) is not worthy of credence, given the fact that he represented Nye County in Assistant Sheriff
Rick Marshall's challenge to his termination by Sheriff Wehrly under the NCLEMA bargaining
agreement prior to being replaced by undersigned counsel. (Tr. at 84, 334).
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exercise of such authority shall not be deemed to place the employee in supervisory
employee status unless the exercise of such authority occupies a significant portion of
the employee’s workday

the definition of "Supervisory employee" was re-codified at NRS 288.138 with the following

additional language:
If any of the following persons perform some, but not all, of the foregoing duties under a
paramilitary command structure, such a person shall not be deemed a supervisory
employee solely because of such duties:
(1) A police officer, as defined in NRS 288.215;
(2) A firefighter, as defined in NRS 288.215; or
(3) A person who:

() Has the powers of a peace officer pursuant to NRS 289.150, 289.170,
289.180 or 289.190; and

(ID Is a local government employee who is authorized to be in a bargaining
unit pursuant to the provisions of this chapter.

Thus, under the statutory amendment, police officers, firefighters, and certain other peace officers in
agencies employing a paramilitary command structure are not deemed to be a supervisory employee
even if they “perform some, but not all", of the foregoing duties" of a "Supervisory employee".

NCSO operates under a paramilitary command structure. (Tr. at 241-242, 317, 390-391). Nye
County did not even dispute this at the hearing.

Whereas prior to SB 158 a purported "Supervisory employee” only had to perform one of the
duties set forth under former NRS 288.075(1)(a) to be a Supervisor, see City of Elko, supra, the
statutory change under SB 158 require such a purported Supervisory employee to perform all of the
statutorily identified duties to be deemed a Supervisory employee in an agency employing a

paramilitary command structure.
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The Points and Authorities in support of Nye County's Petition for Declaratory Order cites to
City of Elko, but ignores the statutory change under SB 158. At the Hearing of this matter Nye County's
counsel Allison Kheel, and its counsel turned witness Mark Ricciardi, claimed that SB 158 only applies
to temporary duty assignments. (Tr. at 30, 62). In support of this novel contention Nye County
introduced to the Minutes of the Senate Committee on Government Affairs April 5, 2019 and cited to
the committee hearing statements of Senator Dallas Harris. (Employer Exhibit "4"; Tr. at 66).

However, it is well-established that this Board (and courts) will not look to legislative history
where the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous. As stated by this Board in SEIU, Local

1107 v. Southern Nevada Health District, Item 828, supra:

Generally, when a statute's language is plain and its meaning clear, the courts will apply
that plain language. Leven v. Frey, 123 Nev. 399, 403, 168 P.3d 712, 715 (2007),
Nevada v. Secretary of State, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1170-71 (2008) ("court
begins its statutory analysis with the plain meaning rule"); Pub. Employees' Benefits
Program v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, 124 Nev. 138, 147, 179 P.3d 542, 548
(2008) ("it is well established that, when interpreting a statute, the language of the
statute should be given its plain meaning unless doing so violates the act's spirit.").
"Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous, and its meaning clear and
unmistakable, there is no room for construction, and the courts are not permitted to
search for its meaning beyond the statute itself." State, Div. of Ins. v. State Farm Mut.
Auto. Ins. Co., 116 Nev. 290, 293-94, 995 P.2d 482, 485 (2000). If the Legislature's
intention is apparent from the face of the statute, there is no room for construction, and
this court will give the statute its plain meaning. Madera v. SIIS, 114 Nev. 253, 257, 956
P.2d 117, 120 (1998).

"Only when a statute is ambiguous will this court 'resolve that ambiguity by looking to

the statute's legislative history and construing the statute in a manner that conforms to
reason and public policy." Pub. Employees’ Ret. Sys. of Nevada v. Gitter, 393 P.3d 673,

679 (2017).

There is nothing ambiguous about the 2019 amendments in NRS 288.138. Nothing within the
plain language of the statute mentions "acting" status or temporary duty assignments. Likewise, the
Legislative Counsel Digest for SB 158 makes no mention of the amendments applying only to acting

status or temporary duty assignments. Rather, the Digest states:

23






10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Existing law generally requires a local government to engage in collective bargaining
with the recognized employee organization, if any, for each bargaining unit among its
employees. (NRS 288.150) A supervisory employee is prohibited under existing law
from being a member of the same bargaining unit as the employees under his or her
direction. (NRS 288.170) Existing law defines “supervisory employee” to include any
person who, on behalf of his or her employer, engages in various employment actions
when such actions are not just routine and require the use of independent judgment.
NRS 288.075) Existing law further provides that an employee organization which is
negotiating on behalf of two or more bargaining units consisting of firefighters or police
officers may select members of the units to negotiate jointly on behalf of each other,
even if one of the units consists of supervisory employees and the other unit does not.
(NRS 288.170) This bill revises the definition of “supervisory employee” to prohibit a
police officer, firefighter or certain other persons who have the powers of a peace officer
from being deemed a supervisory employee solely because he or she engages in some,
but not all, of the employment actions of a supervisory employee under a paramilitary
command structure.

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/80th2019/Bill/6215/Text

Therefore, any attempt to change the plain meaning of the statute and limit it only to acting and/or
temporary duty assignments is improper.’

As set forth below, Captains would not even constitute a "Supervisory employee" prior to the
2019 legislative amendments because Nye County presented no evidence that the occasional
performance of the duties/responsibilities delineated under former NRS 288.075(a) required the use of
independent judgment, or occupied a significant portion of a Captain's workday. However, under the
plain language of the 2019 legislative amendments, Captains are not "Supervisory employees” over
Lieutenants because they only "perform some, but not all" of the statutory criteria within a paramilitary

command structure.

3 Even Senator’s Neals comments do not establish that the intent of the legislation was only for
temporary duty assignments. What Sen. Neal actually said was “A supervisory decision or action might
be needed temporarily, but such employees are not supervisors as most would think of them”.
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C. Nye County Failed To Meet Its Burden Of Proof Even Under The Pre-2019
Definition of "'Supervisory Employee".

It is well-established that it is Nye County who has the burden of proof to establish that
Captains should be removed from the NCASS bargaining unit. SEIU, Local 1107 v. Southern Nevada
Health District, Case No. 2017-011 Item No. 828 (March 20, 2018). This follows the standard utilized
by the NLRB. Oakwood Healthcare, Inc., 348 NLRB 686, 687 (2006) (citing NLRB v. Kentucky River
Community Care, 532 U.S. 706, 713 (2001)).

Nye County only put on three witnesses: newly elected Sheriff Joseph McGill, Human
Resources Director Elona Goldner, and County Manager Timothy Sutton. At the outset it is important
to emphasize that the testimony of Sheriff McGill as to what Captains do under his administration
cannot be utilized to determine whether Captains are “Supervisory employees”; rather, the appropriate
inquiry is what Captains did at the time Nye County agreed to place them within the NCASS
bargaining unit. This is because once a position is in a bargaining unit, as Captains have been since
2000, it is a prohibited labor practice to assign them additional responsibilities which would take them
out of the bargaining unit without first giving notice to the union and an opportunity to bargain. Mount
Sinai Hospital, 331 NLRB 895 (2000).

Captains Means testified that Captains did not have the authority in the interest of Nye County
to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or discipline other
employees, or adjust their grievances. That authority resides exclusively with the elected Sheriff. (Tr. at

269-295).4

4 Ijeutenant Klenzar testified that he received all of his assignments from the Sheriff. (Tr. at 235).
Lieutenant Jordan testified that his assignment to the Mercury substation occurred prior to his
becoming a Lieutenant, and he simply stayed out at Mercury after receiving his promotion. (Tr. at 251).
Nye County did not call any Lieutenants to testify that they received any of their assignments from the
Captains.
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Likewise, Nye County presented no evidence that Captains have the authority to “effectively
recommend” the above identified actions. While anybody can give input or make recommendations, to
“cffectively recommend” requires more than just demonstrating that a recommendation was made and
followed. As stated by the NLRB:

The authority to “effectively recommend” an action “generally means that the

recommended action is taken without independent investigation by superiors, not simply

that the recommendation is ultimately followed.”

DirectTV U.S. DirecTV Holdings, LLC, 357 NLRB 1747, 1749 (2011) quoting Children’s Farm Home,
324 NLRB 61 (1997).

At the hearing, Nye County presented no evidence that Sheriff Sharon Wehrly, or her
undersheriff Michael Eisenloffel, simply accepted the recommendations of Captain Boruchowitz or
Harry Means without any independent review. To the contrary, the testimony of Captain Means
established that after speaking with Sheriff Wehrly and believing he had persuaded her to take a course
of action, she would ultimately take a different course of action. (Tr. at 295-296). Boruchowitz would
frequently argue with the Sheriff when he believed that she was violating either the NCASS or other
collective bargaining agreements. (Tr. at 391-392).

Captains are primarily a conduit of information to and from the Sheriff and Undersheriff.
Lieutenant Tom Klenczar and Captain Means described them as conduits for information (“glorified
secretaries”). (Tr. at 237, 270). Captain Boruchowitz described Captains as the “nervous system” for
the agency transmitting the information to and from the Sheriff or Undersheriff. (Tr. at 336-338).
However, all decisions were made by Sheriff Wehrly who was described as a “micro-manager”. (Tr. at
237,272, 306).

The fact that Sheriff Wehrly made all decisions was backed up by the documentary evidence.

As established by Union Exhibits “NN” through “BBB”, Captains had to ask permission from Sheriff

Wehrly to send an officer to Internal Affairs, to transfer officers, to approve secondary employment, to
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respond to grievances, to expend any monies such as for necessary repairs, to pay routine bills for
matters that were already budgeted. (Tr. at 274-282, 289-294). Captain Means could not even approve a
deputy working as a golf cart attendant without going through Sheriff Wehrly. (Exhibit “BBB”; Tr. at
294-295). When Captain Boruchowitz attempted to do an evaluation of Harry Means, even the Sheriff
had to approve his evaluation. (Tr. 345-346; Union Exhibit “DDD”).

The fact that Captain Boruchowitz was the “go to” person at NCSO for all questions by Human
Resources Director Elona Goldner or County Manager Tim Sutton does not establish that Boruchowitz
had the “authority in the interest of the employer” to undertake any of the statutory criteria under NRS
288.138(1)(a). It only means that as one of the longest serving members of the Department, he was
most knowledgeable about its operations. Likewise, it is not surprising that Goldner or Sutton would go
to Boruchowitz with issues of how to construe the collective bargaining agreements. Prior to promoting
to Lieutenant, Boruchowitz was the President of the NCLEA and was responsible for negotiating the
bargaining agreements. (Tr. at 374-378).

NCASS does not dispute that Captains do have the “responsibility to direct” Lieutenants.
However, Nye County put on no evidence that this responsibility to direct requires the use of
“independent judgment” or occupies “a significant portion of the employee’s workday”.

The evidence established that the responsibility to direct Lieutenants occupies little or no
portion of Captain’s Mean’s workday, and requires no independent judgment.®> A Lieutenant’s
responsibilities are dictated by statute, policy, common sense, or in the case of Lieutenant Jordan at the

Test-Site the requirements of the Department of Energy contract, and not the independent judgment of

s Captain Boruchowitz does not currently supervise any sworn law enforcement, including Lieutenants.
Boruchowitz supervises the Financial Manager and the Dispatch Manager who are civilians. (Tr. 335,

352).
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a Captain. (Tr. at 243, 252-253). Unlike Sergeants who spend the bulk of their time supervising their

troops, Lieutenants are intended to be self-sufficient. As explained by Captain Means:

Q. Sergeants, do they spend -- how much
time do they spend actually supervising the troops
under them?

A That should be the bulk of their day.

Q Okay. Are they responsible for knowing
where their deputies are and what they're doing at

all times?
A Yes.
Q In contrast, do you -- how much time is spent by you

and Captain Boruchowitz supervising lieutenants?

A Very minimal direct supervision. They come and go as they please.
I mean, there's times where I need one of my licutenants, and he's
already gone home for the day and doesn't have to
tell me he's leaving. It's their -- the contract
says that they just have to get their job done in
order to meet their hours. So they don't have to
do their full 40 hours.

So a lot of times, my guys just come and
go. I don't see them days at a time because
they're their jobs. I have no need to have
interaction with them.

Q So do you -- so T guess you probably
just answered the question.

Do you have to direct them on a daily
basis?

A No.

(Tr. at 283-284). Because licutenants are so self-sufficient, this frees up Captains for specialized
projects and other responsibilities. (Tr. at 282, 352). The role of a Captain is simply to redirect a

Lieutenant who may occasionally stray from policy back into compliance which does not occupy a

significant portion of the workday. (Tr. at 284, 352).
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Even under new Sheriff McGill, it could not be established that Captains spent a significant
amount of their work day supervising Lieutenants. When asked how much time the Captain spends
overseeing and evaluating lieutenants and subordinates, McGill answered:

Talking in minutes or hours, again, it’s hard to say. It could be significant. It could be

two minutes. It just depends on what takes place throughout the day
(Tr. at 128).

The “evidence” offered by Nye County witnesses Elona Goldner and Timothy Sutton is even
less illuminating on the subject. Human Resources Director Elona Goldner testified that Sheriff Sharon
Wehrly “told me that [Boruchowitz] made all of those assignments, that he was — he was the one that
was running the show for them, and that he was the one that assigned them their duty spot.” (Tr. at
150). When questioned on cross-examination as to how much input Captain Boruchowitz had on
assignments, Goldner conceded she had no firsthand knowledge and as to how much input
Boruchowitz had and the basis for testimony was “just what I’m told”. (Tr. at 159). This is all nothing
but hearsay.

Nye County Manager Timothy Sutton testified that Sheriff Wehrly “just let him (Boruchowitz)
run the office”. However, upon testifying to this, Board Chairman Eckersley intervened to clarify:

CHAIRMAN ECKERSLEY: Can I take a question? Did she ever said as much to you?

SUTTON: To me directly? No.

CHAIRMAN ECKERSLEY: And interactions — the interactions express in any way?
Maybe not verbally, but her actions alone.

SUTTON: Her — well, I would say her in action. Yet her in action. In that sentiment was
expressed to me by people who had spoken to her, and that was one of the regrets that
she expressed during the campaign, I was let — I let David do too much.

MS. KHEEL: She expressed that to you personally?

SUTTON: No. To others, who expressed it to me.
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LEVINE: I’'m going to object as hearsay.
CHAIRMAN ECKERSLEY: Sustained.

SUTTON: I get it.

(Tr. at 202-203). This is nothing but double hearsay from Sutton.

As set forth above, it is Nye County who has the burden of proof to establish that Captains
constitute Supervisory Employees under the pre-2019 amendments to NRS 288.138. Hearsay from
Goldner that Boruchowitz made all the assignments and was “running the show”, and double hearsay
from Sutton that Sheriff Wehrly told others on the campaign trail that she let Boruchowitz do too much,
is not sufficient for Nye County to carry its burden.

D. Captains Are Not Bargaining Exempt Employees Under NRS 288.138(1)(b).

On August 3, 2022 Nye County filed its Amended Petition for Declaratory Order to allege that
the position of Captain was also a non-bargaining unit eligible employee under NRS 288.138(1)(b).
While the failure of proof as to the criteria under subsection (1)(a) is dispositive of this alternative
claim, it must further be pointed out that there was no substantial evidence presented that Captains had
authority on behalf of Nye County to “Make budgetary decisions” and “Be consulted on decisions
relating to collective bargaining”. All of the criteria under subsections (1), (2), and (3) must be met to
fall under NRS 288.138(1)(b). City of Reno v. Reno Firefighters Local 371 et al. Case No. A-1046049
Item No. 777-B (2012).

Nye County sought to rely upon the Captain’s job description which states “Assists in the
preparation of the Sheriff’s Office budget, monitored budget, and attends all budget hearings as
requested by the Sheriff”. However, Elona Goldner testified “I know the Captains have access to the
budget to look at it. How much they actually look at it or review it, I can’t say”. (Tr. at 115). Goldner

further testified:
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He participates in the budget, in the budget meetings and stuff. He recommends - I know that if
there — if they need equipment and stuff, that he will go out for bid on — from things like that.

(Tr. at 151).

Looking at a budget, or making recommendations “as to equipment and stuff” and securing bids
in connection therewith, is a far cry from having authority to actually make the “budgetary decisions”
for NCSO. At that authority rests with the Board of County Commissioners and the Sheriff. To the
contrary, Captains had to get permission from the Sheriff to even spend $324 for new Miranda cards.
(Tr. at 348-349).

Moreover, there was absolutely no showing that budget issues involved “a significant portion”
of a Captain’s workday. To the contrary, Goldner stated that she “can’t say” how much Captains
actually look at the budget. (Tr. at 115).

Likewise, there was no substantial evidence presented at the Hearing that Captains had the
authority to be “consulted on decisions related to collective bargaining”. No witness for Nye County
ever testified that Captains were made part of the management bargaining team when negotiating with
any of Nye County’s unions. The mere fact that Captain Boruchowitz was frequently contacted by
Goldner and Sutton about contract interpretation does not establish that he had a right to be consulted
on decisions related to collective bargaining. As set forth above, Boruchowitz negotiated most of the
contracts for the unions over the years. Being knowledgeable does not equal authority to be consulted.
V. NYE COUNTY VIOLATED NRS 288.270(1)(a) AND (e) WHEN IT DETERMINED

THAT CAPTAIN BORUCHOWITZ COULD NOT NEGOTIATE ON BEHALF OF

NCASS AND REFUSED TO NEGOTIATE AS LONG AS NCASS WOULD NOT

ACQUIESE TO HIS REMOVAL FROM THE BARGAINING UNIT.

It is a prohibited practice for a local government employer willfully to refuse to bargain
collectively in good faith with the exclusive representative as required in NRS 288.150. NRS

288.270(1)(e). "A party's conduct at the bargaining table must evidence a sincere desire to come to an
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agreement. The determination of whether there has been such sincerity is made by drawing inferences
from conduct of the parties as a whole." City of Reno v. Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 731, Item No.
253-A (1991), quoting NLRB v. Ins. Agent’s Int'l Union, 361 U.S. 488 (1970). The Act imposes a
reciprocal duty on employers and bargaining agents to negotiate in good faith concerning the
mandatory subjects of bargaining listed in NRS 288.150. NRS 288.270(1)(e) deems it a prohibited
labor practice for a local government employer to bargain in bad faith with a recognized employee
organization. O'Leary v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dep't, Item No. 803, EMRB Case No. Al-
046116 (May 15, 2015); see also Serv. Employees Int'l Union, Local 1107 v. Clark County, Item No.
713A, EMRB Case No. A1-045965 (Oct. 5, 2010).

The duty to bargain in good faith does not require that the parties actually reach an agreement,
but does require that the parties approach negotiations with a sincere effort to do so. Ed Support
Employees Ass'n v. Clark County Sch. Dist., Case No. A1-046113, Item No. 809, 4 (2015), citing City
of Reno v. Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 731, Item No. 253-A, Case No. A1-045472 (1991).

A. The Recording Of The Meeting Between Mark Ricciardi, Timothy Sutton, Captain

Boruchowitz And Lieutenant Klenczar On May 6, 2022 Is Admissible.

Nevada is what is referred to as a “one-party consent” state when it comes to the subject of
recording conversations. Only one party to the conversation needed consent. This was recognized by
Chairman Eckersley. (Tr. at 91). This is in contrast to telephone conversations which require the
consent of both (all) parties. See NRS 200.650.

After Mark Ricciardi testified, the Board admitted the audio recording of the May 6, 2022
meeting made by Captain Boruchowitz into evidence. However, the Board did afford to Nye County
the opportunity to brief the issue of its admissibility. (Tr. at 91).

There is no basis to exclude the audio recording. There were no ground rules for the bargaining

which would have prohibited the recording. Indeed, all of the negotiations prior to this time had been
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by email for Covid reasons. (Tr. at 184-186, 188-189). Therefore, all prior negotiations were already in
fact electronically recorded through the email process. Moreover, Nye County cannot complain that
there was no opportunity to discuss whether the negotiations would be further recorded because among
the first words out of Mr. Ricciardi’s mouth when the NCASS team entered the room on May 6, 2022
were “I’m not here for your bargaining session, because I didn’t even know it was happening” and “I
don’t think this is a real bargaining session”. (Exhibit “MM”).

Finally, any claimed prejudice by Nye County was cured when the Board allowed the
proceedings to adjourn so that Nye County Council and witness Ricciardi could review the audiotape
so as to decide whether it would recall Ricciardi to the stand. (Tr. at 99-101). Nye County ultimately

declined to recall Ricciardi.
B. Nye County Failed To Bargain In Good Faith By Presenting The Removal Of The
Captain From The NCASS Bargaining Unit As A Fait Accompli, And By Refusing
To Negotiate Until The Captain Position Was Removed.

It is well established that, “once a specific job has been included within the scope of a
bargaining unit by either Board action or consent of the parties, the employer cannot unilaterally
remove or modify that position without first securing the consent of the union or the Board.”
Wackenhut Corp., 345 N.L.R.B. 850, 852 (2005). Where an employer moves an entire job
classification out of the unit, or transfers employees out of the unit to do the same work they had been
doing as unit employees, without the union's consent, it has unlawfully altered the scope of the unit.
Beverly Enterprises, Inc., Case 12-CA-19915, Advice Memorandum dated September 21, 1999.

The NLRB will find that there has been an unlawful change in unit scope regardless of whether

new job duties justify removal from the unit. For example, in Mt. Sinai Hospital, 331 NLRB 895

(2000) enf’d.8 Fed.App’x 111 (2™ Cir. 2001) the NLRB found the employer violated Section 8(a)(5) of
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the Act because its unilateral action constituted a change in unit scope even assuming the new
position's removal from the unit was proper because of new supervisory job duties.

Where an employer wishes to bargain over the scope of a bargaining unit, “[a] employer has a
responsibility to give a union sufficient notice in advance of any proposed change to allow all
reasonable opportunity to bargain.” Sumter Electric Cooperative, Inc., NLRB Case No. 12-CA-2538],
2008 WL 8588401 (Kearnecy 2008) citing Intersystems Design Corp.,278 NLRB 759 (1986). “If the
notice is not sufficiently in advance of the proposed change, or the evidence establishes that the
employer has already made its decision and has no intention of changing its mind, then the notice is
nothing more than a presentation of a fait accompli.” Ibid.

The parties began bargaining in August of 2021. At no time prior to NCASS’ announced intent
to declare impasse on April 20, 2022 (Exhibit “DD”) was the subject of the scope of the unit ever
raised. Tt was raised for the time at the May 6, 2022 meeting — which was supposed to be the final
meeting before impasse.

The removal of the Captain from the bargaining unit was presented as a fait accompli. This is
very clear from Ricciardi’s statements such as “But it can’t be you because you are the boss. So yes, the
bargaining unit we can continue but not you”, and when NCASS expressed a desire to continue
negotiating “Maybe we can, but you’re a member of management, management can’t negotiate on
behalf of the union”. (Exhibit “MM?”).

Nye County doubled down on the fait accompli when it rejected the proposed MOU sent to
Ricciardi by Lieutenant Jordan (County Exhibit “5”) and insisted upon the removal of the Captain
through the MOA sent to Jordan on May 19, 2022 as a condition for negotiations to move forward.
(County Exhibit “6”). At no point was Nye County interested in even examining whether a Captain’s
responsibility to direct involved “independent judgment” or took up “a significant portion of the

[Captain’s] workday”
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Nye County did not even dispute at the hearing its refusal to bargain unless its preconditions
were met. In its opening statement Nye County’s counsel stated “it would be improper for the County
negotiate with NCASS” illegal bargaining unit”. (Tr. at 32). When Mark Ricciardi was called as the
County’s first witness he reiterated this position:

We have to fix this unit before we try to bargain a contract. We can’t bargain a contract

with an unlawful bargaining unit.

(Tr. at 59). This did not constitute “a sincere effort” to reach an agreement.

Even before Nye County put an end to bargaining through Ricciardi, it had already failed to
bargain in good faith. One of the indicators of bad-faith bargaining is delay tactics, and “the refusal to
make proposals or counterproposals during negotiations”. Reno Police Protective Association and
Joseph Butterman vs. City of Reno, Case No. A1-045334, Ttem #115 (1981) and International Union of
Operating Engineers Local 501 v. Esmeralda County, Case No. 2018-014, Ttem No. 838 (2019). Even
before May 6, 2022 NCASS would make proposals and would have to wait a month or more for any
response by Nye County. These delays, were anything but a “sincere effort to reach an agreement”.
Particularly appalling is the fact that the May 6, 2022 meeting was set up by Nye County (Exhibit “II”)
after NCASS made it clear that the parties needed to meet to reach an agreement or impasse (Exhibits
“FF” and “GG”), and then use the meeting to stop negotiations until such time as NCASS agreed to
remove Captain Boruchowitz from the bargaining unit. There was no reason Nye County could not
have continued negotiations with Boruchowitz as the lead negotiator while it prepared and filed its
Petition for Declaratory Order.

C. Reliance Upon Advice Of Counsel Is No Defense, And An Award Of Costs And

Attorney’s Fees Is Warranted In This Case.
At the Hearing of this matter, County Manager Timothy Sutton testified that he decided to

follow Mark Ricciardi’s advice not to negotiate with NCASS as long as Captains were in the
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bargaining unit. (Tr. at 218). Sutton admitted he was ultimately responsible for the decision, and admits
he could have continued negotiations with NCASS. (Tr. at 220).

Advice of counsel is no defense to a charge of failing to bargain in good faith. As explained
long ago by the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit in NLRB v. Hendel
Manufacturing Co., 483 F.2d 350 (2d Cir. 1973):

The NLR Act might have been so drafted as to prohibit only intentional interferences by

an employer with his employees' freedom of association. But that was nof the

Congressional choice. The legislative mandate prohibits interference whether

intentionally interfering or not, whether pursuant to bona fide, competent advice of an

expert or not. Congress did not here give the protection available under some other

statutes to those who act in good faith upon advice given by competent, honest lawyers,

accountants, or other experts. See, for example, the protection afforded by Section 11 of

the Securities Act of 1933 as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 77k(b) (3), and by Section 18 of the

Securities & Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 78r(a).

What the NLR Act does is to make the employer act at his peril.

483 F.2d at 353.

What makes this case particularly egregious is that both Ricciardi, and Nye County, knew or
should have known better. Even before the 2019 amendment to NRS 288.138, Nye County always
permitted bargaining units with both supervisors and the deputies they supervised. As set forth above,
the old NCLEMA existed for more than a decade with Lieutenants, Captains and Assistant Sheriffs.
Until 2021 the NCLEA consisted of both Sergeants and Deputies.

This Board should take judicial notice that the Complaint filed by the NCLEA in Case No.
2020-025 on November 30, 2020 alleged at paragraphs 48 and 49 that Nye County was unlawfully

assisting with the formation of a separate Sergeants bargaining unit. In its Answer filed December 8,

2020, and in its Prehearing Statement filed January 6, 2021, Nye County never defended against that
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charge by claiming the NCLEA was an “illegal” bargaining unit.® Nye County never had a problem
with Sergeants being in the NCLEA bargaining unit with the deputies. (Tr. at 330). The only reason the
charge of interference in the bargaining unit by convincing the Sergeants to form their own Association
did not make it to hearing because it was actually undersigned counsel who convinced the Sergeants to
leave.

Ricciardi testified that he went to the May 6, 2022 meeting immediately after negotiation
sessions with IAFF Local 4068 Pahrump Valley Fire and Rescue. (Tr. at 58). The Board can take
judicial notice of the collective bargaining agreement between Local 1068 and the Town of Pahrump
on file with the Board. The bargaining unit contains both Captains and Paramedics/Firefighters/EMTs.”
Ricciardi admitted under cross-examination that he never raised any issues about supervisors in the
bargaining unit with Local 1068. (Tr. at 85).

Was no good reason not to continue with the negotiations for the Lieutenants while the issue of
the Captains was resolved. The MOA sent by Lieutenant Jordan to Mark Ricciardi was taken from an

earlier MOA drafted by the County which allowed negotiations to continue for the rest of the NCMEA

s In responding to the allegation that Nye County had violated NRS 288.270(1)(b) by assisting in the
formation of a Sergeants bargaining unit, Nye County took the position "Complainants claim in this
regard fails because Captain Boruchowitz is not a ‘designated representative of respondent” ".
(Prehearing Statement at p. 5). This should further estop Nye County from claiming that Captains are
non-bargaining unit eligible supervisors under NRS 288.138(1)(b).

7 The Local 4068 bargaining agreement can be located at:

https://emrb.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/emrbnvgov/content/Resources/FE/IAFF%204068%20Pahrump%20

Vallev%20FF%20Assoc(1).pdf
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bargaining unit after Nye County unilaterally carved out the juvenile probation officers. (Tr. at 367-
368, 371-372).8

Nye County’s actions were in fact motivated by anti-union animus. A little over two months
after Nye County refused to bargain, Sheriff Sharon Wehrly promoted Harry Means to Captain. (Tr. at
268). However, Tim Sutton and Nye County refused to recognize the promotion because a second
Captain would allow the formation of a separate bargaining unit if Nye County’s Petition for
Declaratory Order in this case were successful. This was candidly admitted to by Timothy Sutton in a
Microsoft Teams message when Captain Boruchowitz questioned why the documentation on Harry

Means promotion was not being processed:

FYI PJ on Means was submitted 6/2 and went to Elona that day. Viewed it 6/8. His
promotion was effective 7/11. We have heard nothing to this day. It is still sitting in her
queue.

And... Just clarifying as I have thought about it. You traditionally approve
reclassification, why does the fact that this creates a second Captain’s position
discourage you from doing that. If we were to “create” and request recognition of
another bargaining unit as you said, the BOC see gets to approve or deny that, so why
not let them deal with it that way. They don’t approve reclassification typically.

Sutton answered:

Because as far as I know, I’ve never approved an additional position for a lone,
supervisory position whose membership in a particular bargaining unit was actively
being challenged and whose approval would allow the formation of another bargaining
unit. It’s no secret that our Board wants less unions (actually no unions) so I’'m not
going to do anything that paves the way for something that they’ve consistently,
adamantly, and publicly opposed.

(Exhibit “LL”; Tr. at 399-400).°

¢ That resulted in two (2) cases before the Board — Al-046062 and A1-046123. Undersigned counsel
represented the NCLEA in A1-046123. It is notable that Nye County only carved out the juvenile
probation officers, and left the Sergeants in the bargaining unit.

° This anti-union animus can further be seen in Nye County's filing of an Amended Petition in this case

seeking to claim that Captains are not bargaining eligible at all-because they fall under NRS
288.138(b). It is not enough for Nye County to remove Captains from NCASS; Nye County wants to
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At the hearing, Sutton did not deny anti-union animus on behalf of Nye County, but sought to
claim there were other reasons such as Sheriff Wehrly stating during her campaign that the NCSO was
top-heavy, and not wanting to bring back NCLEMA positions. Sutton further claimed that one of the
other reasons for denying the promotion was an upcoming primary election. (Tr. at 178).

These explanations are not worthy of credence. It is the elected Sheriff who determines how
many Captains and Lieutenants are needed to effectively run the NCSO, not a County Manager. It is
notable that Joseph McGill, who actually won the most recent election and was called as a witness by
Nye County, did not testify that he thought two Captains was excessive, and has taken no action to
relieve Means of even an Acting Captain’s responsibilities. Moreover, denying the promotion because
of an upcoming election would itself be a prohibited labor practice as NRS 288.270(1)(f) makes it are
prohibited practice to discriminate for “political reasons”.

NCASS is a very small bargaining unit consisting of one Captain (or two depending upon the
outcome of Harry Means’ grievance currently pending before Arbitrator Timothy D. Williams), and
eight (8) Lieutenants. (Tr. at 309). This Board should not countenance Nye County, which voluntarily
put Captains in the bargaining unit, just as it did with NCLEMA, all of a sudden making an issue of it,

and then using that issue to bring a halt to bargaining after the parties had been bargaining for the better

deprive Captains of any bargaining at all. As set forth above, the claim that Captains fall under NRS
288.138(b) is without merit.
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part of a year. Accordingly, an award of costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to NRS 288.110(6) is

appropriate in this case.

—
DATED this 5() day of May 2023

A\
DANIFf. MARKS, BS€.
Nevada State Bar No. 002003
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 004673
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Cross-claimants Nye County
Association of Sheriff’s Supervisors and
David Boruchowitz
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FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP

MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 3141

ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12986

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 1500
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Telephone: (702) 252-3131
Facsimile: (702) 252-7411

E-mail: mricciardi@fisherphillips.com
E-mail: akheel@fisherphillips.com

FILED
May 31, 2023
State of Nevada
E.M.R.B.
4:41 p.m.

Attorneys for Petitioner/Counter-Respondent,

Nye County

STATE OF NEVADA
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT RELATIONS BOARD

NYE COUNTY, NEVADA,
Petitioner,
Vs.

NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF
SHERIFEF’S SUPERVISORS,

Respondent.

Case No.: 2022-009

NYE COUNTY’S POST-HEARING
BRIEF

NYE COUNTY ASSOCIATION OF
SHERIFF’S SUPERVISORS; and
DAVID BORUCHOWITZ,
Counter-Claimants,
VS.

NYE COUNTY, NEVADA,

Counter-Respondent.

I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to NAC 288.345, Petitioner/Counter-Respondent, Nye County, Nevada

(“the County” or “the Petitioner”), by and through its counsel of record, Fisher & Phillips

LLP, hereby files this Post-Hearing Brief in support of its Amended Petition for a

Declaratory Order finding that the classification of Captain in the County’s Sheriff’s
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Office cannot be a member of an employee organization under Nevada law or, at a
minimum, a member of the bargaining unit represented by Respondent/Counter-
Claimant, Nye County Association of Sheriff’s Supervisors (“NCASS” or “the Union”).
This brief also responds to NCASS’s and Captain David Boruchowitz’s (“Boruchowitz”)
Counterclaim for Bad-Faith Bargaining and Unilateral Change (“Counterclaim”).!

Captains have the authority, on behalf and in the interest of the County, to hire,
transfer, discipline, suspend, promote, assign, and direct other employees, and to adjust
their grievances, and/or to effectively recommend any such actions, using independent
judgment. Moreover, they make budgetary decisions and are consulted on decisions
relating to collective bargaining. Consequently, including Captains in a bargaining unit
represented by any employee organization is expressly prohibited by Nevada law. See
NRS 288.140(4)(a) (providing that a “supervisory employee” who exercises statutory
supervisory authority, makes budgetary decisions, and is consulted on decisions relating
to collective bargaining “may not be a member of an employee organization”). At a
minimum, including Captains in the same bargaining unit as Lieutenants violates Nevada
law because Captains directly supervise Lieutenants. See NRS 288.170(3) (“[A]
supervisory employee must not be a member of the same bargaining unit as the employees
under the direction of that . . . supervisory employee.”).

Notwithstanding these legal restraints, the Union has refused to agree to exclude
the Captain classification from the bargaining unit and continues to demand that the
County negotiate a successor CBA without correcting the unit. Accordingly, the County
filed the instant petition with the Government Employee-Management Relations Board
(“EMRB?” or “the Board”).

The Union (and Boruchowitz) filed a counterclaim alleging that the County failed

to bargain in good faith and unilaterally changed the composition of the bargaining unit

! The County’s Amended Petition did not name Boruchowitz as a Respondent and, consequently,
he is not technically a “Counter-Respondent.”
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by removing the Captain position in violation of NRS 288.270(1)(a) and (e). The
counterclaim can easily be dismissed under established EMRB precedent.?
A hearing in the matter was held before the EMRB on February 14-16, 2023, in
Las Vegas, Nevada.
II. SUMMARY OF FACTS

A. Background

The County is a “local government employer” as defined by NRS 288.060, and
the Union is an “employee organization” as defined by NRS 288.040. The County and
the Union are parties to a collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”) with the term of July
1, 2020 through June 30, 2022 (Co. Exh. 1).? The CBA expressly covers employees in
the Lieutenant and Administrative Captain classifications (Co. Exh. 1, p. 3).*

B. Bargaining History

The predecessor CBA, which was in effect from April 17, 2018 to June 30, 2020,
only covered Lieutenants (Tr. 172; U. Exh. B). In August 2019, Boruchowitz was
promoted from Lieutenant to Captain (Tr. 331; U. Exh. C). Consequently, during
bargaining for the most recent CBA, Boruchowitz proposed—on behalf of the Union—
that the Captain classification be added to the bargaining unit recognition clause (Tr. 172;
Co. Exh. 9).° Nye County Manager Tim Sutton was the County’s lead negotiator (Tr.
185-186). He and his negotiating team agreed to include the Captain classification at
Boruchowitz’s request (Tr. 186, 216; Co. Exh. 1, p. 3). At the time, the County was

handling contract negotiations without the assistance of outside legal counsel (Tr. 186).

2 The Union’s unilateral change allegation is especially misdirected. The County has not
unilaterally changed anything; rather, the County has simply refused to continue negotiating with the Union
pending the Board’s resolution of the underlying unit issue.

3 The Board may take official notice of the CBA, on file with the Board, pursuant to NAC 288.332.

4 The County technically has two Captain classifications: Administrative Captain and Operations
Captain (Tr. 108). However, there has not been anyone in the Administrative Captain classification in many
years (Tr. 162). Boruchowitz is coded by the County’s HR department as an Operations Captain (Tr. 162).
The duties and responsibilities of Administrative Captain and Operations Captain are the same (Tr. 381),
and the County acknowledges that the CBA was intended to cover the Captain position held by
Boruchowitz (Tr. 216).

3 Boruchowitz is and was at all relevant times the president of NCASS and its lead negotiator.
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In August 2021, Boruchowitz notified HR Director Elona Goldner of the Union’s
demand for a wage increase pursuant to reopener language in the CBA (U. Exh. F).
Between September and December 2021, Sutton (on behalf of the County) and
Boruchowitz (on behalf of the Union) had discussions and exchanged several proposals
via phone and email (U. Exhs. G, L, P). In January 2022, Boruchowitz sent Sutton a
counteroffer to the County’s latest wage offer and, alternatively, proposed revisions to
the contract as a whole in the event the County was inclined “instead to renegotiate the
entire CBA and resign it now and avoid the negotiation a few months from now” (U. Exh.
R).% The County agreed to wrap the wage reopener negotiations into overall bargaining
for a successor CBA (Tr. 184-189, 216, 354-355).

In early March 2022, the County consulted with a vendor named Pontifex to
conduct a wage study and then shared the results with the Union (U. Exh. V). The Union
challenged certain metrics used by Pontifex to conduct the study (U. Exh. V), so the
County sent it back to Pontifex to address those issues (U. Exh. AA). In mid-April 2022,
the County provided the Union an updated report from Pontifex, but that too was
unsatisfactory to the Union (U. Exh. CC).

In late-April 2022, the County sent a counteroffer to the Union’s proposal for a
successor CBA (U. Exh. EE). Boruchowitz replied by denigrating the County’s proposal
and suggesting the parties set up an in-person meeting to attempt to resolve the
negotiations and, if not, submit last and best offers and then “move on” (U. Exh. FF).
Sutton agreed to meet in person but informed Boruchowitz he wanted to involve long-

time outside counsel for the County, Mark Ricciardi (U. Exhs. GG, HH).’

¢ Negotiations for a successor to the CBA were due to begin in February 2022 because the CBA
was set to expire in June 2022.

7 Prior to that time, Ricciardi had very limited involvement in the parties’ wage reopener and
successor CBA negotiations (Tr. 58, 86, 217-218). Boruchowitz recalled Sutton informing him
(Boruchowitz) in November 2021 that he (Sutton) had reached out to Ricciardi to make sure there was no
issue with the parties transitioning from reopener to full negotiations (Tr. 355-356).
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C. May 6, 2022 Meeting

The parties met in person on May 6, 2022 (Tr. 190, 362-363; Co. Exh. 4; U. Exh.
IT). Boruchowitz and Lieutenant Tom Klenczar attended the meeting on behalf of the
Union, and Sutton, Ricciardi, HR Director Goldner, and Comptroller Savannah Rucker
attended on behalf of the County (Tr. 363).

Ricciardi was not aware that a meeting between the County and NCASS was even
taking place on May 6 until earlier in the day. He was at Sutton’s office negotiating with
a firefighters’ union on behalf of the Town of Pahrump in Nye County. When those
negotiations concluded, Sutton told him there were some “roadblocks” in reaching a CBA
with NCASS and asked if he would stay to assist. Ricciardi agreed and began reviewing
the CBA and proposals because he had not been involved with NCASS negotiations since
the predecessor contract that covered only Lieutenants. Ricciardi quickly discovered that
the CBA included Captains in addition to Lieutenants, which prompted him to advise
Sutton that including the Captain position in the same unit as the Lieutenants was “not
only crazy and insane, it’s a violation of the law.” (Tr. 58-59.)

Sutton responded that he understood the concern but was not sure how to handle
it at that moment given that NCASS was already there for a meeting that day. Sutton had
not previously told Ricciardi about the meeting with NCASS, so Ricciardi was caught off
guard. (Tr. 191.) Nevertheless, Ricciardi agreed to serve as the County’s lead negotiator
at the session (Tr. 60, 189-190).

There is no genuine dispute about what transpired during the May 6 meeting.®

Ricciardi opened the meeting by telling the Union’s representatives, including Captain

8 The best evidence of the May 6 meeting is Boruchowitz’s surreptitious recording of it (U. Exh.
MM). However, counsel for the County objected to the admission of the recording into evidence (Tr. 88-
90), and the Board conditionally admitted it subject to considering the parties’ legal arguments on the issue
in post-hearing briefs (Tr. 92-92). The recording should be excluded from the record based on well-settled
legal and public policy principles. See City of Reno v. IAF, Local 731, Case No. A1-045472, Item No. 253-
A, pp 5-6 (1991) (finding union violated EMRA by insisting on a court reporter during bargaining and
observing that “[t]he presence of a stenographer can surely stifle the spontaneous, frank, no-holds-barred
exchange of ideas and persuasive forces that successful bargaining often requires”). Nevertheless, in the
event the recording is ultimately deemed admissible and considered, the Board will find it materially
consistent with the witnesses’ recollection of the May 6 meeting and, thus, of no additional help in resolving
the issues under consideration.
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Boruchowitz, he was not there for their meeting but was in the building for something
else (Tr. 238-239, 363). He then told them he learned that Captains were in the bargaining
unit and that was unlawful under Nevada law (Tr. 59-60, 363-364). He also referred them
directly to the controlling Nevada statute, NRS 288.138 (Tr. 364). Boruchowitz suggested
to Ricciardi that the parties move forward with negotiating a contract for the Lieutenants,
but Ricciardi responded that it would not be proper to do so as long as Boruchowitz was
the chief negotiator for the Union (Tr. 94-96, 364). The meeting ended with Ricciardi
promising to follow up with the Union in writing with the County’s position (Tr. 65, 365).

On May 9, 2022, as promised, Ricciardi emailed Boruchowitz (Co. Exh. 4). His
email cited NRS 288.170(3), which provides that a supervisory employee must not be a
member of the same bargaining unit as the employees under his direction, and then stated
the County’s position that the Captain classification satisfies criteria for supervisory
status under NRS 288.138(1)(a). He also addressed a recent amendment to the statute,
added by Senate Bill (“SB”) 158 in 2019, which provides that the performance of some,
but not all, statutory duties under a paramilitary command structure shall not require a
person to be deemed a supervisory employee solely because of those duties. The email
also included research Ricciardi had compiled related to the legislative history of SB 158.

D. Procedural History

On May 24, 2022, the County filed a petition with the EMRB seeking a
declaratory order that, under Nevada law, Captains cannot be members of the bargaining
unit represented by NCASS because they supervise other employees (Lieutenants) in that
unit. See Petition, filed May 24, 2022. In response to the petition, NCASS averred, inter
alia, that the “overwhelming majority” of a Captain’s workday is spent “budget
organizing, planning, and presenting to the Sheriff policies, procedures, capital requests,
bidding processes, and purchasing.” Response, at p. 5, filed June 3, 2022. Additional
evidence also proved that Captains are consulted on decisions relating to collective
bargaining. See, e.g., Nye County Law Enforcement Association v. Nye County, Case No.

2020-025, Item No. 872, at p. 3 (2021) (discussing Captain Boruchowitz’s involvement
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in responding to grievance on behalf of Nye County Sheriff’s Office). Consequently, on
August 3, 2022, the County filed an amended petition with the EMRB to also seek a
declaratory order that, under Nevada law, Captains cannot be members of any employee
organization because, in addition to exercising supervisory functions, they make
budgetary decisions and are consulted on decisions relating to collective bargaining. See
Amended Petition, filed Aug. 3, 2022.

The EMRB issued an Amended Notice of Hearing on January 4, 2023, setting an
evidentiary hearing for February 14-16, 2023. See Amended Notice of Hearing, filed Jan.
4, 2023. The hearing was held as scheduled, and the EMRB ordered that post-hearing
briefs be submitted.

III. ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION

A. Must the Captains be excluded from the NCASS bargaining unit because
Captains are supervisory employees of Lieutenants under NRS 288.138(1)(a) and,
therefore, cannot be in the same bargaining unit as Lieutenants?

B. Must the Captains be excluded from being in any bargaining unit because
Captains are supervisory employees within the definition of NRS 288.138(1)(b)?

C. Did Nye County engage in a prohibited labor practice, in violation of NRS
288.270(1)(a) and (e), by first raising the improper scope of the bargaining unit with the
Union in negotiations before filing its Petition for a Declaratory Order?

D. Did Nye County engage in a prohibited labor practice, in violation of NRS
288.270(1)(a) and (e), by refusing to negotiate with an illegal bargaining unit and refusing
to conduct piecemeal negotiations with Lieutenants while the petition to determine the
appropriate bargaining unit was pending?

IV. MEMORANDUM OF LEGAL POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

A. Statutory Authority
Pursuant to NRS 288.140, every local government employee has the right to join
any employee organization of the employee’s choice, subject to certain limitations. One

key limitation is found in NRS 288.140(4)(a), which provides that a “supervisory
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employee” described in NRS 288.138(1)(b) (formerly NRS 288.075(1)(b)) “may not be
a member of an employee organization.” NRS 288.138(1)(b) defines a “supervisory

employee” as follows:

(b) Any individual or class of individuals appointed by the employer and having
authority on behalf of the employer to:

(1) Hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, terminate, promote, discharge,
assign, reward or discipline other employees or responsibility to direct
them, to adjust their grievances or to effectively recommend such action;
(2) Make budgetary decisions; and

(3) Be consulted on decisions relating to collective bargaining,

if, in connection with the foregoing, the exercise of such authority is not of a
merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of independent judgment.
The exercise of such authority shall not be deemed to place the employee in
supervisory employee status unless the exercise of such authority occupies a
significant portion of the employee’s workday.

Another key limitation on the right of local government employees to join an
employee organization is found in NRS 288.170(3), which provides that “a supervisory
employee must not be a member of the same bargaining unit as the employees under the
direction of that . . . supervisory employee.” NRS 288.170(6)(b) provides that a
“supervisory employee” for purposes of NRS 288.170(3) has the meaning described in
NRS 288.138(1)(a) (formerly NRS 288.075(1)(a)), which defines “supervisory

employee” as:

Any individual having authority in the interest of the employer to hire, transfer,
suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or discipline other
employees or responsibility to direct them, to adjust their grievances or effectively
to recommend such action, if in connection with the foregoing, the exercise of such
authority is not of a merely routine or clerical nature, but requires the use of]
independent judgment. The exercise of such authority shall not be deemed to place
the employee in supervisory employee status unless the exercise of such authority
occupies a significant portion of the employee’s workday. If any of the following
persons perform some, but not all, of the foregoing duties under a paramilitary
command structure, such a person shall not be deemed a supervisory employee
solely because of such duties: (1) A police officer. . ..

To satisfy the definition of “supervisory employee” under NRS 288.138(1)(a), an

individual must have the authority to engage in at least 1 of the 12 listed supervisory
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functions. See City of Elko v. The Elko Police Officers Protective Association, Case No.
2017-026, Item No. 831 (2018) (relying on the plain language of the statute, as well as the
legislative history, intent, and analogous provisions in the National Labor Relations Act
(“NLRA”), to conclude that an individual only needs to have the authority to exercise one
of the listed functions to be a “supervisory employee”).’

To satisty the definition of “supervisory employee” under NRS 288.138(1)(b), an
individual must—in addition to make budgetary decisions and be consulted on decisions
relating to collective bargaining—have the authority to engage in at least 1 of the 13
supervisory functions listed in subsection (1)(b)(1).'° The Union will rely on City of Reno
v. Reno Firefighters, Local 731, Case No. A1-046049, Item 777-B (2012), to argue, as it
did in its Response to Nye County’s Amended Petition, that an individual must possess
all 13 supervisory functions (as well as make budgetary decisions and be consulted on
decisions relating to collective bargaining) to be a supervisor under NRS 288.138(1)(b).
The Union’s argument is premised on an incorrect reading of City of Reno, disregards the
plain language of the statute, and would produce an absurd result.

In City of Reno, the EMRB was called upon to interpret NRS 288.138(1)(b) (then
NRS 288.075(1)(b)) and, in pertinent part, agreed with the petitioner and the respondents
that a supervisory employee under that statute “must have authority to perform all of the
functions described in subsections (1), (2) and (3) of subparagraph (b) in order to be
properly considered a ‘supervisory employee.”” Id. at 7. Contrary to the Union’s
understanding here, however, the EMRB in City of Reno did not mean that, to be a

supervisory employee, an individual had to be authorized to perform each of the 13

® The EMRB in City of Elko was particularly persuaded by NLRB v. Kentucky River Community
Care, Inc., 532 U.S. 706 (2001), in which the U.S. Supreme Court held that individuals need only possess
the authority to exercise 1 of the 12 listed supervisory functions to be a “supervisor” under Sec. 2(11) of
the NLRA. The EMRB explained that Kentucky River was “persuasive and controlling in this matter” in
part because Sec. 2(11) of the NLRA has the “exact same definition as in NRS [288.138(1)(a)]”” and “the
EMRA does not reflect a contrary legislative intent in this regard.” City of Elko, above at 4-5.

19 The only distinction between NRS 288.138(1)(a) and NRS 288.138(1)(b)(1) regarding the
supervisory functions is that the latter provision adds “terminate” to the list. There is no legislative history
explaining why this word was added or what, if any, difference there is between “terminate” and
“discharge.”
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supervisory functions listed in subparagraph (1)(b)(1), in addition to having the authority
to make budgetary decisions and be consulted on decisions relating to collective
bargaining. The EMRB simply meant that an individual had to satisfy each of the three
subparagraphs (i.e., (1) perform at least 1 of the 13 listed functions, (2) make budgetary
decisions, and (3) be consulted on decisions relating to collective bargaining).

Indeed, the EMRB expressly recognized in City of Reno that “[t]he language in
subparagraph (1)(b)(1) is nearly identical to the language in subparagraph (1)(a)[,]” with
the only difference being the addition of the word “terminate,” which is not listed in (1)(a).
Id. The EMRB further pointed out that a supervisory employee under subparagraph (b)
must be “appointed by the employer.” Id.!' Accordingly, the EMRB concluded, “a
‘supervisory employee’ under subparagraph (1)(b) must satisfy the pre-existing definition
of a supervisory employee, and in addition must be appointed, and must satisfy each
additional requirement of subsections (1)(b)(2) and (1)(b)(3) . . ..” Id. at 7-8. Clearly,
then, the EMRB intended that the “pre-existing definition of a supervisory employee” was
the definition provided in subparagraph (1)(a).

The EMRB’s conclusion is also consistent with the plain language of subparagraph
(1)(b)(1), which repeatedly use the conjunction “or” rather than “and” among the listed
functions, just like in subparagraph (1)(a). Compare NRS 288.138(1)(b)(1) (“Hire,
transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, terminate, promote, discharge, assign, reward or
discipline other employees or responsibility to direct them, to adjust their grievances or

to effectively recommend such action) (emphasis added), with NRS 288.138(1)(a) (“hire,

' To the extent the Union argues Captains are not “appointed,” as contemplated by NRS
288.138(1)(b), the argument can easily be dismissed. The Sheriff has the express statutory authority to
“appoint” deputies, including those in supervisory positions (subject to approval by the County Board of
Commissioners). See NRS 248.040(1)(a) (“[E]ach sheriff may . . . [a]ppoint . . . one or more deputies, who
may perform all the duties devolving on the sheriff of the county and such other duties as the sheriff may
from time to time direct.”); NRS 248.040(1)(b) (“A deputy sheriff who functions as the head of a
department . . . may be removed at the sheriff’s pleasure.”). See also Glazier v. City of North Las Vegas,
Case No. A1-045876, Item No. 624A (2007) (recognizing that sergeant “tested for the lieutenant position,
but was not appointed”) (emphasis added); Elko County Sheriff Employee’s Organization, Inc. v. County
of Elko, Case No. A1-045424, Item No. 208 (1988) (recognizing that deputy sheriffs are appointed);
Piccinini v. County of White Pine, Case No. A1-045322, Item No. 92 (1979) (same). Thus, there can be no
dispute that Captains are “appointed” as the term is used in NRS 288.138(1)(b).
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transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, assign, reward or discipline other
employees or responsibility to direct them, to adjust their grievances or effectively to
recommend such action”) (emphasis added). See also City of Elko, above at 3 (“The Board
finds that [NRS 288.138(1)(a)] plainly and unambiguously requires only 1 of the 12
criteria to be shown. The statute clearly uses the word ‘or’ and not ‘and’.”) (citing Dezzani
Kern & Assocs., Ltd., 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 412 P.3d 56, 60 (2018) (holding that “the
word ‘or’ is typically used to connect phrases or clauses representing alternatives.
Moreover, courts presume that ‘or’ is used in a statute disjunctively unless there is clear
legislative intent to the contrary.”), and McGrath v. State Dep’t of Pub. Safety, 123 Nev.
120, 123, 159 P.3d 239, 241 (2007) (concluding that “we presume that the Legislature
intended to use words in their usual and natural meaning”)). !

Finally, a contrary interpretation would lead to the absurd result that someone who
performs every single statutory function except, for example, recalling employees from
layoff, would have bargaining rights whereas someone who can also recall employees
would not. The Legislature clearly did not intend such a consequence. See City of Elko,
above (“[I]t is black letter law that no portion of a statute should be rendered meaningless
nor should it be interpreted to produce an absurd or unreasonable result. If the Board were
to require all 12 of the criteria to be meet [sic] in order for the exclusion to apply, an
employee that had the right to hire, transfer, suspend, promote, and discharge employees,
but not the right to recall employees, would not be considered a ‘supervisory’ employee,
for example.”) (citations omitted).

Accordingly, to satisfy the definition of “supervisory employee” under both NRS
288.138(1)(a) and 1(b)(1), an individual need only have the authority to engage in at least

one of the listed supervisory functions.

12 The EMRB in City of Elko also included City of Reno as a contra citation for this proposition
given City of Reno’s recognition of the conjunctive “and” between subparagraphs (1)(b)(1), (2), and (3);
however, as explained above, the EMRB in City of Reno only meant that an individual had to satisfy each
of the three subparagraphs to be a “supervisory employee,” not that an individual also had to be authorized
to exercise each of the 13 functions listed in subparagraph (1)(b)(1). Thus, neither City of Elko nor City of
Reno supports the Union’s theory.
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B. Captains Cannot be Members of an Employee Organization

NRS 288.140(4)(a) prohibits Captains from being members of an employee
organization because, under NRS 288.138(1)(b), they have the authority, on behalf of the
County, to hire, transfer, discipline, suspend, promote, assign, and direct other employees,
and to adjust their grievances, and/or to effectively recommend such actions, using
independent judgment, and they make budgetary decisions and are consulted on decisions
relating to collective bargaining.

For purposes of analyzing whether Captains are prohibited from being members
of any employee organization under NRS 288.140(4)(a), it makes no difference who the
Captains supervise. In contrast, the analysis of whether Captains are prohibited from
being in the same unit as Lieutenants under NRS 288.170(3) depends on whether
Captains supervise Lieutenants.

1.  Authority to effectively recommend hiring

Captains have the authority to effectively recommend hiring decisions. County
Exhibit 2 is a copy of the job description for the Captain position. '* One of the enumerated
responsibilities in the job description is “[r]eviews applications for employment, assigns
background investigations, interview applicants, conducts pre-testing of applicants, and
provides recommendations to Sheriff.” Co. Exh. 2, p. 2. The job description further

29 66

provides that Captains “review requests for . . . staffing,” “ensur[e] proper staffing,”
“make[] recommendations regarding . . . staffing levels” and “participate[] in the
applicant screening process.” /d.

County Manager Sutton and Current Sheriff Joseph McGill confirmed that
Captains possess and exercise the authority to effectively recommend hiring decisions,

consistent with their written job description. Sutton explained that, when a job is posted

and closes, the applications are sent to Captain Boruchowitz to review and decide who to

13 Notably, this job description is nearly identical to a draft job description Captain Boruchowitz
prepared in 2019 based on his own understanding of his job duties. See Tr. 174-177, 380; Co. Exh. 9.
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interview or, at a minimum, recommend to the Sheriff and/or Undersheriff who to
interview (Tr. 146).

McGill added that Captains “have input, advice, insight” into hiring decisions and
that he “absolutely” takes what Captains say into consideration in making hiring decisions
(Tr. 119). He testified that, just in the five weeks he had served as Sheriff at the time of
the hearing, the County hired three or four new employees, including an administrative
assistant and a jail kitchen worker (Tr. 118). The Captains, along with the Sheriff and the

Undersheriff, participated in interviews and scored the applicants, according to McGill:

At the conclusion of an interview, . . . each individual participating gave the
individuals a score. Those were gathered, tallied, and based on that, a decision
was made as to who to hire. There was discussion each time as to this individual
as opposed to this individual, should we disregard the score or the total score and
hire this individual because this is who we want, as opposed to the individual who
scored higher . . ..

(Tr. 118.)

The Union failed to persuasively rebut any of the above evidence. The only Union
witness who testified about hiring was Acting Captain Means. Means generally denied
that Captains have the authority to hire employees (Tr. 269), but he did not specifically
deny they had the authority to recommend hiring. At most, Means testified about an email
he sent to Sheriff Wehrly in December 2021 in which he informed her that a former
employee was asking to be rehired and asked her if she wanted to give him a second
chance (Tr. 291-292; U. Exh. XX). This single email is hardly sufficient to rebut the
above evidence. Moreover, it arguably undermines, rather than supports, the Union’s
position.

First, the email related to a former employee’s request to be rehired and, thus, had
nothing to do with initial hiring decisions. Second, the email illustrates that the former
employee felt it appropriate to reach out to Means, suggesting Means at least had the
apparent authority to make the decision on whether the employee should be rehired, or

at least effectively recommend that he be rehired. Third, the email shows that Means and
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Boruchowitz consulted on the issue of whether to rehire the employee, and then Means
provided insight on the issue to Wehrly. That Means did not explicitly say “I recommend”
in his email to Wehrly does not mean it was not a recommendation (U. Exh. XX). Thus,
the sole piece of evidence the Union offered to rebut the County’s position that Captains
effectively recommend hiring decisions falls flat.
2. Authority to effectively recommend transfers

Captains have the authority to effectively recommend transfers. McGill testified
that he solicits the Captains’ opinions and recommendations on transfers, specifically for
Lieutenants (Tr. 119). HR Director Goldner testified that Former Sheriff Wehrly told her
that Captains have the authority to transfer (Tr. 148) and that 80-90 percent of the time
she (Goldner) communicates directly with Captain Boruchowitz regarding transfers, as
well as other personnel changes (Tr. 168).

McGill further explained that Captains use independent judgment when

recommending transfers:

Would it be based on a quantifiable scoring of some kind? No, it wouldn’t be. It
would be based on past performance of that lieutenant, experience, skills,
knowledge, abilities, disciplinary history. And based on all of those . . . and I'm
sure other factors, the decision would be made as to who may receive the transfer

(Tr. 120.)

Acting Captain Means generally denied having the authority to transfer
employees (Tr. 269, 277), but, as with his testimony about the authority to hire, he did
not specifically deny having the authority to recommend transfers. In fact, Means talked
about his involvement in recommending a transfer the week of the hearing in this case.
See Tr. 314 (“[T]he transfer request, we just had one this week. We had to have a whole
— sit down and get opinions, and then [Sheriff McGill] approved it and gave direction on
it.”).

The Union offered two exhibits to show that Captains do not have the authority

to transfer employees. See U. Exhs. OO and QQ. Each exhibit includes an email from a
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deputy to his Sergeant requesting a transfer to a different command area and asking that
the request be sent through the “chain of command.” In both cases, the Sergeants
forwarded the request to the Lieutenants, who then forwarded it to Acting Captain Means
(Tr. 276-278).'"* In Union Exhibit OO, Means forwarded the request to Captain
Boruchowitz, Sheriff Wehrly, and Undersheriff Michael Eisenloffel. In Union Exhibit
QQ, Means forwarded it first just to Boruchowitz, and then, a few minutes later, to Sheriff
Wehrly, copying Boruchowitz. There is no evidence about what happened with the
requests or whether Means or Boruchowitz provided any input to the Sheriff, either in
person or over the phone, regarding the requests. Thus, the Union has not rebutted the
County’s evidence that Captains have the authority to effectively recommend transfers.
3.  Authority to effectively recommend discipline/suspension

Captains have the authority to effectively recommend discipline/suspension of
employees, particularly Lieutenants with whom they are currently combined in the same
bargaining unit. The job description provides that Captains “perform [internal affairs
investigations] as required and/or recommend[] appropriate disciplinary action when
assigned” and “recommend[] appropriate disciplinary action in situations where
employees fail to meet standards or comply with agency policies and regulations.” (Co.
Exh. 2, p. 2.) The initiation of an internal affairs investigation is effectively a suspension,
as the employee is placed in a leave with pay status pending the outcome (Tr. 149).

A Captain’s involvement in initiating and conducting internal affairs
investigations is generally limited to situations involving Lieutenants, but their
involvement is significant and has real-life consequences directly relevant to the
underlying issues in this case. Sheriff McGill explained, for instance, that Captains
typically handle internal affairs investigations of Lieutenants because he does not want

someone with a lower rank (e.g., a detective) investigating someone of a higher rank (Tr.

4 In U. Exh. QQ, the deputy emailed the request to his Sergeant but specifically addressed it to
“Captain Means,” suggesting that the deputy knew Means would be evaluating it.
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123-124). After a Captain conducts an internal affairs investigation, he makes a
recommendation on appropriate discipline to be taken (Tr. 124, 155).

HR Director Goldner knows firsthand that Captains are responsible for internal
affairs investigations of Lieutenants because Lieutenants have frequently complained to
her about it (Tr. 149). They have also complained to her about being assigned by Captains
from one location to another as a form of discipline (Tr. 150). Goldner testified that
employees specifically complained to her they “felt that [Boruchowitz] was abusing [his]
power and assigning them in different places when . . . they felt that they didn’t do
anything wrong, or being put into an [internal affairs investigation] unjustly” (Tr. 156-
157).

Sheriff McGill explained that, in addition to initiating and conducting internal
affairs investigations and then recommending appropriate disciplinary action, Captains
routinely counsel Lieutenants. Such counseling is generally considered informal because
it does not rise to the level of internal affairs, but it is nevertheless disciplinary in nature
and can lead to future discipline of an escalated nature. (Tr. 127.)

The consequences of having Captains and Lieutenants in the same bargaining unit
when Captains possess and exercise the authority discipline/suspend Lieutenants cannot
be overstated. Goldner explained that some of the complaints she received from
Lieutenants about Captains’ disciplinary/suspension authority were that “[ TThey couldn’t
go to their union because [Boruchowitz] was their union, and it wouldn’t do any good”
(Tr. 157). She added that the County has active lawsuits and other complaints from
subordinates of Captains alleging that they do not have an adequate remedy “because the
person who’s holding himself out as the union rep is their boss” (Tr. 203; Co. Exh. 8).

Acting Captain Means generally denied his authority to discipline/suspend
employees (Tr. 269-270, 293), but as with his testimony about other authority, he did not
specifically deny having the authority to recommend discipline/suspension. The Union
offered one exhibit to support its position that Captains cannot discipline/suspend. See U.

Exh. AAA. The exhibit is an email exchange involving Means, Boruchowitz, Wehrly,
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and Eisenloffel about a deputy who engaged in repeat misconduct. Under the applicable
CBA for deputies, his prior discipline could not be considered for purposes of
determining discipline for the current misconduct given that the prior discipline was
issued more than 12 months earlier. Means conveyed that information to Sheriff Wehrly
and then confirmed for her that the discipline should reset and be a written reprimand.
Notably, Means suggested that Wehrly could issue an “SLN,” which he testified at the
hearing was a supervisor’s lodge with notation (Tr. 293) and which he explained in the
email to Wehrly was “a courtesy for first offenses that we do [although] it is not in the
CBA” (U. Exh. AAA).

Like many other exhibits offered by the Union, this exhibit undermines rather than
supports the Union’s position. First, the email exchange illustrates that Captains, as well
as the Undersheriff, are part of the core group of managers who investigate, evaluate, and,
at a minimum, provide recommendations on potential discipline. That the particular
exchange reflected in Union Exhibit AAA does not show a Captain directly
“recommending” a particular consequence for misconduct does not diminish the fact that
they are directly involved in the discussion leading to the discipline. Second, the email
proves that Captains can issue discipline outside the CBA “as a courtesy” to employees,
meaning there is a degree of discretion involved. The fact that Means had to explain to
Sheriff Wehrly what SLN meant further illustrates that this type of discipline was not
something that had to go to the Sheriff for approval.

4.  Authority to effectively recommend promotions

Captains have the authority to effectively recommend promotions. Sheriff McGill
testified that he would elicit a Captains’ opinion on whether to promote someone,
although he would not give them ultimate authority (Tr. 131-132). The Union failed to
rebut this testimony. At most, Means generally denied that Captains have the authority to
promote employees (Tr. 270), but he did not deny they have the authority to effectively

recommend promotions.
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5.  Authority to assign/direct

In Oakwood Healthcare, Inc., 348 NLRB 686, 689 (2006), the National Labor
Relations Board (NLRB) held that “assign” refers to the act of “designating an employee
to a place (such as a location, department, or wing), appointing an employee to a time
(such as a shift or overtime period), or giving significant overall duties, i.e., tasks, to an
employee.” The NLRB described “direction” as follows: “If a person on the shop floor
has men under him, and if that person decides what job shall be undertaken next or who
shall do it, that person is a supervisor, provided that the direction is both responsible . . .
and carried out with independent judgment.” /d. at 691 (internal quotations omitted). !>

Captains have the authority to assign and direct employees, particularly
Lieutenants. The job description is replete with express references to this authority. See
Co. Exh. 2 (“[D]irects law enforcement activities and operations”; “Directs operations”;
“Reviews requests for services and assigns to the appropriate division, section or unit”;
“coordinates assignments based on changes in priorities, equipment and resources in
relation to current assignments and activities, available personnel, and budgetary
constraints”; “Directs Lieutenants, Sergeants, Deputies and Dispatchers”; “Directs
operations and takes command of personnel during demonstrations”).

Sheriff McGill provided specific examples of Captains exercising their authority
to assign and direct personnel, including Lieutenants. He testified that Captains direct the
staffing of special events, as well as many day-to-day patrol and jail activities. (Tr. 109-
110.) He further testified that Captains frequently direct Lieutenants on day-to-day
assignments such as administrative tasks, research, and investigations (Tr. 110, 114).'6 In
some cases, McGill explained, Captains delegate their own authority to assign and direct

lower-ranking staff to Lieutenants (Tr. 110).

15 As indicated above, the EMRB relies heavily on NLRB precedent in considering questions
regarding supervisory status. See City of Elko, Case No. 2017-026, Item No. 831 (2018) (finding NLRA
precedent concerning supervisory status “persuasive and controlling”).

16 See Nye County Law Enforcement Association v. Nye County, Case No. 2020-025, Item No.
872, p. 2 (2021) (finding that Cpt. Boruchowitz directed a Lieutenant to send investigation notices).
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Captains have significant independent authority to make short-term assignments.
For instance, McGill said, a Captain can tell a Lieutenant that he or she is to supervise
detectives today or to supervise animal control officers (Tr. 133).!7 They also assign
Lieutenants to specific shifts and places to work (Tr. 133). Sheriff Wehrly told HR
Director Goldner that Captain Boruchowitz made all the assignments and “was the one
that was running the show for [the Sheriff’s Office], and he’s the one that assigned them
their duty spot” (Tr. 150). Captains even assign officers who have suffered workers’
compensation injuries light duty work (Tr. 145).

Captains are also responsible for assigning employees overtime (Tr. 311). Acting
Captain Means testified that there is no overtime budget, so the Captains have to properly
manage overtime abuse (Tr. 311).

The Union offered no compelling evidence to rebut the County’s overwhelming
evidence that Captains have the authority to direct and assign employees. While Acting
Captain Means and Captain Boruchowitz generally denied having the authority to
assign/direct employees without the permission of the Sheriff or outside the Sheriff’s
policies (Tr. 270, 284, 413-414), much of their other testimony contradicted that. For
instance, Acting Captain Means testified that Captains can delegate certain tasks or
handle the tasks themselves (Tr. 282). He also testified that Captains direct Lieutenants
to correct their own subordinates on what the policy states, if one of the subordinates is
found to not be in compliance with policy (Tr. 285).

Acting Captain Means summed it up best when he testified about the authority of
Captains in response to questions from Board Member Masters:

Q. [D]o you supervise anybody?

A. Yes, . .. I supervise eight lieutenants.

Q. Say what?

17 Recall HR Director Goldner’s uncontradicted testimony that Lieutenants have complained about
Captains “abusing their power” in making work assignments (Tr. 150, 156-157)
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A. I supervise eight lieutenants directly, as well as every sergeant and every
deputy in the agency.

Q. You do?

A. Roughly 100 — approximately 100, 115 personnel, I would imagine.

Q. Interesting. Thank you.

(Tr. 309.)
Means later added that he is held accountable for his supervision:

I’'m responsible, at the end of the day, for everyone below me. It there’s a failure
and I knew about it, I could be disciplined for not handling it properly. . . .

I’m accountable for everything. . . .

I’m responsible for everyone below me and all of their actions if ’'m aware of
their actions. And even sometimes, . . . I should have been aware of their actions.
If I know there’s an ongoing issue and I don’t take care of it properly and it
continues after the fact, I’'m now responsible for improperly handling it.

(Tr.314-316.)
Captain Boruchowitz offered similar testimony:

Q. You would agree with me that you’re responsible if the lieutenants don’t
schedule their people; correct?

A. Yes. It is my job to ensure that their job is done.

Q. And you would agree with me that some corrective action would need to
be taken against lieutenants if they did not complete the tasks as assigned;
correct?

A. I definitely would agree with that.

(Tr. 388-389.) Therefore, by the Union’s witnesses’ own admissions, the captains
supervises the lieutenants and others by assigning and directing work duties, making them
clear supervisors under the statute.
6.  Authority to adjust grievances
Captains have the authority to adjust grievances. Indeed, they are the first line of

authority in the grievance process (Tr. 151). The CBA provides an informal and a formal
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grievance resolution process. Under both procedures, employees are required to meet and
discuss the grievance with their supervisor, who shall then prepare a response. (Co. Exh.
1, pp. 15-16.) It is undisputed that Captains are the direct supervisors of Lieutenants. See
Tr. 309 (Acting Captain Means) (“I supervise eight lieutenants directly . . . .”).

The record further reflects that Captains are involved with grievances pertaining
to the bargaining unit and even respond to grievances on behalf of management (Tr. 194-
195, 384-385; Co. Exh. 10). In fact, Captain Boruchowitz astonishingly was instructed
by Sheriff Wehrly on at least two occasions to answer a grievance he filed on behalf of
the Union based on an order Wehrly gave him (Tr. 392-393, 410-411).'8 Captains have
also appeared on behalf of management in grievance proceedings (Tr. 195-196, 212, 384-
385). HR Director Goldner also testified that she regularly dealt with Captain
Boruchowitz concerning employee grievance issues (Tr. 168, 201-202).

As he did with most of the statutory criteria, Acting Captain Means generally
denied having the authority to adjust employee grievances (Tr. 271). He then testified
about an incident where Sheriff Wehrly instructed him to research a grievance that the
Nye County Law Enforcement Association (“NCLEA”) filed on behalf of a Sergeant (Tr.
280-281). He described himself as merely serving as a conduit for Sheriff Wehrly;
however, the email exchange the Union offered into evidence (U. Exh. SS) proves
otherwise.

The email exchange involved Means summarizing video footage of an incident
for Wehrly and then providing his opinion that it appeared to be a situation where two
employees disagreed about whether a particular inmate transport was high risk. Means
told Wehrly it was reasonable for the employees to disagree, explaining that “what is high

risk to me may not be for you, and vice versa” (U. Exh. SS). Wehrly replied to Means

18 Of course, the Union will attempt to downplay this by arguing that Cpt. Boruchowitz merely
answered the grievance the way Sheriff Wehrly told him to, but the mere fact that the Union president
answered a grievance on behalf of management illustrates just how paradoxical the structure is.

19 Both Means and Boruchowitz portrayed themselves throughout the hearing as being nothing
more than mere conduits or glorified administrative assistants; however, based on the overwhelming record
evidence as a whole that is inconsistent with or flat contradicts that notion, their self-serving testimony
should be disregarded.
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that it appeared to be a “he said she said and no policy guidance” and then told him
“Monday we determine what that is” (U. Exh. SS). Contrary to Means’ suggestion at the
hearing, then, Means was not merely serving as a conduit to Wehrly. She clearly sought
his opinion and then solicited his involvement in further discussion of the issues.

7. Budgetary decisions

Captains are involved in making budgetary decisions. The job description
references this responsibility multiple times. See Co. Exh. 2 (“Assists in preparation of
Sheriff’s Office budget, monitors budget, and attends all budget hearings as requested by
the Sherift.”; “participates in the development of department and division . . . budgets”).

Boruchowitz testified in a prior proceeding that he oversees the financial assistant,
who handles the budgeting of the agency (Tr. 384). Means testified that he met with
County representatives about the Sheriff’s Office budget (Tr. 290). HR Director Goldner
also testified, without contradiction, that Captains participate in budget meetings and are
part of the budget process (Tr. 151).

The Union will not dispute that Captains are involved in the budget process.
Instead, the Union will argue that involvement in preparing the budget is not the same as
making budgetary decisions as contemplated by NRS 288.138(1)(b)(2). This argument
reads the statute far too narrowly. Making budgetary decisions does not simply mean
making the final decision on a budget. If it did, even the Sheriff would lack the authority
to “make budgetary decisions,” as the Nye County Board of County Commissioners is
ultimately responsible for the budget. See Tr. 321 (Acting Captain Means) (“The board
of commissioners approves a budget for the sheriff’s office.”); Tr. 427 (Captain
Boruchowitz) (agreeing that the Board of County Commissioners approves the budget
for the Sheriff’s Office).

8.  Decisions relating to collective bargaining

Captains are involved in decisions relating to collective bargaining. As discussed

above, Captains are the first step in the CBA’s grievance procedure. If a Lieutenant has a

grievance, he or she must first file it with the Captain and then await a response before
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moving to the next step. (Co. Exh. 1, pp. 15-16.) Additionally, as discussed above,
Captains answer grievances on behalf of management and are involved in grievance
proceedings on behalf of management (Tr. 195-196, 212, 392-393, 410-411; Co. Exh.
10).

In sum, Captains have the authority, on behalf of the County, to hire, transfer,
discipline, suspend, promote, assign, and direct other employees, and to adjust their
grievances, and/or to effectively recommend such actions, using independent judgment,
and they make budgetary decisions and are consulted on decisions relating to collective
bargaining. Consequently, they cannot be a member of an employee organization
pursuant to NRS 288.140(4)(a).

C. Captains Cannot Be Included in the Same Bargaining Unit as Lieutenants

Assuming, arguendo, that Captains do not satisfy the definition of “supervisory
employee” under NRS 288.138(1)(b), the EMRB should at least find they cannot be in
the same bargaining unit as Lieutenants, whom they directly supervise, because they are
“supervisory employees” under NRS 288.138(1)(a).?°

The Union will argue that the 2019 amendment to NRS 288.138(1)(a) (i.e., SB
158) supports its position that Captains are not supervisory employees. Specifically, the
Union is likely to argue that the Amendment statutorily abrogated the holding of City of
Elko, Case No. 2017-026, Item No. 831 (2018), regarding the definition of a “supervisory

employee” by amending NRS 288.138(1)(a) to add the following language:
If any of the following persons perform some, but not all, of the foregoing duties
under a paramilitary command structure, such a person shall not be deemed a
supervisory employee solely because of such duties: (1) A police officer, as
defined in NRS 288.215 . ..

(emphasis added). This argument is a red herring and can easily be rejected, as it grossly

overstates the purpose and effect of the statutory amendment.

20 Again, the only distinction between the list of supervisory functions in NRS 288.138(1)(a) and
NRS 288.138(1)(b)(1) is that the latter provision adds “terminate” to the list. Thus, the evidence discussed
above relevant to NRS 288.138(1)(b)(1) applies equally to the County’s argument that Captains are
supervisory employees under NRS 288.138(1)(a).
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In its response to the County’s petition in this case, the Union argued that the plain
language of SB 158 imposed only two, “easily met” criteria to qualify for the exception
to the statutory definition of a supervisor: the individual must be a “police officer” and
the employee must be operating under a “paramilitary command structure.” See Resp. p.
4. This argument ignores the critical third limitation, which provides that the exception
only applies to an employee whose performance of supervisory duties arose “solely” due
to the employee’s position under a “paramilitary command structure.” NRS 288.138(1)(a)
(emphasis added). In other words, merely performing supervisory functions in a
paramilitary command structure is not enough. Indeed, if the Legislature had intended the
limitation to apply to all supervisory police officers (and fire fighters and peace officers),
it would not have included the phrase “solely because of such duties.” See City of Elko,
above (“[I]t is black letter law that no portion of a statute should be rendered meaningless
....70) (citing City of Reno v. Building & Const. Trades Council of Northern Nevada, 251
P.3d 718, 722 (2011)).

The legislative history also confirms that the Amendment was not as broad as the
Union suggests. Richard McCann, Executive Director of the Nevada Association of
Public Safety Officers, testified during a committee meeting on the proposed bill that the
bill was intended only to protect public safety officers who are temporarily assigned to
serve as an officer in charge (“OIC”) or as a field training officer (“FTO”) from being
excluded from the bargaining unit because some of their temporary duties meet the

statutory definition of “supervisory employee.”?!

21 See hitps://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/80th2019/Minutes/Assembly/GA/Final/1128.pdf, p. 4.
204 -
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He explained:

[T]f you do one or two of these things for a period of time during that
temporary status that you are in, you may be subject to being pulled out of
the collective bargaining group. Yet you are not really a supervisory
employee in a full-time sense; you are just occupying that position for a
period of time. We are worried that people might say that you can be in the
bargaining unit today but not tomorrow and so on and so forth. We are
trying to avoid that.

1d.

McCann made clear, however, that the bill was not directed towards full-time
supervisors: “Of course, if they are fully promoted to supervisory positions and they have
property rights to those positions, that may be a different situation.” /d. He added, “We
are just worried about the movement back and forth. If someone is promoted into a
supervisory position and there is a supervisory collective bargaining group, they would
move into that. . . . We are talking about the ones who are occupying the positions on a
temporary basis.” Id. at 5.

The Union’s proposed interpretation of NRS 288.138(1)(a), as amended by S.B.
158, would permit all police officers across all positions, regardless of rank or supervisory
authority, to be represented in a single bargaining unit (i.e., one unit containing Deputies,
Detectives, Sergeants, Lieutenants, and Captains), thereby eviscerating the longstanding
statutory acknowledgement of an inherent conflict of interest created by allowing
supervisors and their direct reports to be a member of the same bargaining unit. The
EMRB has squarely held that the presence of a supervisor in the same bargaining unit as
his direct reports creates a significant conflict of interest and divided loyalties. See City
of Elko, Item No. 831, Case No. 2017-026, at pp. 6, 14 (2018) (finding the EMRA
“recognizes the . . . inherent conflicts of interest in having a supervisor that has power
and authority over the people they supervise being in the same unit as the employees that
are subject to their supervis[ion]” and thus “bifurcate[s] the supervisors from the

employees which they supervise”).

/1
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A recent case before the EMRB involving the NCLEA and the County highlights
the problems with such an interpretation. In Nye County Law Enforcement Association v.
Nye County, Case No. 2020-025, Item No. 872 (2021), the EMRB considered allegations
that Nye County violated NRS 288.270 based, in part, on Captain Boruchowitz’s conduct
vis-a-vis subordinates. See, e.g., id. at 12 fn. 7 (“[E]ven if Cpt. Buruchowitz [sic] could
have been aware of the [internal NCLEA] election or did have actual knowledge, credible
evidence was not presented that Respondent willfully dominated or interfered in the
administration of [NCLEA].”); 14 (“[W]e do not view Capt. Boruchowitz’s July 7th
email as reasonably tending to interfere with, coerce, or restrain in the exercise of
protected activity. Capt. Boruchowitz justified the action with a substantial and legitimate
business reason.”); 17 (“[ T]The Board was not presented with credible evidence that Capt.
Boruchowitz’s inquiry regarding [Detective] Meade’s work-from-home status was in any
way motivated by protected conduct.”).

In fact, as alluded to earlier, Captain Boruchowitz testified extensively at the
hearing on behalf of the County and in defense of his actions. See, e.g., id. at 15 (“Capt.
Boruchowitz credibly testified that he was not given a copy of the email in question and
did not see it until the hearing before this Board.”); 16 (“Capt. Boruchowitz credibly
testified that ‘[t]hey came and volunteered it.””).

In practice, if Captain Boruchowitz was permitted to remain in the same unit as
Lieutenants, a situation could arise where Captain Boruchowitz would be responsible for
investigating alleged employee misconduct, delivering discipline to the employee,
responding to the informal grievance of the employee on behalf of management, and
acting as that employee’s union representative, thus creating clear conflicts of interest.
NCASS’s interpretation allowing Captain Boruchowitz to be in the same unit as all other
police officers in the NCSO (including “rank and file” detectives), would only compound
the potential for serious conflicts of interest, and implicit pressures which could
compromise the delicate balance of labor relations across the State of Nevada. Such a

system would be nonsensical and would be contrary to the purpose of the EMRA.

-26 -






300 S Fourth Street, Suite 1500
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

The Board should not engage in such an extreme interpretation of the statute
without clear evidence of Legislative intent to radically deviate from prior legislative
policy favoring the bifurcation of supervisors. As there is no evidence of Legislative
intent to entirely remove the bifurcation of “supervisory employees” from bargaining
units containing police officers, fire fighters, and peace officers, the Board should reject
NCASS’s broad construction of the statute.

D. The Counterclaim Should be Dismissed

The Union (and Boruchowitz) filed a counterclaim alleging that the County failed
to bargain in good faith and unilaterally changed the composition of the bargaining unit
by removing the Captain position in violation of NRS 288.270(1)(a) and (e). The
counterclaim can easily be dismissed under established EMRB precedent. See McGill-
Ruth Consolidated Sewer & Water General Improvement District v. Operating
Engineers, Local No. 3, Case No. A1-045651, Item No. 441A (1999) (finding employer
did not engage in prohibited practice by refusing to continue negotiating with union
pending EMRB’s determination of unit clarification issue); International Association of
Firefighters, Local 1265 v. City of Sparks, Nevada, Case No. A1-045362, Item No. 136
(1982) (finding employer did not engage in prohibited practice when it refused to
negotiate with union over union’s proposal to include chief in bargaining unit). The
County followed proper procedure by first raising the issue with the Union and then
proceeding to the EMRB. The County held (and continues to hold) a good faith belief
that Captains cannot be included in the bargaining unit and properly refused to bargain
with the union pending resolution by the Board. Thus, the counterclaim fails under
established precedent, and must be dismissed.

/1
/1
/1
/1
/1
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V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Board should find that Captains cannot be members

of an employee organization or, at a minimum, cannot be included in the same bargaining
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unit as Lieutenants. The Board should also dismiss the counterclaim.

Dated this 31% day of May, 2023.

FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP

/s/ Allison L. Kheel, Esq.
MARK J. RICCIARDI, ESQ.
ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ.

300 South Fourth Street

Suite 1500

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorneys for Petitioner/
Counter-Respondent, Nye County
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 31°" day of May, 2023, I filed by electronic means
the foregoing NYE COUNTY’S POST-HEARING BRIEF, as follows:

Employee-Management Relations Board
3300 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 260

Las Vegas, Nevada 89102
emrb@business.nv.gov

By: /s/ Susan A. Owens
An employee of Fisher & Phillips LLP
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Minutes of Open Meeting
May 3, 2023 (En Banc)
Page 2

1.

Opening Items

The meeting was called to order by Chair Brent C. Eckersley, Esqg. at 8:15 a.m. On roll
call all members were present. Accordingly, a quorum was present. A moment of silence
was then observed, followed by the recitation of the pledge of allegiance by the Board,
staff and members of the public present.

Public Comment
No public comment was offered.

Approval of the Minutes
Upon motion, the Board approved the minutes of the meeting held April 11, 2023, as
presented.

Legislative Update
Commissioner Snyder reviewed the list of pending legislation affecting the EMRB and/or
public sector collective bargaining.

Setting of the Annual Assessment Rates

Commissioner Snyder explained the two separate reserves and how the formula for
allocating expenses works, along with how that change affects the setting of the rates.
He further stated that the B&I fiscal unit pledged last year to explain problems with the
formula to the Governor’s Finance Office but that this did not happen due to turnover
both within B&l fiscal as well as the Governor’'s Finance Office but promised to do so in
the coming year. He also explained that the goal is to keep a 90-day reserve in each
reserve and that the EMRB is trending toward those numbers. Thus, he recommended
keeping the rates as is, which we should be able to maintain for a few more years.

Upon motion, the Board set the local government rate at $3.00 per local government
employee and set the State government rate at $6.00 for each employee entitled to
collective bargaining at the State level.

Naming of Conference Rooms

At the last meeting the Board asked if staff could learn about the first Commissioner.
Commissioner Snyder explained how they were able to determine that the first
Commissioner was Ken Frazier, who was appointed in October 1979 and continued in
that office until at least 1981. Nothing else could be learned about him. Thereupon the
Board voted to name one conference room after Senator Carl Dodge and the other
conference room after Commissioner Snyder.

Case 2023-004

Education Support Employees Association v. Clark County School District

The Board deliberated on the matter, and upon motion, granted a hearing for the case.
The Board also ordered that a settlement conference be held. The case was then
randomly assigned to Panel D. Chair Eckersley also stated that Crystal Herrera could
object in the future to the assignment of members to the panel.
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8.

10.

11.

12.

Case 2023-005

Clark County Education Association v. Clark County School District

Upon motion, the Board granted the Stipulation and Order to Dismiss With Prejudice, as
presented.

Case 2023-002

Clark County Education Association v. Clark County School District

The Board deliberated on Respondent Clark County School District’s Motion to Dismiss
Complainants’ Complaint, and upon motion, granted the motion to dismiss without
prejudice.

Case 2021-002

Nevada Association of Public Safety Officers v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
Department & Las Vegas Police Protective Association

The Board deliberated on Respondent Las Vegas Police Protective Association’s Motion
to Dismiss, and upon motion, granted the motion to dismiss with prejudice, noting that
the case is not yet ripe.

Additional Period of Public Comment
No public comment was offered.

Adjournment
There being no additional business to conduct, Chair Eckersley adjourned the meeting.

Respectfully submitted,

Bruce K. Snyder,
EMRB Commissioner
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SUMMARY OF LEGISLATION AFFECTING THE EMRB
(as of June 6, 2023)

BILLS SIGNED INTO LAW

Senate Bill 264

Sponsor: Senator Donate. Passed the Senate 20-1. Passed the Assembly 42-0. Signed by the
Governor on May 30™. Existing law requires that peace officers working for a local government
be in a separate bargaining unit. This bill would require that civilian employees providing support
services to a law enforcement agency be in a bargaining unit separate from other white and blue-
collar employees.

BILLS VETOED BY THE GOVERNOR

Senate Bill 251

Sponsor: Senator Flores. Passed the Senate 13-8. Passed the Assembly 26-14. Vetoed by the
Governor on June 3". No veto override vote taken. Existing law makes it a mandatory subject of
bargaining for school districts to negotiate provisions for the transfer and reassignment of teachers,
including special provisions for school districts with local school precincts (i.e., CCSD). This bill
would make those bargaining provisions applicable to school support employees.

BILLS IN THE GOVERNOR’S OFFICE

Assembly Bill 172

Sponsors: Assemblywoman Anderson, Assemblywoman Duran, Assemblyman Carter, Senator
Daly. Passed the Assembly 28-14. Passed the Senate 13-7. Delivered to the Governor on May
31%. Deadline to act is June 6™. This bill would require each school district to semiannually
provide each recognized employee organization the address, telephone number, work contact
information and work location for each employee in the bargaining unit. It would also make
parking and transportation mandatory subjects of bargaining at the State level.

BILLS TO ENROLLMENT (ON WAY TO THE GOVERNOR)

Senate Bill 38

Sponsor: Senate Committee on Judiciary. Passed the Senate 21-0. Passed the Assembly 41-0.
To enrollment. This bill makes a technical change to NRS 288.150 for a bill whose primary
purpose is unrelated to collective bargaining but rather is related to sexual offenses.

Senate Bill 166

Sponsors: Senator Pazina, Assemblyman Hibbetts, Assemblyman Yurek. Passed the Senate 18-
2. Passed the Assembly 38-4. To enrollment. NRS 288.138 currently excludes certain peace and
fire officers from being deemed supervisory employees. This bill would also exempt certain
employees who provide civilian support services under a paramilitary command structure to a law






enforcement agency. The bill as amended would add four new bargaining units for peace officer
and firefighter supervisors, splitting them off from the one current supervisory bargaining unit.

Senate Bill 282

Sponsor: Senator Nguyen. Passed the Senate 17-3. Passed the Assembly 36-6. To enrollment.
This bill does not directly change NRS 288 but does affect collective bargaining. The bill would
clarify that the hiring of staff by a principal of a local school precinct must conform to applicable
collective bargaining agreements, among other items.

Senate Bill 319

Sponsors: Senators Harris and Spearman. Passed by Senate 20-1. Passed the Assembly 42-0.
To enrollment. Existing law for collective bargaining at the State level only includes certain
classified employees. This bill would add category I, II or III peace officers in the unclassified
service of the State.

Assembly Bill 153

Sponsor: Assemblywoman Marzola. Passed the Assembly 42-0. Passed the Senate 20-0. To
enrollment. This bill would license and regulate the practice of naprapathy. This bill makes a
technical change to NRS 288.140 to include naprapaths in the definition of physicians. Physicians
may not collectively bargain with local governments.

Assembly Bill 224

Sponsors: Assemblywoman Peters, Assemblyman Watts, Assemblywoman Bilbray-Axelrod,
Assemblywoman Anderson, Assemblywoman La Rue Hatch, Senator Nguyen. Passed the
Assembly 31-11. Passed the Senate 13-8. To enrollment. This bill would authorize collective
bargaining for certain state employees, most notably professors and other professional employees
of NSHE, with said activities being under the jurisdiction of the EMRB.

Assembly Bill 378

Sponsor: Assembly Committee on Government Affairs. Passed the Assembly 28-14. Passed the
Senate 14-7. To enrollment. This bill would move up the deadlines for the start of collective
bargaining, mediation and arbitration at the State level to allow for an added month in the process
of bargaining.






DEAD BILLS OR BILLS NO LONGER BEING TRACKED

The following non-exempt bills did not pass out of committee in the house of origin by April 14™
and thus are dead:

Senate Bill 206

Sponsor: Senator Buck. This bill would have made many changes related to K-12 education. One
of the changes would have prohibited collective bargaining concerning the termination of
employment or reassignment of the employees of a department charter school.

Assembly Bill 180

Sponsors: Assemblyman Hibbetts, Assemblyman Yurek, Senator Pazina. This bill would have
added a twelfth State bargaining unit for peace officer supervisory employees, splitting them off
from the current supervisory bargaining unit. Note: SB 166, which had similar provisions, instead
was the bill advanced.

Assembly Bill 211

Sponsor: Assemblyman O’Neill. This bill, among other things, would have authorized certain
public employers and labor or employee organizations to engage in supplemental bargaining to
allow certain law enforcement dispatchers to participate in the Police and Firefighters’ Retirement
Fund and to convert certain service credits from the Public Employers Retirement Fund.

Assembly Bill 377

Sponsor: Assembly Committee on Government Affairs. This bill would have deemed a bailiff or
deputy marshal working for a court to be a local government employee; would have set forth
restrictions on collective bargaining; and would also revise the definition of supervisory employee
to include persons who provide civilian support services to a law enforcement agency.

The following bill was amended so as to no longer affect collective bargaining:

Senate Bill 347

Sponsors: Senators Donate and Watts. This bill would have made technical changes to three
provisions of NRS 288 for a bill whose primary purpose is the deconsolidation of the Nevada
System of Higher Education. However, the bill was amended to delete the entire bill and instead
do an interim study next year on funding. Thus, it is no longer being tracked.

The following bill did not pass by the end of the session and thus is dead:

Senate Bill 388

Sponsor: Senator Scheible. This bill would have allowed for a provision of a collective bargaining
agreement at the State level to establish a negotiated rate for employee contributions, rather than
a matching rate, and require the employer to pay the remainder of contributions required on behalf
of the employee and thus would have further made this a mandatory subject of bargaining.
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Christian Gabroy

(#8805)

Kaine Messer FILED
(#14240)

GABROY | MESSER May 31, 2023
The District at Green Valley Ranch State of Nevada
170 South Green Valley Parkway E.M.R.B.
Suite 280 e
Henderson, Nevada 89012 e

Tel (702) 259-7777
Fax (702) 259-7704
christian@gabroy.com
kmesser@gabroy.com
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATE OF NEVADA
GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT
RELATIONS BOARD
SUSAN FINUCAN, an individual; Case No.: 2020-0019
Dept. F
Plaintiff,
VS.

CITY OF LAS VEGAS, a political
subdivision of the State of Nevada;

JOINT STATUS REPORT

Respondent.

JOINT STATUS REPORT

Petitioner Susan Finucan (“Complainant,” “Petitioner” or “Finucan”), by and through
her attorneys Christian Gabroy, Esq., and Kaine Messer, Esq. of Gabroy | Messer, and
the City of Las Vegas, by and through their Counsel hereby submits this Joint Status
Report per this Board’s Ruling granting the Motion to Defer on or about March 25, 2021.

Respondent City of Las Vegas’ Motion to Defer was granted on or about March 25,
2021. Such Order states that the parties shall provide to this Board a Joint Status Report
according to the schedule determined by the Commissioner. This is to serve as such Joint
Status Report.

The parties are actively engaged in litigation in our Federal Court. This matter went
to settlement conference in such action and the matter was not resolved.

Discovery in the Federal Court proceeding has now closed and the parties’ Joint

Page 1 of 2
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Pretrial Order was filed on or about May 25, 2023. No trial date has been set in such

Federal Court proceeding.

Per such March 25, 2021 Order, the parties will file their next Joint Status Report

on or about August 29, 2023.

Dated this 31st day of May 2023.
GABROY | MESSER

By: /s/ Christian Gabroy
Christian Gabroy, Esq.
(#8805)

Kaine Messer, Esq.
(#14240)

170 South Green Valley Parkway
Suite 280

Henderson, Nevada 89012
Tel: (702) 259-7777

Fax: (702) 259-7704
Attorneys for Petitioner

Dated this 31st day of May 2023
CITY OF LAS VEGAS

By: _/s/ Nechole Garcia

Jeffrey Galliher, Esq.
(#8078)

Timothy J. Geswein
(#10049)

Nechole Garcia, Esq.
(#12746)

City of Las Vegas

495 South Main Street, Sixth Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Fax: (702) 386-1749
Attorneys for Respondent
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FILED
May 15, 2023
State of Nevada
E.M.R.B.
STEVEN B, WOLFSON 10:56 a.m.
District Attorney
CIVIL DIVISION

State Bar No. 001565

By: SCOTT R. DAVIS

Deputy District Attorney

State Bar No. 10019

By: JOHN WITUCKI

Deputy District Attorney

State Bar No. 10800

500 South Grand Central Pkwy., Suite 5075

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2215

Telephone (702) 455-4761

Fax (702) 382-5178

E-Mail: Scott.Davis@ClarkCountyDA.com
John.Witucki@ClarkCountyDA.com

Attorneys for Clark County

STATE OF NEVADA

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEE-MANAGEMENT
RELATIONS BOARD

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF ELEVATOR )
CONSTRUCTORS, LOCAL 18,
Case No: 2022-018

Complainant,
Vs.

CLARK COUNTY,

Respondent

CLARK COUNTY,

Counter-petitioner
Vs.

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF ELEVATOR
CONSTRUCTORS, LOCAL 18,

Counter-respondent

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

STIPULATION FOR HEARING BEFORE THE FULL BOARD

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF ELEVATOR CONSTRUCTORS, LOCAL 18 by

and through Adam Levine, Esq. of the Law Office of Daniel Marks and CLARK COUNTY,

2023.05.15 - Stip for Hearing Before the Full Board 1 Of 2
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by and through Scott Davis, Deputy District Attorney, hereby jointly stipulate and request

that this matter be heard by the full Board.

The stipulation is based upon the issues presented in this matter and is consistent with

NRS 288.090(2)(c).
DATED this 15" day of May, 2023.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
DISTRICT ATTORNEY

By: /s/ Scott Davis

SCOTT R. DAVIS

Deputy District Attorney

State Bar No. 10019

500 South Grand Central Pkwy. Ste 5075
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2215
Attorneys for Clark County

2023.05.15 - Stip for Hearing Before the Full Board

DATED this 15" day of May, 2023.

LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS

By: /s/ Adam Levine
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.
State Bar No. 4673

610 S. 9 Street

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
Attorney for [UEC Local 18
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